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Cowal Gold Operations — Heritage Management Plan

PREFACE

This Heritage Management Plan (HMP) was originally prepared in September 2003 in accordance
with the requirements of former Condition 3.3(a)(i) of the Cowal Gold Operations Development
Consent (DA 14/98) (as dated August 2003).

As described within this HMP, the Cowal Gold Project Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) (North
Limited, 1998) assessed non-indigenous heritage for the Lake Cowal area and found no items of non-
indigenous heritage significance that would be impacted by Cowal Gold Project activities.

Subsequent to the EIS and granting of Development Consent (DA 14/98) on 26 February 1999, five
items of non-indigenous heritage located in the Cowal Gold Project area and surrounds were listed
and gazetted under on the Bland Local Environmental Plan (LEP) in November 1999. The items were
the Cowal West Homestead, Quarters, Sheds and Stables (located within ML 1535), and the graves
on Lake Cowal Station (located 6 km north of Marsden). The location of these items is shown on the
Figures within this HMP.

As described in the approved Cowal Gold Operations Processing Rate Modification Environmental
Assessment (Evolution, 2018), demolition of the Cowal West Homestead Complex (i.e. the
Homestead, Quarters, Sheds and Stables) was approved for the Cowal Gold Mine E42 Modification
Modified Request Environmental Assessment (Barrick, 2008), and occurred during 2011 to 2012. The
relocation and reconstruction of the Shearing Shed at the Lake Cowal Conservation Centre was
completed in April 2013.

As a result, the management measures, monitoring and reporting requirements within this HMP, which
are relevant to the former Cowal West Homestead Complex, no longer remain applicable to the
currently approved CGO.

As described in the Cowal Gold Operations Processing Rate Modification Environmental Assessment
(Evolution, 2018), no registered historic heritage items would be potentially impacted by the
Processing Rate Modification, Mod 16 or SSD 10367. Therefore, no further revisions to this HMP are
considered necessary.

HAL-02-07/2/7N\05 SEP 2022\JOSH PETERS:sc ii
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1 INTRODUCTION

The Cowal Gold Operations (the CGO [herein referred to as the Project]) is located approximately
38 kilometres (km) north-east of West Wyalong, New South Wales (NSW) (Figure 1). Evolution Mining
(Cowal) Pty Limited (Evolution) is the owner and operator of the CGO. Development of the CGO is
approved to occur within Mining Lease (ML) 1535 and ML1791.
Development Consent (DA 14/98) for the CGO (including the Bland Creek Palaeochannel Borefield water
supply pipeline) was granted by the Minister for Urban Affairs and Planning under Part4of the
Environmental Planning and Assessment Act, 1979 (EP&A Act) on 26 February 1999. Development
Consent (DA 2011/64) for the operation of the Eastern Saline Borefield was granted by the Forbes Shire
Council on 20 December 2010.

The Minister for Planning granted approval for the Cowal Gold Operations Underground Development
Project as State-significant Development No. 10367 under Section 4.38(2) of the EP&A Act on 30
September 2021 and to modify DA 14/98 through Modification No.16 (herein referred to as Mod 16) under
Section 4.55(2) of the EP&A Act.

DA14/98 generally allows:
e Mining operations until 2040.
e Ore processing at a rate of 9.8 Mtpa.
e Tailings and waste rock emplacement on site.
e Operation of a range of ancillary mining infrastructure.

SSD 10367 generally allows:

e Underground stope mining until 2040.

e Backfilling the stopes with cemented paste made from tailings.

o Development of ancillary infrastructure including a box-cut to the underground mine and a

paste fill plant.
Condition 3.1(a)(i) for the mine and pipeline requires the preparation of the enclosed Heritage Management Plan
(HMP). This revised Heritage Management Plan (HMP) has been prepared to reflect the conditions of DA
14/98 and SSD 10367 as approved on 30 September 2021 and supersedes all former versions of the HMP.
Copies of the approved development consents for Mod 16 and SSD 10367 are available on Evolution’s
website (www.evolutionmining.com.au).

The consent conditions and the corresponding sections of this Plan that address the conditions are
outlined below:

Consent Condition Section
3.1 Heritage Management
The Applicant shall:
(i) prepare and implement a Heritage Management Plan (HMP) for the Sections 2to 8

development to the satisfaction of the Secretary. The plan shall be prepared in
consultation with Bland District Historical Society, BSC, and Lake Cowal
landholders/residents and address non-indigenous cultural heritage issues
associated with the development.



http://www.evolutionmining.com.au/
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1.1 Adherence to terms of DA, EIS, etc.
(a) The Applicant will carry out the development:

(i) generally in accordance with the EIS; and (ii) in accordance with the conditions of
this consent; and

(iii) in accordance with all written directions of the Planning Secretary made under
condition Note: The general layout of the development is shown in Appendix 2

1.1(b); (b) Consistent with the requirements in this consent, the Planning Secretary
may make written directions to the Applicant in relation to:

(i) the content of any strategy, study, system, plan, program, review, audit,
notification, report or correspondence submitted under or otherwise made in relation
to this consent, including those that are required to be, and have been, approved by
the Planning Secretary; and

(i) the implementation of any actions or measures contained in any such document
referred to in paragraph (a).

(c) The conditions of this consent and directions of the Planning Secretary prevail to
the extent of any inconsistency, ambiguity or conflict between them and the
document/s listed in condition (a)(i). In the event of an inconsistency, ambiguity or
conflict between any of the document/s listed in condition (a)(i), the most recent
document prevails to the extent of the inconsistency, ambiguity or conflict.

Section 1

1.7

Staging, Combining and Updating Strategies, Plans or Programs
(a) With the approval of the Planning Secretary, the Applicant may:

(i) prepare and submit any strategy, plan or program required by this consent on a
staged basis (if a clear description is provided as to the specific stage and
scope of the development to which the strategy, plan or program applies, the
relationship of the stage to any future stages and the trigger for updating the
strategy, plan or program);

(ii) combine any strategy, plan or program required by this consent (if a clear
relationship is demonstrated between the strategies, plans or programs that
are proposed to be combined);

(iii) update any strategy, plan or program required by this consent (to ensure the
strategies, plans and programs required under this consent are updated on a
regular basis and incorporate additional measures or amendments to improve
the environmental performance of the development); and

(iv) combine any strategy, plan or program required by this consent with any similar
strategy, plan or program required by other consents for the Cowal Gold
Operations.

(b) If the Planning Secretary agrees, a strategy, plan or program may be staged or

Section 7
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updated without consultation being undertaken with all parties required to be
consulted in the relevant condition in this consent.

(c) If the Planning Secretary agrees, a strategy, plan or program may be staged
without addressing particular requirements of the relevant condition of this
consent if those requirements are not applicable to the particular stage.

6.1

6.1 Air Management (a) Impact Assessment Criteria The Applicant shall ensure that
all reasonable and feasible avoidance and mitigation measures are employed
so that particulate matter emissions generated from the Cowal Gold
Operations do not cause exceedances of the criteria listed in Tables 3, 4 and
5 at any residence on privately-owned land.

51.1.2

6.1

Impact Assessment Criteria

Pollutant

Avera
ging
period

d Criterion

Total suspended particulate (TSP)
matter

Annual a g0 pg/m3

Particulate matter < 10 um
(PM10)

Annual a og ug/m3

Particulate matter < 2.5 pum
(PM2.5)

Annual ag ug/m3

Table 4: Short term impact assessment criterion for particulate matter

Averaging
period

Pollutant d Criterion

Particulate matter < 10 um (PM10) 24 hour

) ug/m3

Particulate matter < 2.5 pm
(PM2.5)

24 hour b 25 ug/m3

Table 5: Long term impact assessment criteria for deposited dust

Maximum total
deposited
dust level

Maximum increase
in deposited dust
level

Averaging

Pollutant 2
period

€ Deposited dust Annual b 2 g/mZ/month a 4 g/m2/month

5.1.1.2 and 9.

6.3(

Blasting Frequency

The Applicant may carry out a maximum of 1 blast a day for the Open Cut
Operations on site. This condition does not apply to blasts required to ensure the
safety of the mine or its workers.

Note: For the purposes of this condition a blast refers to a single blast event, which
may involve a number of individual

blasts fired in quick succession in a discrete area of the mine.

Sections 5.1.1.1 and
7.

9.1
©

Revision of Strategies, Plans and Programs
Within 3 months of:
@ the submission of an annual review under condition 9.1(b) above;
(i) the submission of a non-compliance or incident notification under condition 9
(iii) the submission of an audit under condition 9.2 (a) below;
(iv) the approval of any modification to the conditions of this consent; or
(V) a direction of the Planning Secretary under condition 1.1(b) of this consent;

the suitability of existing strategies, plans and programs required under this consent
will be reviewed by the Applicant.

If necessary, to either improve the environmental performance of the development or
cater for a modification or comply with a direction, the strategies, plans and programs
required under this consent will be revised, to the satisfaction of the Planning
Secretary. Where revisions are required, the revised document will be

submitted to the Planning Secretary for approval within six weeks of the review.
Note: This is to ensure the strategies, plans and programs are updated on a regular
basis, and incorporate any recommended measures to improve the environmental
performance of the development.

Section 7 and section
10.2

9.1
(b)

Annual Review

By the end of March each year, or as otherwise agreed with the
Planning Secretary, the Applicant shall review the environmental
performance of the Cowal Gold Operations to the satisfaction of the

Section 10.1
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Planning Secretary. This review will:

(i) describe the development that was carried out in the previous
calendar year, and the development

that is proposed to be carried out over the next year;

(i) include a comprehensive review of the monitoring results and
complaints records of the development over the previous calendar
year, which includes a comparison of these results against the:

» the relevant statutory requirements, limits or performance
measures/criteria;

+ the monitoring results of previous years; and

« the relevant predictions in the EIS;

(iii) identify any non-compliance over the last year, and describe
what actions were (or are being) taken to ensure compliance;

(iv) identify any trends in the monitoring data over the life of the
development, including the ongoing

interaction between the Cowal Gold Mine and Lake Cowal;

(v) identify any discrepancies between the predicted and actual
impacts of the development, and

analyse the potential cause of any significant discrepancies; and

(vi) describe what measures will be implemented over the next year
to improve the environmental

performance of the development.

9.1

(d) Community Environmental Monitoring and Consultative Committee

(i) The Applicant shall establish and operate a Community Environmental Monitoring
and Consultative Committee (CEMCC) for the Cowal Gold Operations to the
satisfaction of the Planning Secretary.

This CEMCC will:

» be comprised of an independent chair and at least 2 representatives of the
Applicant, 1 representative of BSC, 1 representative of the Lake Cowal
Environmental Trust (but not a Trust representative of the Applicant), 4 community
representatives (including one member of the Lake Cowal Landholders Association);
« be operated in general accordance with the Department's Community Consultative
Committee Guidelines: State Significant Projects (2019 or its latest version); and

« monitor compliance with conditions of this consent and other matters relevant to the
operation of the Cowal Gold Operations during the term of the consent.

Note: The CEMCC is an advisory committee. The Department and other relevant
agencies are responsible for ensuring that the Applicant complies with this consent.
(i) The Applicant shall establish a trust fund to be managed by the Chair of the
CEMCC to facilitate the functioning of the CEMCC, and pay $2000 per annum to the
fund for the duration of gold processing operations. The annual payment shall be
indexed according to the Consumer Price Index (CPI) at the time of payment. The
first payment shall be made by the date of the first Committee meeting.

The Applicant shall also contribute to the Trust Fund reasonable funds for payment
of the independent Chairperson, to the satisfaction of the Planning Secretary

(iii) At least four years prior to mine closure the Applicant shall, in consultation with
the CEMCC, identify and discuss post-mining issues, particularly in relation to
reduced employment and consequent impacts on West Wyalong, and develop a
mine workforce phase out plan. This plan shall be reviewed and updated in
consultation with the CEMCC at the commencement of the final year of

mining operations.

(iv) The Applicant shall, in consultation with the CEMCC, develop appropriate
strategies to support activities which promote special interest tourism related to the
co-existence of mining and the Lake Cowal environment.

Section 9.1.

9.2

(a) Independent Environmental Audit

By the end of July 2016, and every 3 years thereafter, unless the Planning S
@ otherwise, the Applicant shall commission and pay the full cost of an Indepen
Audit of the Cowal Gold Operations. This audit will:

. be prepared in accordance with the Independent Audit Post Approval Requir

Section 10.3.
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amended from time to time);

« be led and conducted by a suitably qualified, experienced and independent team of
experts (including ecology and rehabilitation experts, and in field’s specified by the
Planning Secretary) whose appointment has been endorsed by the Secretary;

* be carried out in consultation with the relevant agencies, BSC and the CEMCC;

« assess whether the development complies with the relevant requirements in this
consent, and any strategy, plan or program required under this consent; and

* recommend appropriate measures or actions to improve the environmental
performance of the development and any strategy, plan or program required under
this consent.

9.3

9.3 Notification

(a) Incident Notification

The Planning Secretary will be notified in writing via the Major Projects website
immediately after the Applicant becomes aware of an incident. The notification will
identify the development (including the development application number and the
name of the development if it has one) and set out the location

and nature of the incident. Subsequent notification requirements will be given, and
reports submitted in accordance with the requirements set out in Appendix 8.

(b) Non-Compliance Notification

The Planning Secretary will be notified in writing via the Major Projects website within
seven days after the Applicant becomes aware of any non-compliance. A non-
compliance notification will identify the development and the application number for
it, set out the condition of consent that the development is noncompliant with, the
way in which it does not comply and the reasons for the non-compliance (if known)
and what actions have been, or will be, undertaken to address the non-compliance.
Note: A non-compliance which has been notified as an incident does not need to
also be notified as a noncompliance

Section 10.5

9.4

The Applicant shall:

(a) make the following information publicly available on its website:
(i) the EIS;

(i) current statutory approvals for the development;

(iii) approved strategies, plans or programs required under the conditions of this
consent;

(iv) a comprehensive summary of the monitoring results of the development, which
have been reported in accordance with the various plans and programs approved
under the conditions of this consent;

(v) a complaints register, which is to be updated on a monthly basis;
(vi) minutes of CEMCC meetings;
(vii) the last five annual reviews;

(viii) any independent environmental audit, and the Applicant’s response to the
recommendations

in any audit; and

(ix) regular reporting on the environmental performance of the development, in
accordance with the reporting arrangements in any plans or programs approved
under the conditions of this consent;

(x) any other matter required by the Planning Secretary;

(b) keep this information up to date, to the satisfactory of the Planning Secretary.

Section 8.2 and 10.4
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1.1 ML 1535 CONDITIONS OF AUTHORITY

The NSW Division of Resources and Geoscience (DRG), within the DPIE, regulates the conditions of
authority for ML 1535 which includes requirements that relate to the reporting of noise monitoring
results within the Annual Environmental Monitoring Report (AEMR) (now known as the Annual
Review). Condition 26 provides:

Annual Environmental Management Report (AEMR)

26. (1) Within 12 months of the commencement of mining operations and thereafter annually or, at
such other times as may be allowed by the Director-General, the lease holder will lodge an
Annual Environmental Management Report (AEMR) with the Director-General.

2) The AEMR will be prepared in accordance with the Director-General's guidelines current at
the time of reporting and contain a review and forecast of performance for the preceding and
ensuing twelve months in terms of:

(@) the accepted Mining Operations Plan;

(b) development consent requirements and conditions;

(c) Environment Protection Authority and Department of Land and Water Conservation
licences and approvals;

(d) any other statutory environmental requirements;

(e) details of any variations to environmental approvals applicable to the lease area; and

® where relevant, progress towards final rehabilitation objectives.

3) After considering an AEMR the Director-General may, by notice in writing, direct the lease
holder to undertake operations, remedial actions or supplementary studies in the manner
and within the period specified in the notice to ensure that operations on the lease area are
conducted in accordance with sound mining and environmental practice.

4) The lease holder shall, as and when directed by the Minister, cooperate with the Director-
General to conduct and facilitate review of the AEMR involving other government agencies
and the local council.

The above and the development consent condition requirements for the Annual Review (formerly the
AEMR) are addressed in Section 10.1.

1.2 ML 1791 CONDITIONS OF AUTHORITY

The NSW DRG regulates the conditions of authority for ML 1791 which includes requirements that
relate to the reporting of noise monitoring following an environmental incident. Condition 5 outlines the
requirements of the lease holder following an environmental incident:

5. Environmental Incident Report

The lease holder will provide environmental incident notifications and reports to the
Secretary no later than seven (7) days after those environmental incident notifications and
reports are provided to the relevant authorities under the Protection of the Environment
Operations Act 1997.

1.3 OBJECTIVES AND SCOPE

The primary objective of this HMP is to establish a non-indigenous heritage management strategy for
the Project that complies with consent conditions by providing:

¢ asummary of non-indigenous heritage issues which arise in relation to the Cowal Gold Project;
e  potential impacts on identified non-indigenous heritage items relating to Project operations;
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e management measures for existing non-indigenous heritage items; and

e mechanisms in relation to community consultation and complaints, and reporting regarding non-
indigenous heritage.

The Cowal Gold Project Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) (North Limited, 1998) assessed non-
indigenous heritage for the Lake Cowal area and found no items of non-indigenous heritage
significance that would be impacted by Project activities. Subsequent to the Project EIS and granting
of the Development Consent in 1999, five items of non-indigenous heritage items in the Project area
have been listed on the Bland Local Environmental Plan (LEP) and are discussed in this HMP.

The HMP is structured as follows:

Section 1: Outlines the objectives of the plan and details relevant consent conditions.

Section 2: Provides a historical overview of non-indigenous heritage in the Lake Cowal area.
Section 3: Discusses proposals to investigate Aboriginal involvement in non-indigenous heritage.
Section 4: Identifies non-indigenous heritage items.

Section 5: Identifies potential impacts on non-indigenous heritage items.

Section 6: Details management measures for non-indigenous heritage items.

Section 7: Presents monitoring requirements for non-indigenous heritage.

Section 8: Presents Stakeholder consultation requirements.

Section 9: Outlines reporting requirements for non-indigenous heritage related issues.

In accordance with consent condition requirements, Bland District Historical Society (BDHS), Bland
Shire Council (BSC) and Lake landholders/residents will be consulted during the preparation of this
management plan. The HMP will be prepared to the satisfaction of the Planning Secretary or delegate
of Department of Planning and Environment (DPE).

2 HISTORICAL OVERVIEW OF NON-INDIGENOUS HERITAGE IN THE
LAKE COWAL AREA

21 HISTORICAL STUDY

A historical study of the Lake Cowal area was undertaken by the BDHS in 1993 (attached as
Appendix A). This study found that the first settlers arrived in the neighbourhood of Wyalong in 1833
and 1834. Following this occupation, a second wave of pioneers arrived in 1842 to the area bringing
their wives and families. Apart from pastoral stations settled within the Wyalong district, very little
settlement occurred prior to 1885.

Gold mining was prevalent in the Wyalong district and in 1899 it was reported by the government
geologist that the Wyalong goldfield was the most productive in the Colony. When the Wyalong
goldfield gradually reduced production it was not to the doom of the township, as by 1900 it was
evident that wheat growing had become established in the Wyalong district with an area of 11,900
acres sown to cropping and an expected yield of 12 bushels to the acre.
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Cowal Station, occupying 16,000 acres on the eastern side of Lake Cowal was leased in 1842 by
Thomas J. Atkins. Annual rental of Cowal Station in 1866 was £75 and Atkins also held Cowal No.2
Station of 16,000 acres for £38 annual rental. Billabong Station (south of Lake Cowal) and Caragabal
Station (east of Billabong Station) were taken up by John Rodd in 1842 (HMC, 2003). At the turn of
the century, Cowal West (known at the time as Lake Cowal West) was listed as one of the principal
properties in the Lake Cowal area and comprised 8,000 acres. For a more detailed account of the non-
indigenous heritage of the region, refer to Appendices A and B.

Examination of the LEP was undertaken for the Project EIS (North Limited, 1998) to identify any listed
heritage items within the Project Mining Lease (ML). At the time of the EIS preparation (and
subsequent granting of Development Consent) the LEP did not list any heritage items of local, regional
or state heritage significance within the Project development application area.

The EIS concluded that while no significant items of non-indigenous heritage significance were known,
if the construction or development of the Project identified items of non-indigenous heritage
significance, appropriate identification and management measures would be employed (North Limited,
1998).

Subsequent to the Project EIS and granting of the Development Consent in 1999, five items of non-
indigenous heritage have been listed on the LEP within the vicinity of Lake Cowal. The listed items
are located at the Cowal West Homestead Complex, herein referred to as Cowal West (Figures 2 and
3) and Lake Cowal Station.

Following the listing of non-indigenous heritage items (Cowal West) within ML 1535 and outside ML
1535 (Graves at Lake Cowal Station), a heritage archiving project was undertaken to provide a
historical record of the listed non-indigenous heritage items. Heritage Management Consultants Pty
Ltd (HMC) were commissioned by Barrick Gold Australia Ltd (Barrick) to produce a report titled “Cowal
Gold Project European Heritage Assessment and Recording of Homestead Complex” (attached as
Appendix B) and also to provide an archival photographical record of the listed non-indigenous
heritage items. All works for the archival process were conducted in accordance with the Heritage
Information Series - How to Prepare Archival Records of Heritage Items (NSW Heritage Office, 1998)
and the Heritage Information Series - Guidelines for Photographic Recording of Heritage Sites,
Buildings and Structures (NSW Heritage Office, 1994).

2.2 ORAL HISTORY

Oral family histories provided to the Project relating to the historical occupation of the properties
“Cowal West” and “Lake Cowal” in the Lake Cowal area (Figure 2) are repeated below (Note that the
property named “Lake Cowal” is not the same property as that referred to as “Lake Cowal Station” at
which the graves are located).

22.1 Lake Cowal

Prior to 1897 the property named Lake Cowal was owned by Henry Ricketson who died at Caufield,
Victoria in 1900. In 1897 Lake Cowal, then occupying 164,000 acres, was purchased from the
Ricketson family by Samuel Wilson Snr. From 1885 Samuel Wilson Jnr. managed the property until
his death in 1935.
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Lake Cowal homestead was built in 1890 and was partly destroyed by fire in 1928. The bricks used in
construction of the homestead were made, and the timber cut and milled, on the property. The
homestead was 70 squares in area, had cavity walls and had high ceilings of 10-12 ft. The veranda
surrounded the house, and was 12 feet wide with a ceiling. The kitchen and staff quarters were
separate buildings to the rear of the homestead, constructed in the same period.

Samuel Wilson Snr., on acquiring Lake Cowal in 1987, improved the land and increased the stocking
rate from 84,000 sheep to 107,000 sheep. His sheep and wool products were shown at a nhumber of
exhibitions and won a gold medal for Lake Cowal wool at an exhibition at Chicago. Samuel Wilson
Snr. was the first President of the West Wyalong Show Society and first President of the BSC. His
sons, Leslie and Charles, owned the well known properties in the region of “Corran” and “Caloola”
respectively and his sister, Mrs MacDonnell, owned “Milly Milly”.

In 1913-14 a large area of the Lake Cowal lease was resumed, contributing to the establishment of the
farming centres of Clear Ridge and Blow Clear. 1938 saw the homestead portion of the property sold
to HPR (Reg) Coles. HPR Coles held the property for a short time before selling it to WA (Will)
Buttenshaw, owner of the neighbouring property “Laurel Park”.

Will Buttenshaw and family commenced occupation of “Lake Cowal” in 1945 and constructed a new
homestead that incorporated a number of the original buildings not destroyed by the 1928 fire. Will
died soon after in December 1946. The property was run as an estate until 1950 when Will's son WR
(Bill) Buttenshaw purchased the remaining estate shares of other family members.

Some time later the original Lake Cowal woolshed, employing 48 blade-shears, were converted into a
machined six-stand shearing shed, one of the earliest sheds in the area to use shearing machines.
The woolshed was almost completely demolished by a windstorm in the 1970’s and a new shed was
constructed near the bulk electricity lines (constructed in 1961). The Ronaldson and Tippett engine
that powered the shearing stand was given to the West Wyalong Historical Society.

Lake Cowal (how comprising 8,000 acres) was managed by Bill Buttenshaw until 2000 when he
retired with his wife and daughters from farming and grazing. Since 2000 the property has been
leased to Helena and Geoff West of “Lake View”.

2.2.2 Cowal West

Frank Allen occupied the property Cowal West for a number of years until his death in 1904, aged 68.
Frank was born in Maine, USA in 1835 and was one of nine children. In 1853 Frank and his older
brother departed New York on the ship “Rockland” bound for the Victorian gold rush.

Frank failed to make his fortune in the goldfields and settled at Lambing Flat (now the town of Young).
He became partner in a produce business and married his cousin’s widow Annie, who died soon after
the birth of their son Charles.

In 1868 Frank married Isabella Clarke from Young. Frank, Isabella and the produce business moved
to Grenfell after the finding of gold in that area. Most of their eleven children were born there. Later
Frank sold the business and moved his family to Whego Station and then to “Cowal West” where he
lived until his death.
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3 ABORIGINAL INVOLVEMENT IN NON-INDIGENOUS HERITAGE

In accordance with Section 9.3 of Consent 1467 granted under section 90 of the National Parks and
Wildlife Act 1974, a regional cultural heritage study will be completed within 3 years of commencement
of construction. The study will identify areas of significance to Aboriginal people including areas within
Evolution’s land to be considered for future conservation.

Aboriginal involvement in non-indigenous heritage will be studied within this regional study. The
regional cultural heritage study will include the history of contact between Aboriginal people and
European settlers (NPWS, pers. comm., 21 May 2003).

4 NON-INDIGENOUS HERITAGE ITEMS

No items of national or state non-indigenous significance will be affected by the construction and
operation of the Project. Items of local non-indigenous heritage significance located in the vicinity of
the Project are discussed below.

4.1 ITEMS OF LOCAL HERITAGE SIGNIFICANCE UNDER BLAND LOCAL
ENVIRONMENTAL PLAN 1993

Development consent for the Cowal Gold Project was granted on 26 February 1999. Subsequent to
that date, five items in the Lake Cowal area were listed as heritage items under Bland Local
Environmental Plan 1993 (the LEP). The listings were effected by way of an amendment to the LEP
which was gazetted in November 1999.

The items are:

e The Cowal West Homestead, Quarters, Sheds and Stables (1890) (Portion 347,Lake Cowal
Road, Parish of Corringle) (Figures 2 and 3); and

e Graves on Lake Cowal Station (Newell Highway, 6km north of Marsden on Lake Cowal Station.
Note that the graves, situated at the property named “Lake Cowal Station” on the east of Lake
Cowal, are not at the property named “Lake Cowal” situated south of Lake Cowal as identified on
Figure 2).

The history of Cowal West is detailed in the attached report titled European Heritage and Assessment
and Recording of Homestead Complex (HMC, 2003) (Appendix B).

Clauses 21 to 23 of the LEP impose constraints upon development on, or in the vicinity of, items listed
as heritage items. However, under the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 where an
existing development consent expressly or by necessary implication authorises the carrying out of
development, that development may be carried out notwithstanding constraints imposed later in time
by way of a local environmental plan (or any other planning instrument).

In the case of the Cowal Gold Project, two of the four structures comprising the Cowal West
homestead (the Stables and the Homestead), are situated within the Project area of disturbance,
namely, the north western edge of the Southern Waste Emplacement and the Access Road (Figure 3).
Construction of the mine in the manner authorised by the development consent requires the removal
of these structures.
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The two remaining structures forming part of the Cowal West Homestead [the Quarters (referred to as
the Shearer’s Quarters in HMC, 2003) and the Shed] are situated just outside the proposed area of
disturbance. Further discussions with stakeholders regarding the future management of these
structures will be held during the life of the Project. Any development on or in the vicinity of these
structures will take place in accordance with the requirements of clauses 21 to 23 of the LEP (set out
below). In the meantime, measures will be undertaken to maintain their local heritage value, as set
out in Section 6 of this HMP.

Clauses 21 to 23 of the LEP provide as follows:

21. (1) Inrespect of a building, work, relic, tree or place that is a heritage item, a person will not-

(@) demolish or alter the building or work;
(b) damage or remove the relic, or excavate for the proposed of exposing the relic;
(c) damage, despoil or destroy the tree or place; or

(d) erect a building on, or subdivide, land on which the building, work or relic is situated or on
the land which comprises the place,

except with the consent of the Council.

(2) Before granting consent to a development application relating to a heritage item, the Council
will consider the impact of the development or adjacent development on the heritage
significance of the item.

(3) The Council will not grant consent to the demolition of a heritage item unless:
(a) the Council has notified the Heritage Council of its intention to grant consent; and
(b) the Heritage Council has no objection to the granting of consent.

(4) The Heritage Council is taken to have no objection unless it notifies the Council of its objection
not later than 28 days after receiving notice of the Council’s intention to grant consent.

(5) The Council may grant consent to partial demolition of a heritage item without further
notification, if it considers the partial demolition is of a minor nature and will not adversely affect
the item’s heritage significance.

Clause 22 of the LEP discusses development in the vicinity of heritage items:

22. The Council shall not consent to an application for consent to carry out development on land in the
vicinity of a heritage item unless it has made an assessment of the effect the carrying out of that
development will have on the heritage significance of the item and its setting.

Clause 23 of the LEP discusses conservation incentives relating to heritage items:

23. Nothing in this plan prevents the Council from granting consent to the use for any purpose of a
building that is a heritage item or of the land on which that building is erected where, in the opinion
of Council —

(@) the use would have little or no adverse effect on the amenity of the locality; and
(b) conservation of the building depends on the Council granting consent.
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4.1.1  Other Items of Non-Indigenous Heritage

The assessment carried out by Heritage Management Consultants (HMC) on behalf of the Project also
identified buildings, structures and items in the vicinity of the Project that contain a level of local
heritage significance, namely:

e Lake Cowal Homestead Complex — located on the southern boundary of Lake Cowal (Figure 2);

e Lake Cowal Woolshed - located approximately 1.4km south of the Lake Cowal Homestead
Complex;

e Lake Cowal Shearer’s Quarters — located on Sandy Creek between the Lake Cowal Homestead
Complex and the Lake Cowal Woolshed (not to be confused with the Cowal West Quarters listed
on the Bland LEP);

e Rattey’s house — located on Lot 38; and

e  Survey Markers — located at the junctions of Lots 38, 31 and 37.

All of the above items are located on Evolution owned land outside ML 1535. No historical heritage
items were discovered during the site inspection for MOD 16 nor are they predicted to occur within the
site boundary of CGO due to highly disturbed nature of the land.

The Analysis of Evidence conducted by HMC (2003) describes these items in relation to NSW
Historical Themes (Appendix B). A brief description of the items is provided below:

Lake Cowal Homestead Complex

The Lake Cowal Homestead complex is directly related to the second generation of pastoral runs in
the Lake Cowal region, and together with its woolshed and shearing quarters appears to have
historical associations and physical remains of potential heritage significance (HMC, 2003).

Lake Cowal Woolshed

The Lake Cowal Woolshed is a large shed that is possibly one of the earliest shed to be converted to
mechanical shearing. The shed is in ruin, and is beyond effective conservation, but its recording would
salvage potentially important historical and technological evidence of local and regional significance.
The original shearer’s quarter were adjacent to the shed and may have left archaeological evidence
(HMC, 2003).

Lake Cowal Shearer’s Quarters

The Lake Cowal Shearer's Quarters are of yet unknown age, but appear to be early 20t century in
date. They are potentially of greater significant than the Cowal West quarters.

Rattey’s house

Rattey’s house is closely associated with a prominent Australian, due to his war record, who also
typified small-scale settlement in the Lake Cowal area (HMC, 2003).

Survey Markers

The survey marker trees appear related to subdivision of the lake bed blocks in the 1920’s, and are
interesting evidence of the survey of the local area (HMC, 2003).
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None of the above buildings, structures or items are listed on the LEP or NSW State Register. As
such, they were not considered at the time of the EIS (North, 1998) for potential impacts from mining
activities or mitigation measures. However, due to the HMC consideration that both the Lake Cowal
Woolshed and Lake Cowal Shearer's Quarters posses a reasonable degree of significance, a heritage
assessment will be conducted on these items during the life of the Project to determine their heritage
value (HMC, 2003).

5 IMPACTS ON NON-INDIGENOUS HERITAGE

5.1 COWAL WEST
An historical heritage assessment has been completed for the project to address the impacts of Mod
16 on historical heritage items, cultural value and archaeological resources.

One heritage item is listed in the Underground Development Project area boundary (Lot 7 DP
753083) in Schedule 5 of the Bland LEP: Cowal West Group comprising homestead, quarters, sheds
and stables (heritage item 111) however, these heritage elements were approved for relocation and no
longer exists. The relocation and reconstruction of the Shearing Shed at the Lake Cowal Conservation
Centre was completed in April 2013.

Lake Cowal is also listed on the RNE, for which the listing does not include cultural heritage values.
Mod 16 will not impact this listing or any cultural heritage values held by Lake Cowal, as associated
surface disturbance is wholly within the site boundary of CGO.

No historical heritage items were discovered during the site inspection nor are they predicted to occur
within the site boundary of CGO due to highly disturbed nature of the land.

5.1.1 Operational Emissions

Operational emissions that are considered to have the potential to adversely impact on heritage items
include blasting (vibration and overpressure) and dust deposition. These emissions are considered to
have minimal impacts on the listed heritage items and their impacts and mitigation measures are
discussed in the following sections.

5.1.1.1 Blast Emissions - Vibration and Overpressure

Predictions of the level of Project blast emissions at the nearest potentially affected residences was
conducted by Richard Heggie and Associates Pty Ltd (Richard Heggie Associates, 1997). The
predictions were based on a Maximum Instantaneous Charge (MIC) of 213 kilograms (kg) and a
typical Project blast design (Richard Heggie and Associates, 1997). Figures 4 and 5 (Richard Heggie
and Associates, 1997) indicate the maximum predicted ground vibration level and the maximum
predicted airblast overpressure level for varying distances away from the blast zone.

Cowal West is located approximately 2 km from the blast zone (Richard Heggie and Associates,
1997), and the EIS assessment indicated:

e the maximum predicted ground vibration level of 0.34 millimetres per second (mm/s) at Cowal
West was well within the Australian and New Zealand Environmental and Conservation Council
(ANZECC) criteria of 5 mm/s and the long-term regulatory goal of 2 mm/s; and

e the maximum predicted airblast overpressure level of 104 decibels (dB) (Linear Peak) at Cowal
West was also well within the 115 dB (Linear Peak) criterion.
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Australian Standard AS 2187.2-2006 Explosives — Storage, transport and use. Part 2: Use of
explosives (AS 2187.2) denotes for heritage buildings that may be susceptible to structural damage,
maximum levels of Peak Vector Sum vibration levels and Airblast levels (dB re 20 micropascals [uPa])
of 5Bmm/s, and 133 dB(Linear Peak) respectively. The relevant section of AS 2187.2 is provided as
Appendix C.

The predicted levels of 0.34 mm/s and 104 dB (Linear Peak) are well under the set maximum levels
for heritage buildings, hence blasting is not predicted to have any significant effects on the Quarters
(referred to as the Shearer’'s Quarters in HMC, 2003) and the Shed. All blasting will be done in
accordance with the BLMP and Consent Conditions 6.3 and 8.4(b).
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5.1.1.2 Dust Emissions

Pavel Zib and Associates (1997) identified potential dust emission sources from mining operations as:

areas disturbed by construction activities;

areas disturbed by mining activities, including waste emplacement areas and other portions of the
mine site exposed to wind;

waste rock handling and stockpiling activities (including loading and unloading, spreading and
shaping of waste);

movement of vehicles on unsealed roads for general mining activities;
topsaoil stripping and stockpiling;
drilling and blasting; and

crushing, screening, transport and preparation of ore.

The AQMP provides a dust management and monitoring strategy for the CGO as required by Consent
Conditions 6.1:

air quality safeguards and procedures for dealing with dust emissions;

details on how and when the mine operation is to be modified to minimise the potential for dust
emissions; and

dust monitoring locations and measures to continue baseline monitoring.

The only potential effects of dust deposition on the Quarters (referred to as the Shearer’'s Quarters in
HMC, 2003) and the Shed (as they will be uninhabited) have since been demolished in accordance
with requirements and are no longer a consideration for dust impacts.

19



Cowal Gold Operations — Heritage Management Plan

6 NON-INDIGENOUS HERITAGE MANAGEMENT MEASURES

CGO is currently in an established state with very limited new disturbance planned. All disturbance
planned for the CGO is to occur in previously disturbed areas that have already been subject to
clearance protocols. Additional to this, the very small area of approved undisturbed area at the CGO
will be subject to clearances and verified with the site Ground Disturbance Procedure as required.

6.1 COWAL WEST

Heritage Regulation 2012 outlines minimum standards with respect to the maintenance and repair of
buildings, works and relics that are listed on the NSW State Heritage Register or within a precinct that
is listed on that Register. Standards outlined in the Heritage Regulation 2012 relate to the following:

e weatherproofing;

o fire protection;

e  security; and

e essential maintenance.

Cowal West is listed in the LEP and not on the NSW State Register. As such, Heritage Regulation
2012 does not apply. However, Heritage Regulation 2012 will be used as a guide where practicable
for any maintenance and repairs conducted on the Quarters (the Shearer's Quarters in HMC, 2003)
and the Shed.

Management measures that will be implemented with regard to the Quarters (referred to as the
Shearer’s Quarters in HMC, 2003) and the Shed include:

e  Erection of fences around the Quarters (the Shearer's Quarters in HMC, 2003) and the Shed to
minimise potential for damage due to vehicle movements and general machinery movements.

6.1.1 Bland District Historical Society

The BDHS have indicated to Barrick (and subsequently Evolution) that they have no historical interest
in Cowal West and that they are in favour of an archival photographical record for Cowal West (BDHS,
pers. comm., 6 May and 24 June 2003).

Subsequent to a meeting between Barrick and BDHS, BDHS forwarded a letter to Barrick on the 24
June 2003 stating that they have “no historical interest in the buildings [Cowal West] at the Mine Site”,
and they support any decision that Barrick makes in regards to the items at Cowal West (BDHS letter
attached as Appendix D).

6.1.2 Archival Records

An archival record of the items of heritage value at Cowal West was undertaken in May 2003 by Dr
Michael Pearson of HMC. HMC advised the Cowal West Complex contained items of local
significance, primarily the Shed, and to a lesser degree, the Stables. Subsequently, photographic
records were produced for relevant Cowal West structures. All photographic records were conducted
in accordance with the Heritage Information Series - Guidelines for Photographic Recording of
Heritage Sites, Buildings and Structures (NSW Heritage Office, 1994). Prior to removal of the Cowal
West Homestead building, a photographic record was conducted for inclusion into the archival
record for Cowal West in accordance with the above-mentioned guidelines.
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Storage of the archival records will be conducted in accordance with the Heritage Information Series -
How to Prepare Archival Records of Heritage Items (NSW Heritage Office, 1998). Storage will include
the original copy being lodged with BSC, Bland Shire Library, Barrick and subsequently handed over to
Evolution.

6.1.3 Dust Mitigation

Further Dust mitigation measures are no loger considered applicable as the structures listed as the
Quarters, and Shed have been removed in accordance with previously stated requirements.

The proposed management strategy is to visually monitor dust accumulation in any remaining
structures and if dust accumulation is considered to be affecting its heritage value.

6.2 UNEXPECTED FINDS PROTOCOL

Considering no existing items of heritage significance were found during register searches or are
predicted to occur within the existing boundary of CGO no specific mitigation measures are required to
be implemented during construction or operation of the project. An unexpected finds protocol will be
added to the existing Heritage Management Plan (HMP) for CGO to be applied to existing operations.

The unexpected finds protocol will provide guidance to the construction and operational workforce
should works uncover historic heritage items that may indicate relics. The unexpected finds protocol is
provided below:

In the event of discovery of new historical sites within CGO, the following protocols apply:

o if the find meets the materiality threshold, work will immediately but temporarily cease and a
minimum of 5 m around the site will be secured to protect the find with temporary fencing/
flagging. The materiality threshold includes:

o bonded bricks, timber or stones appearing in formation indicating a wall, foundations
or floor;

o a well or cistern, which are usually constructed of brick, sandstone and in this region
may be granite;

o soil with artefact concentrations such as bottles and broken glass, broken crockery,
metal, pins and leather, as this type of feature may be a rubbish pit and indicate other
as yet undiscovered features; and

o a collection of bricks that show evidence of early manufacture such as narrower than
modern bricks, inconsistent colour and material and striations across the length;

e the find will be immediately reported to the relevant supervisor, environmental manager or
other nominated staff member;
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e an archaeologist will be contacted to assess the find, where relevant, and determine if it is
clearly a relic or has moderate to high potential to be a relic (this may require additional
research) — if possible, identification would be competed over email using photographs and if
necessary, the archaeologist will attend the site;

e if the find is determined to be a relic, a 146 natification (of the NSW Heritage Act 1977) is to be
forwarded to the Heritage Council who will be consulted on the appropriate management
measure;

e ifthe find is assessed and is not a relic, work inside the area that was made a no-go area can
re-commence; and

e any new sites will be added to the HMP.

7 MONITORING

In accordance with Consent Condition 3.1 the Environmental personnel shall monitor annually, the
effectiveness of management measures outlined in this HMP. As the structures referred to in the HMP
have been removed, monitoring of these is no longer applicable.

In accordance with Consent Condition 9, Evolution will Review of Strategies, Plans and Programs
Within 3 months of:

(i) the submission of an annual review under condition 9.1(b) above;

(i) (ii) the submission of a non-compliance or incident notification under condition 9.3(a) or 9.3(b)

below;

(iii) (iii) the submission of an audit under condition 9.2 (a) below;

(iv) (iv) the approval of any modification to the conditions of this consent; or

(v) (v) a direction of the Planning Secretary under condition 1.1(b) of this consent;

The suitability of existing strategies, plans and programs required under this consent will be reviewed
by the Applicant.

If necessary, to either improve the environmental performance of the development or cater for a
modification or comply with a direction, the strategies, plans and programs required under this consent
will be revised, to the satisfaction of the Planning Secretary. Where revisions are required, the revised
document will be submitted to the Planning Secretary for approval within six weeks of the review.

Condition 1.7 of DA 14/98 allows for the staging and combining and updating of strategies, plans and
programs. Due to the specific nature of the heritage management plan and the limited scope,
Evolution has decided to keep the HMP as a standalone management plan within the Environmental
Management System.
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8 ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Environmental
Management Role

Responsibility

Sustainability
Superintendent

Maintains project approvals, ensuring approval obligations are suitable for the continued operation
of the CGO.

Ensures all CGO approval documents are submitted as required by licences, development consent
and mining lease conditions and other permits.

Manages consultants involved in CGO approvals processes.

Works with relevant government agencies and consultants to ensure necessary project approvals
are achieved.

Promotes and enhances Evolution’s reputation and relationship with the Government regulators,
local landholders and other stakeholders.

Maintains the implementation of the environment management system and governance programs
to ensure the CGO maintains compliance with applicable environmental obligations and minimises
environmental harm and risk.

Oversees the environmental monitoring and reporting program.

Coordinates external environmental audits and site visits, acting as primary contact on
environmental matters.

Supports Sustainability Manager’s responsibilities.

Responsible for site environmental monitoring, including external consultant monitoring and
reporting.

Implementation and compliance with EMPs, environmental approvals, licensing and permits.
Responsible for annual internal auditing and reporting (e.g. CGO Annual Review).

Public monthly reporting of environmental monitoring data.

Environmental Management System implementation and optimisation.

Scheduling of Corrective Action Preventative Action (CAPA) follow up for audits.

Significant environmental aspects and formal risk assessments and Management of Change
program supervision.

Objectives, targets and CAPA tracking.

Workplace interactions, planned general inspections and internal audit scheduling.
Pre-starts, awareness packs and training days input.

Maintenance of the community complaints register.

Sustainability
Manager

Act as the appointed “Environmental Officer” on behalf of the operation.

Oversees the development and implementation of Environment and Social Responsibility (ESR)
management systems and governance programs to ensure the operation maintains compliance with
applicable environmental and social obligations (internal and external).

Promotes and enhances Evolution’s reputation and relationship with the broader community and
stakeholders through positive consultation, proactive engagement and compliance with relevant
legislation and permitting conditions.

Manages stakeholder engagement for the CGO through community meetings, media, publications
and site visits.

Works with relevant government agencies and consultants to ensure necessary project approvals
are achieved.

Oversees the implementation of organisational policies, standards, plans and procedures.
Oversees the environmental monitoring program to meet the environmental obligations.
Oversees the development and management of ESR risks.

Manages the ongoing implementation and compliance of the Wiradjuri Native Title Agreement.

Coordinates cultural heritage matters ensuring compliance with relevant NSW legislation and the
Indigenous Archaeology and Cultural Heritage Management Plan.

Leads, coaches and mentors a dynamic team to provide high quality ESR service and support to
the CGO.

Establishes training and awareness programs for employees, contractors and visitors to site in
relation to the ESR management plans developed to comply with ESR obligations and Evolution’s
policies in relation to ESR management and performance.
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Oversees the governance programme to monitor compliance and performance of department
managers, supervisors, employees, and contractors against the ESR management programmes.

Oversees the establishment of environmental monitoring objectives to meet the requirements of
environmental obligations and stakeholder expectations.

Acts as the spokesperson for all ESR matters related to the operations.
Oversees the preparation and delivery of internal and external reports as per ESR obligations.
Promotes Evolution’s ESR strategy by educating staff and contractors.

Oversees the development and implementation of cultural heritage and European heritage
awareness program for all employees, contractors and visitors to the operation.

Responsible for the development of the rehabilitation, biodiversity offsets, mine closure and land
strategies, and oversees the implementation of associated programs and activities.

Responsible for the annual strategic planning for the environmental function, facilitating the
development and implementation of performance metrics, work programs, and operating and capital
budgets.

General Manager

Provides adequate resourcing to support site environmental management and implementation of
environmental management

Provide strategic direction.
Responsible for management of Evolution staff and all contractors.

Mining Manager

Responsible for ensuring all mining works are carried out in accordance with the mining lease and
operational areas and other relevant approvals and legislation.

Provide strategic direction.

General Staff and
Contractors

All general staff members trained in environmental procedures and protocols as part of the
induction process and regular site meetings.

All general staff members responsible for imnmediately reporting environmental incidents.

All general staff members responsible for undertaking works in an environmentally sound manner
and in accordance with EMPs and site commitments.
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9 STAKEHOLDER CONSULTATION

9.1 COMMUNITY ENVIRONMENTAL MONITORING AND CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE

A CEMCC will be set up for the Project in accordance with Consent Condition 8.7. The condition is
reproduced below:

9.1 Community Consultative Committee

Community Environmental Monitoring and Consultative Committee (CEMCC)

The Applicant shall:

(i) The Applicant shall establish and operate a Community Environmental Monitoring and Consultative
Committee (CEMCC) for the Cowal Gold Operations to the satisfaction of the Planning Secretary.
This CEMCC wiill:

* be comprised of an independent chair and at least 2 representatives of the Applicant, 1
representative of BSC, 1 representative of the Lake Cowal Environmental Trust (but not a Trust
representative of the Applicant), 4 community representatives (including one member of the Lake
Cowal Landholders Association);

* be operated in general accordance with the Department’s Community Consultative Committee
Guidelines: State Significant Projects (2019 or its latest version); and

» monitor compliance with conditions of this consent and other matters relevant to the operation of
the Cowal Gold Operations during the term of the consent.

Note: The CEMCC is an advisory committee. The Department and other relevant agencies are
responsible for ensuring that the Applicant complies with this consent.

(ii) The Applicant shall establish a trust fund to be managed by the Chair of the CEMCC to facilitate the
functioning of the CEMCC, and pay $2000 per annum to the fund for the duration of gold processing
operations. The annual payment shall be indexed according to the Consumer Price Index (CPI) at

the time of payment. The first payment shall be made by the date of the first Committee meeting.

The Applicant shall also contribute to the Trust Fund reasonable funds for payment of the

independent Chairperson, to the satisfaction of the Planning Secretary

(iii) At least four years prior to mine closure the Applicant shall, in consultation with the CEMCC, identify
and discuss post-mining issues, particularly in relation to reduced employment and consequent

impacts on West Wyalong, and develop a mine workforce phase out plan. This plan shall be

reviewed and updated in consultation with the CEMCC at the commencement of the final year of
mining operations.

(iv) The Applicant shall, in consultation with the CEMCC, develop appropriate strategies to support
activities which promote special interest tourism related to the co-existence of mining and the Lake
Cowal environment.

The CEMCC will comprise representatives of BSC, Lake Cowal Foundation Limited (LCFL), two
Evolution representatives and four community representatives including one from the Lake Cowal
Landholders Association.

The CEMCC will provide opportunities for members of the community to attend CEMCC meetings to
discuss specific issues relevant to them, including dust-related issues. This will be achieved by
landholders making a request to the CEMCC regarding a particular issue, or by the landowner
registering a complaint in the complaints register. Landowners who register complaints will be invited
to join in discussion of the issue at the next CEMCC meeting.
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Items of discussion at these meetings will include mine progress, reporting on environmental
monitoring, complaints, rehabilitation activities and any environmental assessments undertaken.

9.2 COMPLAINTS REGISTER
A complaints register will be maintained by the CGO in accordance with Consent Condition 9.1 and
Information recorded in the complaints register with respect to each complaint will include:

e date of complaint;

e name, address and telephone number of complainant;
e  nature of complaint; and

e response action taken to date.

An initial response will be provided to the complainant within 24 hours. Preliminary investigations into
the complaint will commence within 48 hours of complaint receipt.

In the event that the complainant is not satisfied with Evolution’s response to the complaint an
independent investigation will be undertaken.
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10 ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT, TRAINING, AUDITING AND REPORTING

10.1 ANNUAL REVIEW

An Annual Review will be prepared in accordance with the relevant requirements of DPE in
accordance of condition 9.1 and submitted to the Planning Secretary. Consent Condition 9.1 (b) is
reproduced below:

Annual Review

By the end of March each year, or as otherwise agreed with the Planning Secretary, the Applicant
shall review the environmental performance of the Cowal Gold Operations to the satisfaction of the
Planning Secretary. This review will:

(i) describe the development that was carried out in the previous calendar year, and the development
that is proposed to be carried out over the next year;

(i) include a comprehensive review of the monitoring results and complaints records of the
development over the previous calendar year, which includes a comparison of these results against
the:

« the relevant statutory requirements, limits or performance measures/criteria;

« the monitoring results of previous years; and

« the relevant predictions in the EIS;

(i) identify any non-compliance over the last year, and describe what actions were (or are being)
taken to ensure compliance;

(iv) identify any trends in the monitoring data over the life of the development, including the ongoing
interaction between the Cowal Gold Mine and Lake Cowal,

(v) identify any discrepancies between the predicted and actual impacts of the development, and
analyse the potential cause of any significant discrepancies; and

(vi) describe what measures will be implemented over the next year to improve the environmental
performance of the development.

The Annual Review will report on the following non-indigenous heritage-related issues:

e new items of non-indigenous heritage significance identified by the CGO within the ML (Section
7.3);

e new listings of non-indigenous heritage significance items on the LEP or NSW State Heritage
Register within the ML (Section 7.3);

e abrief overview of maintenance conducted on listed non-indigenous heritage items (Section 6.1);
and

e asummary of results from any monitoring, management and maintenance measures undertaken.

The annual review will be made available via the Cowal Gold Operation website and submitted to the
Planning Secretary for assessment.

10.2 REVISION OF STRATEGIES AND PLANS
In accordance with condition 9.1(c) of DA 14/98, this HMP will be reviewed within three months of:
¢ the submission of an Annual Review under Condition 9.1(b);
e the submission of an non-compliance or incident notification under Condition 9.3(a) or
9.3(b);
e the submission of an audit under Condition 9.2(a);
e the approval of any modification to the conditions of this consent; or
e any direction of the Planning Secretary under Condition 1.1(b) of this consent.
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Where this review leads to revisions of this plan, then within six weeks of the review, the revised HMP
will be submitted for the approval of the Planning Secretary of the DPE (unless otherwise agreed with
the Planning Secretary). The revision status of this HMP is indicated after the title page of this HMP.

This HMP will be made publicly available on Evolution’s website (www.evolutionmining.com.au) in
accordance with DA 14/98 condition 9.4(a)(iii).

10.3 INDEPENDENT ENVIRONMENTAL AUDIT
An Independent Environmental Audit will be conducted in accordance with DA 14/98 condition 9.2(a)
and SSD 10367 condition C11. Condition 9.2(a) is reproduced below:

9.2 Independent Auditing and Review

(a) Independent Environmental Audit
(i) By the end of July 2016, and every 3 years thereafter, unless the Secretary directs otherwise, the Applicant shall commission
and pay the full cost of an Independent Environmental Audit of the development. This audit must:

o  be prepared in accordance with the Independent Audit Post Approval Requirements (2020 or as amended
from time to time);

o be led and conducted by a suitably qualified, experienced and independent team of experts (including
ecology and rehabilitation experts, and in field’s specified by the Planning Secretary) whose appointment
has been endorsed by the Secretary;

o  be carried out in consultation with the relevant agencies, BSC and the CEMCC;

o  assess whether the development complies with the relevant requirements in this consent, and any strategy,
plan or program required under this consent; and

o  recommend appropriate measures or actions to improve the environmental performance

This process provides a mechanism by which environmental management and monitoring at the CGO
can be assessed against relevant Development Consent, mining lease and licence conditions.

104 ACCESS TO INFORMATION
In accordance to condition 9.4 of DA 14/98, Evolution will make information accessible to the public
and will keep all relevant information up to date to the satisfaction of the Planning Secretary.

9.4 Access to Information

The applicant shall:

() make the following information publicly available on its website:

(i) the EIS;

(i) current statutory approvals for the development;

(iii) approved strategies, plans or programs required under the conditions of this
consent;

(iv) a comprehensive summary of the monitoring results of the development, which
have been reported in accordance with the various plans and programs approved
under the conditions of this consent;

(v) acomplaints register, which is to be updated on a monthly basis;.

(vi) minutes of CEMCC meetings;

(vii) the last five annual reviews;

(viilany independent environmental audit, and the Applicant’s response to the
recommendations in any audit; and

(ix) regular reporting on the environmental performance of the development, in
accordance with the reporting arrangements in any plans or programs approved
under the conditions of this consent;

(x) any other matter required by the Planning Secretary; and

(b) keep this information up to date, to the satisfaction of the Planning Secretary.
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10.5 NOTIFICATION
Incidents are defined in DA 14/98 as:

A set of circumstances that causes or threatens to cause material harm to the environment.

In accordance with DA 14/98 condition 9.3(a), Evolution will notify the DPE in writing via the Major
Projects website, immediately after becoming aware of an incident. Evolution will provide the relevant
agencies with a detailed report on the incident, and any further reports that may be requested. These
reports will outline as a minimum, the development (including the development application number),
the location and the nature of the incident which has occurred.

Evolution will maintain a record of and report on any incidents. The Evolution Incident Report Form will
be completed when recording incidents at the site.

A non-compliance is defined within DA 14/98 as:

An occurrence, set of circumstances, or development, that is a breach of this consent but is not an
incident.

In accordance with DA 14/98 condition 9.3(b), Evolution will notify the DPE in writing via the Major
Project website within seven days after becoming aware of any non-compliance. Evolution will
provide in writing to the DPIE a detailed report of the non-compliance which identifies, the
development application number for the condition with which the CGO is non-compliant, the way in
which the CGO does not comply and the reason for the non-compliance. The CGO will also provide
details around any actions which have been or will be taken, to address the non-compliance.

10.6 TRAINING

Evolution Mining CGO conducts General Environmental Awareness Training and Cultural Heritage
Training for employees and contractors to promote awareness of Cowal Gold (CGO) surrounding
environment, heritage and areas of significance and the protection and enhancement of these areas.
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LAKE COWAL HISTORICAL RESEARCH.

Including a summary of European settlement and activities in
the West Wyalong, Marsden, Wamboyne/Burcher, Billys Lookout,
Blow Clear and Ungarie areas with emphasis on the mining
history and its economic and social contribution to the

develcopment of the area.

Prepared by The Bland Historical Society. 1993.



EARLY HISTORY OF THE DISTRICT.

In 1817 Surveyor General John Oxley was sent by Governor
Lachlan Macguarie to discover what happened the Lachlan and
Fish Rivers. These rivers caused geoagraphers a. problem:
because they both flowed inland in different directions.

In 1817 Oxley established his depot on the Lachlan and in
April with Allan Cunningham and ten companions, started down
the river.

This journey brought him into the area under discussion and
we read in his diary the first recorded description of this
area. His description was very unfavourable, which is
surprising, because this land eventually became one of the
best wheat producing areas in New South Wales.

Whilst in the vicinity of Mt Amyot Oxley said: "It is
impossible to fancy a worse country than the one we are now
travelling over, intersected by swamps and small lagoons in
every direction; the soil a poor c¢lay and covered with
stunted useless timber." OXLEY: P 20-21. The timber referred
to was .the mallee scrub and this district would be north of
Lake Cowal.

In the Mt Melville district which on this occasion was more
than usually flooded, he said:" I am forced to conclude that
in common seasons this whole tract is badly watered. The
scil of the country we passed over was poor and cold clay
but there were many rich levels which, could they be drained
and defended from the inundations of the river, would amply
repay cultivation.” Oxley concluded that these flats were
entirely unsuited for cattle. the grass being too swampy and
the good portions mentioned above being overcrowded with
bushes, swamps and lagoons- He did not consider it a safe or
desirable grazing country. :

In the neighbourhoods of Mts Maude, Edwards and Campbell he
described the country as "poor and as barren as can well be
imagined: the soil a light red sand, acacia scrubs, small
box trees and a few miserable cypresses." OXLEY: p.43.

He said from the want of timber, grass and water it would
never be inhabited by civilised man. His prophesy was not
true for this district, now called Ungarie, north west of
the township of West Wyalong., is the centre of one of the
greatest wheat producing districts in the State.

The Surveyor General was struck by the physiography of the
region. The few hills which the region possessed usually
terminated on their westward side in a perpendicular bluff
to a height of two or three hundred feet.

It was in this district the Oxley first noticed what was
surely gold country! He observed that the hills to the south
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were “curiously composed of pudding stone in very large
masses - {(granite), the lower stratum being a coarse granite
intermingled with pieces of quartz. OXLEY: p5Z2.

E)

Fortunately Oxley's gloomy opinion of this region did not
deter the squatters in their westward drive. These squatters
"concentrated for a time on the south, and, in a few years,
dotted settlements all over the country from the o0ld cedar
huts of Illawarra to Lake George and the Lachlan." Roberts:
*Squatting Age in Australia” p.3. The Lachlan formed the
boundary of the Nineteen Counties. By 1835, the thick black
line of the Nineteen Counties remained as solid as ever on
the map as the legal limit of settlement, but, actually it
had been crossed in all directions." Roberts pb5.

Oxley had first explored the Bland in 1817 when he camped
for a considerable time near the Weddin Mountains.- He tried
to explore the Bland Creek but was only able to go as far as
Euroka where he was blocked by water. There was so much
water about that he considered he had discovered an inland
sea and marked his name on a tree at the edge of the water.
This tree stood for many years until an unimaginative Free
Settler chopped it down and burned it. What Oxley considered
as an inland sea was merely the backed up waters of the
Lachlan River and Lake Cowal which had filled up the Bland
Creek and spread across the plains.

Major Thomas Mitchell (later Sir Thomas) the next Surveyor
General of New South Wales set out in 1826 to further
explore the Bland country which he called "The Levels™. He
got as far as where the Bland Road joins Curraburrama and
Bland Stations. He camped in a belt of timber halfway
between these two stations at a place called Major's Point.
He was forced back, as Oxley had been, because of a Lachlan
flood which he thought was an inland sea-

The first settlers in the neighbourhood of Wyalong seem to
have been a family of Gibson Brothers who took up a run near
the Bland in 1833 and Mr Glass who settled on the Bland in
1834. Some of the early settlers were Mr Oakes (Back Creek)
~ 1835; Mr Myles at Morangorell in 1836 and who sold to
Donald McGregor in 1843. John Bray from Crookwell opened
Narraburrah in 1836 and Horatio Roberts and Wade also from
Crookwell opened Carrumbee in 1836. They sold to John Shourd
and John Mason in 1840. Abel Burke opened Bland Creek in
1838 and in the same year John Levitt took up a station near
Grogan. He sold to Thomas Burrett of Wentworth Falls in
1839. Moses Beard opened up a run on the Bland Creek
opposite Abel Burke in 1840. John Trott opened the Billabong
in 1842 and sold it to James Marsden in 1852.

Following the squatting and occupational period of the first
settlers who took up pastoral runs about 1842, there came a
secondary wave of pioneers, bringing with them their wives
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and families. Apart from the pastoral stations very little
settlement had taken place within the Wyalong district prior
to 1885.

John Rodd had taken up Billabong Pastoral Run in 1842. The
Billabong Run extended through Mallee Plains to the area
where the twin towns of Wyalong and West Wyalong were later
established. Rodd 1later sold to James Marsden in 1852. The
Government Gazette of New South Wales, 1842, included the
following lessees in the Lachlan Distict No 6:

No 3 Lessee William Atkins Run Cowal 16000 acres
No 129 Lessee John Rodd Run Caragabal 26880 acres
No 130 Lessee John Rodd Run Billabong 40000 acres

No 149 Lessee Levi Stonestreet Run Tregalona 25600 acres

In 1849, two years after the Waste Lands Act was passed
allowing sgquatters to take up Runs we find the following
names:

Ccartwright John Barmedman Run 36000 acres
Burke Abel Back Creek 28400 acres
Gibson Alice Bland 44800 acres
Rodd John Billabong 40000 acres
Stonestreet Levi Tregalana 25600 acres
Walton John Bland 100 sguare miles
Atkins William Cowal 16000 acres

In 1852 John Regan., brother of Denis Regan who had married
Sarah Musgrave commenced exploring back country for station
property. In a few years he had caused much of the country
to be opened up and shifted the location of the outback from
Young to what is now Wyalong. On one occasion John Regan set
off with a Mr Wood and after passing the Billabong came to
another creek. Their tethered horses wandered off and after
finding them had difficulty in finding their camp again.
They called the creek ‘Humbug'® and this simple expression
showed the feeling of the two men towards the creek that had
s0 long deluded them.

Mr Wood was impressed with the land and sent Mr Walsh as
overseer to take possession of the run until he (Wood) was
able to occupy it. Walsh entered into partnership with Woogd
and called the station Merrengreen and stocked it with
cattle and horses. This was the farthest outback station in
south west New South Wales. In 1859 Thomas and James White
explored Humbug Creek, taking wup 1land which they called
Ballangama. Mr Woodhouse took up Hiawatha and Thomas and
Abraham Wood set up on the Humbug Creek calling their
station Wallandry.

The next land explored by John Regan was the Merool now
known as Wyalong. The first man on the Merool was an
American negro named Sims and known as Black Sims. He took
up Coonaparra run in 1859 and was in possession two years
before another settler came to the district. His run
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reverted to the Crown when he was arrested for «cattle
stealing and sentenced to ten years imprisonment.

In 1861 William Marshall acguired a large area on The Merool
and called it Buddigower and in the same year George Harman
took up Quondarry. Moses Beard late of the Bland took up
land on the Merool calling the station Merool Creek. Samuel
Pawsey of Mandamah was followed by Hamilton Hume, nephew of
the explorer at Mandamah West.

By the Land Act 1884 called the Subdivision of Runs Act, the
old Runs were converted into Pastoral Holdings- Thus we find
that Lake Cowal No 701 1includes the Clear Ridges, Lower
Billabong, Billabong Back and Wombine Runs.

The first major area to be alienated from the original Lake
Cowal Run was proclaimed in 1885 as Lake Cowal No 162. The
secondary Lake Cowal Station was acquired by John Bloyd
Donkin and was situated on the eastern side of Bland Creek,
downstream from Marsdens. The homestead was near Fishermans
Bend where the Bland Creek turns north-west to empty into
Lake Cowal. A number of smaller holdings were taken up in
the Lake Cowal area, along the perimeter extending from
Wamboyne through Billys Lookout to Clear Ridge. In the
Marsdens district the smaller holdings were mainly situated
between the village and the Booberoi Hills fronting the road
to Wyalong. ' ‘

The land upon which the town of Wyalong now stands was
formexrly part of Camping Reserve 6387, Parish of Mugga,
County of Bland, within the 1leasehold area of Billabong
Holding No 61 held in 1889 by Henry Ricketson and also part
of Wyolong (Wyalong) Resumed area No 410. Prior to this the
Leasehold area was part of Mugga Swamp Run held in 1866 by
McIntosh and ODakes and by H. Ricketson in 1879. The Resumed
area part of Upper Wyolong (Wyalong) No 1 Run was held in
the same year by E.A. Phillips and P. Besnard and 1879 by J.
Cox and M. Callaghan. The present location of West Wyalong
lies wholly in the latter run only. HANSON: 1889

There was hardly any other settlement in this locality until
1889. In this year we find the names o¢f holders of
Conditional Leases or Conditional Purchases taken up a few
miles north and north west of the present township of West
Wyalong. The holders were as follows: William, Robert and
Elizabeth Gagie, Wilfred Wells Jnr, and William Lange. Then
followed in the early nineties a little to the south, John
and Phillip Bolte., Donald Rankin and Phillip Ryan. G.W.
Neeld came in 1893 and became an important figure in the
history of the district.

The gradual falling off of the goldfield did not mean the
doom of the two townships as witnessed in other .townships
for it was found as far back as 1898 that the district was
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most suitable for agricultural pursuits and particularly
wheat growing. It was evident that wheat growing had become
established by 1900 because the estimated area under wheat
in the Wyalong district in that year was 11900 acres with an
expected yield of 12 bushels to the acre.

At the turn of the century the principal properties in the
Lake Cowal area were:

LAUREL PARK: taken up in 1885 by Patrick and Thomas Frost,
comprised an area of 4960 acres and was situated on the
southern side of Wamboyne Hill. Frost Brothers sold to Henry
Buttenshaw in March, 1898 for 17/6 per acre including 3000
well bred sheep.- :

LAKE COWAL WEST: adjoined the southern side of Laurel Park
and was acgqgired by Frank Allen. It comprised of BO0OO acres.
Allen sold to Beaufroy Green. After a series of misfortunes,
including the homestead being gutted by fire, Green sold to
Key Perry. Perry did not reside on the property., but placed
it under the management of William McNair, 'who had come to
Billys Lookout in 1885. Lake Cowal West was sold in . the
1920°'s to William J. Hammond who took up residence with his
only son Roy and three younger daughters. The property was
subdivided in the late 1920's following the death of William
Hammond -

LAKESIDE: Taken up by James H. Palmer, comprised of 4000
acres. Palmer sold to William S. English in 1907 for 10/- an
acre. English renamed the property "“Weelona™.

LAKE VIEW: selected by Charles West in 1888.

PINE GROVE: 2400 acres, selected by Henry Thomas Broadribb
in 1887.

HILLSIDE: 800 acres, situated on the eastern side of Eillys
Lookout was taken up by Moses (Harry) Fleming who was
employed on Lake Cowal.

CORRAN: selected by Samuel Stewart and situated opposite
Fellmans and Weelona and fronting the Billys Lookout Road.

ELLERSLIE: joined Flemings block and a forest lease on the
northern Dboundary. on the west by Girdlers Tank lease and
fronting the road leading to the Marsdens-Wyalong Road.

MILLY MILLY: selected by Roderick Charles McDonell and
comprised 3000 acres. It was proclaimed as a settlement
lease area on 23 January 1904.

CALOOLA: taken up by Mr Rawsthorne, followed by James Hay,
and Steve Vinecombe. In 1922 it was acquired by Charles
Wilson {second son of Samuel Wilson). It was purchased by



Wilson: Samud

WILSON: SAMUEL

b. 14 Oct 1863, Geclong.

d. 25 Nov 1935, Pots Point, 72 yrs.

Bd South Head Cemctery.

Son of Samuel Wilson and Margarcr Reid.
Married Margarer E. McClean of “Boona West™,
Condobolin.
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Thomas J. Wilson (no relation to Charles) in 1926. Caloola
was proclaimed as a settlement lease area on 27 July., 189S
for an annual rental of £40.

Later the forest area between Harry Flemings and Ellerslie
was taken up by Samuel Pellow.

Two small blocks were taken up at Billys Lookout by Victor
Beazley and Mervyn Whiley. Portion of Beazley's block was
situated where Billys Lookout village had been.

GOLD MINING.
Gold occurs in many types of rock in the form of lodes,
veins and impregnations, the breaking wup of which form
surface and alluvial deposits. Pure gold is seildom found .in
nature; silver, copper, iron, platinum and other metals are
found with it.

The geology of Wyalong is difficult to describe, because
with the exception of a few widely separated low elevations
such as the o014 hospital hill, standing at the N.E. of
Wyalong and Pine Hill and Pine Ridge, the underlying rocks
are nowhere visible at the surface.

The underlying beds are concealed by an overcovering of Post
Tertiary accumulations of several feet of red so0il, so that
the geologist must make his observations by an examination
of the surface soil or by the use of shafts made by miners
in prospecting. The difficulty was increased in the case of
Wyalong because of the lack of knowledge of geclogy of the
surrounding districts.

In 1899 the Government Geologist, Mr E.F. Pittman reported
that the Wyalong goldfield had been developed so vigorously
that it was then the most productive in the Colony. He went
on to say: " The altitude of Wyalong is almost 800 feet
above sea 1level, and I think that therxre must have been
during the Tertiary period, well-defined channels through
which the drainage of this elevated district found its way
to the sea, or to the Tertiary basin, or lake {(at least 900
feet thick), which exists near the junction of the Murray
and Darling Rivers. In these drainage channels the gold
derived from the denudation of the auriferous reefs must
have been concentrated.” f

In the frenzied search for gold in the first years of the
goldfield at Wyalong, reports came in of discoveries in the
surrounding areas. These included Yalgogrin, Buddigower,
Billys Lookout, Hiawatha and Blow Clear and areas in closer
proximity to the diggings. Gold was discovered at Hiawatha
on Portions 10 and 12 on Good Friday, 1898 by Conway and
Ryan and it was traced to the adjoining crown lands. All the
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reef at Hiawatha were in granite, which seemed to occupy a
1arge portion of the surrounding country and seemed to be
continuous with the Wyalong mass. The reefs struck east and
west and dipped to the north in contrast to the Wyalong
reefs, which had a general north south trend.

In the neighbourhood of Wyalong, there are roughly two main
geological areas which can be readily be distinguished and
their boundary line approximately known. The larger of these
is occupied solely by granite and it is in this area which
possibly contains rocks of much greater age than the
granite, is occupied by highly altered sedimentary .strata
and igneous rocks of intrusive character. J.WATT: "Report on
Wyalong Goldfield” plO. The granite extends for miles in a
northerly and probably continues without break to Hiawatha -
a distance of 8 miles north west from Wyalong. Auriferous
reefs have been discovered at Hiawatha. The granite also
extends south as well as west to Yalgogrin.

Almost the whole area of the goldfields 1is occupied by
loosely aggregated sandy and clayey materials which are
largely the result of the decomposition and disintegration:
in situ of the nunderlying granites and diorites. The red
colour of the deposits is probably due to the presence of
oxide of 1iron. The 1iron oxide itself is derived from the
biotite and hornblende present in the granite. The
decomposition of these minerals sets free the oxide of iron.

The red colour of the surface scils in dry regions such as
Wyalong is-.more characteristic than in most regions Ffor in
this 1latter region “the decaying organic matter has a
bleaching effect due to the reduction of the ferric oxide
and its partial removal in a soluble form. Part of the oxide
of iron has separated out in the form of small ironstone
concretions which present rounded pseudo-water-wvorn
appearance due to their mode of origin.” J. WATT p. 12

*In the absence of well marked outcrops it was the presence
of these fragments that led to the. discovery of gold at
Wyalong.” J. WATT pl. Small rounded particles of guartz were
noticeable on the small Mallee flat wvhich extends between
the township of Wyalong and Pine Ridge. Although during
heavy rain, water evidently flows over this flat, there does
not seem to be any depth of deposit there or any
accumulation of gravel but the 1loose rounded stones are
weathered irregularly ' over the surface and through the red
soil.

The gold present in the Wyalong goldfield was so fine that
it was not readily detected except by aid of a lens.

Mr Neeld Snr had joined his sons, who had come to Wyalong
previously. He selected a piece of land and was preparing to
use it 1in the normal way. The ironstone nodules had



8

naturally attracted his attention because he had experience
in the Ballarat and Bendigo goldfields and also in Fiji. The
first gold was found in quartz on the Pioneer Claim reef.
while Mr Neeld Snr was prospecting the first claim one of
his sons located gold-bearing stones just outside the
selection and about 10 chains to the east of the former
site. The reef from which these stones came was soon located
and was afterwards known as the Dead Rabbit Claim and later
still as the Easter Gift. Work was considerably impeded by
the thick mallee scrub.

The third discovery was made by Harry Neeld on Klink's line
of reef and was known as Harry's Find. It remained in the
Neeld family and paid large dividends. Discoveries were made
on sites known afterwards as Red Flag and the Currajong
Mine, but no prospecting was done there. The most important
discovery was made towards the end of October when some of
the sons discovered gold-bearing rocks in the vicinity of
what was known as the Prospecting Claim.

The family decided to peg out claims on 16 December, 1893;
firstly the Prospecting Claim, then Harry's Find and thirdly
the Pioneer Claim, fourthly the Christmas GCGift and 1lastly
The Dead Rabbit. J. WATT: p6.

Men began to arrive from the day the gold was reported and
by the end of January 1894 there were about 500 men on the
goldfield. It was not until the following March., when the
first parcels of ore were .crushed at Barmedman and good
results shown, that the big rush took place and by the end
of that month 10000 had arrived on the goldfield.

The fact that the field was worked so successfully was in no
small measure .due to the character of the ground, which over
all parts of the gold@field could be worked with pick and
shovel alone down to at least 150 feet. This made the
sinking of shafts very inexpensive. As J. Watt observed {p
7): "As a conseqguence of this many of the reefs have been
profitably worked which, had the ground been hard. would
certainly have been abandoned." :

By the end of 1894 there were six crushing machines at
Wyalong, but these were reduced to four and two chlorination
works erected when it was recognised that chlorination was
the most suitable process for the treatment of rich ore.

In 1894 the following crushings took place at Barmedman and
show varying rich ore:

Tons yielded oz. dwt grs.
Neeld 13 " 6 4
Cassin 12% " 9 3 .
Neeld No 2 17 - 72 16 .
Perry & Party 17 " 42 18

Conway " * 22 " 103 5 .



Keeth " ~ 28% " 67 - -
Fraser " " 10% " 39 6 .
Gorman " " 37 " 77 12 -
Smith ” o 6 " 8 14 .
McMahon " " 4 i 10 - .
Lawry " " 14% " 14 18 .

The greatest drawback to the development of the Wyalong
goldfield was the scarcity of water and as there were no
large watercourses in the vicinity, the warden had to set
aside tanks and have races excavated.

One of the outstanding differences of this goldfield from
others in Australia was the almost complete absence of
alluvial gold. "The existence of so many rich veins at the
surface makes it extremely probable that these veins have
suffered denudation to  some extent. Hagd the other
circumstances been favourable alluvial deposits would have
been formed. In the absence of these deposits we must
therefore conclude they have not been so." J. WATT p. 14.
The unfavourable circumstances are:

a. the absence of hills and gullies in this flat country.
where natural sluwicing operations could take place.

b. The small of rain is another big factor.

c. The extremely fine state of the gold set free would mean
that it would be scattered by the action of the wind and
rain storms so prevalent in these regions-

As to the gquestion why was this goldfield so 1long
undiscovered, it may be pointed out that this was due to:

i. The absence of alluvial deposits, already explained
above.

ii. The level nature of the ground with its almost universal
covering of red soil.

iii.The absence of fresh water.

iv. The sparsely settled condition of the surrounding
country, and

v. The very fine condition of the gold.

During 1895 the claims were steadily developed although
there was some falling off of population, due to the
discovery of gold elsewhere in Australia. The scarcity of
water retarded an even greater development because water was
very necessary in crushing operations. Coupled with this was
the refractory nature of the ore/from below water level.-
These factors tended to keep down returns. However it was
established that the reefs were payable below water level.

The following is a list of mine depths in 1895:

Hildebrands 245 ft White Reef 185 ft
Hidden Treasure 225 Barrier 180
Pressers 210 Bantam 170
Bolte's 193 Currajong . 160

Snowden & Party 185 Welcome Stranger 150.
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White Reef, Currajong, and Welcome Stranger gave splendid
returns.

During 1895 the new large battery of Nicholas and Raymond
commenced work and was in constant use. Climo and Co also
erected large works at a cost of XB0O0O0O for the treatment of
tailings. The number of miners engaged was 8600, 500 less
than the year before but the Report of the Department of
Mines, 1895, hastens to add that the figures would rise
again as several mines intended putting on more men.

The record year was reached in 1897 when 34750 o0z were
obtained. In that year "Wyalong produced more gold than any
other mining division in the Colony." J.WATT: p7.

The Wyalong "Argus®, dated January 5, 1898 in its editorial
was justly proud that "no ocutside capital had yet come into
the Wyalong field..... "

In 1900 there was drop in the yield on the Wyalong goldfield
because the mines were treating low grade ores which had
been accumulating- The number of miners which had been 1600
in 1899 dropped to 1200 in 1900. In 1907 the number of
miners fell to 462 and by 1910 only 150 men were employed on
the goldfield.

The gold yields for each of the years of production were as
follows:

1895 .15634 tons of stone yielded 24497 ounces of gold
1896

1897 30750 33900

ig9s8 30940 34582

1899 13116 44675

1800 22387 32425

1905 10555 24708

1910 S000

1915 3800

1920 ~ The yield had practically ceased.

In 1920 the Department of Mines Report stated that "Gold
mining has almost ceased in this division." Thus a most
important periocd in the history of Wyalong came to an end.
Anycne interested in the progress of Wyalong during the
first guarter century must have rejoiced that Wyalong had
indeed found its staple, not the golden metal, but the
golden grain.

Gold had been found in the Wyalong district long before it
was found in Wyalong itself, in such places as Temora (or
Bakers) 1879, Barmedman 1882, and later Reefton in 1895.

Before finishing the history of the Wyalong Goldfield we
pause to remember the tragedy of the Barrier Mine disaster
which took place on Saturday, 13 January, 1912, when five
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miner lost their lives, through an inrush of carbon dioxide
gas. Those who died were Frank McGuire, Jack Mulhall, Bert
Navin, Jack Navin, and Rupert Nicholson.

Because of the conditions at the "Main Camp® (White Tank)
the establishment of a township was considered to be an
urgent necessity. Surveyor J . -Richmond was given
instructions in February, only .two months afterx the
discovery of gold to 1lay out a township for the new
goldfield. He selected a site about one and three quarter
miles east of the Main Camp. His reasons for selecting this
site so far from the mining field were that: "It was
necessary to keep off the area of the gold deposits; its
suitability from a sanitary viewpoint; its proximity to the
main Barmedman Road and its generally healthy location.”
Richmond completed the survey of the first four sections by
6 March, but this was considered insufficient it was
extended to fourteen sections.

The whole of the township of Wyalong proper is mainly
situated on a farm selected by the Neeld family, while the
town of West Wyalong is built on farms owned by George Bolte
and John Ryan. The whole of the township of West Wyalong is
built on the farm of John Ryan, while the norxrthern boundary
of George Bolte's property extended from about Paul
Meagher's residence to Central Railway Station and south to
include Pig Tank. The farms of Neeld, Bolte and Ryan were
resumed by the Government for mining purposes.

Joining Bolte's property on the west, south and south-east
were the farms of Con Ryan, Philip Bolte, John Bolte and
Donald -Rankin. On the northern side of the goldfield were
Robert Gagie and Sons, William Lange, Jacob Haub,
Christopher Haub, Niel Nielsen, Conrad Hildebrand, E.T.
Clark, Jacob Rootes and Sons, Wilfred Wells and Donald
Fraser.

Wyalong, the original name of the old run and Parish, was
decided upon as the name of the new township after
consultation with the Mining Wardens., who also approved the
street names. Most of the streets bear the names of the
pioneers of the field or officials connected with its early
history.-

Early in March, 1894 there were no buildings whatever on the
ground, but by 3 May, 120 to the value of £20 each had been
erected. By the police returns the total population within 5
miles of Wyalong Courthouse, including
both townships was. at the end of 1894, 4215 of which 3825
were males and 930 females, exclusive of children. Dept of
MINES RECORD, 1894 p25. Wyalong was proclaimed a Viilage on
23 June, 1894 having obtained the necessary approval from
Governor Duff on 19 June 1894.
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The demand for alotments at West Wyalong continued, and the
expected transfer of residential population or business
activities from Main Camp to the Government Township did not
occur- A huge population soon gathered round the White Tank
“and notwithstanding my warning and advice an irregular
narrow street was formed on the very quartz claims whereby
the Main Camp or Wyalong West became an established fact®.
DEPT OF MINES REPORTS, 1894. p25. The warden was unable to
lay a street 99 feet wide with cross streets of the same
width in a position not 1likely to be auriferous, in
accordance with allotments in the already surveyed town 2%
miles distant. .

Findlly, after much agitation Surveyor Richmond was
instructed on 6 April, 1895 to survey the occupied area at
West Wyalong (late Main Camp) and to prepare a design plan
with the Main Street 66 feet wide.

The final survey of Main Street was carried out by Surveyor
V.F. Tozer on 28 December, 1895 and the many irregularities
and encroachments were at last straightened out.

The: White Tank, an outpost of Wyalong No I Staticn
and water supply for the goldfielas in 1894.
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MARSDENS.

Following the progress of the squatters and settlers to the
inland of the Colony., small villages sprang up.

One of these was Marsdens (later Marsden), the name being
derived from James Marsden who "took up" Lake Cowal Station
in 1852 and also acquired the Billabong Run. The name
Marsdens persisted until it was c¢hanged to Marsden in 1912.

The original wvillage, thought to have commenced about 1866
was situated two miles along the eastern side of the .Forbes
Road from the  1location known as the crossroads and it was
apparently a scattered hamlet.

Robert Butler and Thomas Williams were the first innkeepers
with the first hotel being erected possibly before 1866.
There were two butchers, a saddlery and a school. The police
station - a structure with a shingle roof - was situated
adjacent to the police paddock, further nupstream on the
eastern side of the Bland Creek. A senior officer, a
constable and a black tracker were attached to the station.
Next was the "Pig and Whistle* conducted by Mr and Mrs
Thomas Williams. About four miles along the Forbes Road was
a roadside shanty which mainly sold bottled 1liquor. This
shanty was reputed to have been visited several times by
members of Ben Hall‘'s bushranging gang- James Marsden
established a dairy on the Bland Creek and sent butter to
Forbes during the gold rusli getting up to three shillings
per pound for it.

A Post Office was established in 1866 and Lands Department
records show that the township of Marsdens on the Bland
Creek was ~ surveyed in November, 18B75. The design was
approved by the Department on 30 May, 1877 and mention was
made that a bridge was required over the creek. The Marsdens
Post Office was flooded during the heavy November rains of
1878.

The Post Office was connected by telegraph to Morangorell
and Young in 1875, the poles for this line being carted by
Mr William Hughes (1830-1916) of Thuddungra-

By this time the Police Station was erected, but it was not
until 21 -July, 1879 that the~first Court of Petty Sessions
was established at Marsden, with Stipendiary Magistrate Mr
S. Robinson.

With the evolvement of the cross roads intersection two.
miles south of the original village 2and following the
outbreak of the Wyalong goldfields in 1894, the road to the
goldfields and further afield became a very busy route.

Early in 1886 a reserve adjacent to the cross roads was
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surveyed for a Government Township. The site was marked out
for the two principal streets - Bimbella Street running
north and south and Grenfell Road running east and west.
Buildings of a more substantial nature and more modern in
appearance were erected at the new site. The Police Station
had a court room where Petty Sessions were held and there
was a lock-up and stables. The Police Station closed on 20

April, 1931.

Other public buildings and business premises were:

Marsden Hotel, Royal Hotel (rebuilt after a fire in 1882 and
owned by Michael Curry), Post Office, School of . Arts,
blacksmith's shop, general stores conducted by Mr Thomas,
W.J. Dempsey, and Collins and Hunter. Cobb and Co had a
coach house and stables. There was Jenkins the saddler, and
Samuel Pawsey's butchery and slaughter yards. Sam Flood had
a Chinese garden to vwhich he brought water by means of a
water wheel from the creek. The race course and sports
grounds and the Marsden Hall were all well patronised until
the mid-twenties when the population began to decline.

Names of some of the families living in Marsdens before 1880
were John MacPherson, Charles Smith, William Meldren, Henry
Meldren, Mrs E. Moriset, R. Rainey, James Ritchie, and
Michael and Minnie Curry. Michael, who died 1899, aged 45
vyears, is believed to be the brother of Mrs Patrick Walsh
Snr and is buried in the Walsh tomdb in Grenfell Cemetery.The
discovery of gold in 1894 and the beginning o¢of a town at
Wyalong made Marsden less "important as a centre. With motor
cars being-introduced into the district about 1909 and with
the improvement in roads and people shopping in larger
centres helped in the decline of the town. Also the fact
that the railway line had been built from Stockinbingal to
Caragabel in 1916 rather than through Marsden again took
away from the town.
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WAMBOYNE -

The first mine put down in the district was in 1902 on the
Trig Hill in Quinlan’'s "Nerang Cowal State Forest"”. The
Mines Department paid £1 per focot to have the shaft sunk by
the Ellis Brothers but there was no gold.

Gold was found in 1905 by Harry Kaiser in what 1is now the
Burcher district, formerly Wamboyne {(County of Gipps. Parish
of Bena, Portion 4, No on Map 136). The workings went to a
depth of eight metres 1long and three metres wide. H.F.
Fitzgerald and party worked the mine in 1941. Up teo 1967,
270 grams of gold worth $288 was produced.

There was guite a rush for a while and Kaiser's Hill was a
hive of activity. Harry and Alf Nelson put down a shaft on
“Wilga Vale™ (No 177 on Map) and Harry Leadbitter Snr sank a
shaft on top of the hill, but there was no gold in either.
Leadbitter went to a big gully on Mark Fitzgerald's
*Uplands®. He struck a little gold at fifty feet, but went
down to ninety feet and all he found was pipe clay. This
came in handy for people for the vwhitening of their
fireplaces -~ they came for miles around in order to obtain
some .

Kaiser was on a good reef, but it was never a bonanza. The
ore was carted ¢to West Wyalong by Bullock teams to be
crushed. The carriers were Jim Hughes and Herb Beazley. This
mine petered out about 1909. The Wyalong Advocate., 18 May
1906 reported that Keyser (sic) was down 30 feet on & new
reef with 10 tons at grass which was to be treated at the
Billys Lookout Battery. It was also reported that Nelson,
Leonard, Easdale and a couple of others had not discovered
anything-

The Wamboyne Gold Mine (County of Gipps, Parish of Coringle,
Portion 12, No 133 on the Map) was first worked in 1907.
Later in 1935 G-W.J. Murray and party and in 1939 this was
worked by H. Whiley. The average grades of 3 grams/ton of
gold were found but the total production is unknown.

Another mine at County of Gipps, Parish of Bena, Portion 6,
No 134 on map) was worked in about 1907 and again about 1970
but the amount produced is not recorded.

In 1927 =a decision was made to build a railway line from
Wyalong tc Wamboyne. Rather than end the 1line at Wamboyne
which was 1landlocked the Government pushed it on for a
further four miles and named the terminus Euglo. Seven years
later the name was changed to Burcher, possibly called after
Charles Burcher one time owner of Euglo Station.
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BILLYS LOOKOUT.

Billys Lookout was between Wamboyne and Lake Cowal, and it
experienced a gold rush just after Wyalong goldfields were
discovered, although gold had been mined there
intermittently between 1873 and 1894.

The name Billys (Billies) Lookout is said to have originated
from a tragedy that occurred in the area. A young man named
Billie and@ an older man were droving cattle in the area for
Samuel Wilson, when Billie's horse bolted, and he was struck
by an overhanging limb of a tree. When they returned to the
station to report the accident he was in a state of shock.,
and kept repeating, "I said 'Billie, lookout.' *

The Town and Country Journal, dated 2 June, 1894 states
that: "The o0ld mining camp at Billie's Lookount had 1lately
quite a new lease of 1l1ife and seems likely to become a
permanent township. Two stores have been built and are in
full swing and other business places are being erected.

There are about 300 men here and prospecting is being
carried out very energetically. There are a few parties on
gold but not to any great extent - simply tucker and a few
shillings."’ :

Nei! White Snr and Ned Harris played a prominent part in the
discovery of gold at Billys Lookout. At the ©beginning of
April, 1B95 a report stated that in addition to the initial
claims, three more claims had bottomed on the run of gold.
The whole valley was pegged out and other gullies were
vigorously prospected and there were four or five reefs with
fair gold. Neil White and party were working a promising
reef 18 inches to 2 feet wide. One shaft was down 90 feet to
water level and others were down 70 feet and 30 feet. The
three shafts were being sunk to the same level when
connecting drives were put in and the stopping of water
commenced. About 50 tons of fair stone had been btrought to
the surface.-

From the workings at County of Gipps, Parish of Coringle, No
132 on Map, $2240 worth of gold was found {(value in 1967).
At least 2.17 kg of gold was found at an average of 9
grams/ton. There were shafts drives and shallow pits for a
length of 400 metres by 100 metres wide. The sedimentary
soils were silt, clay, sand, granite sediment, quartz
pebbles and boulders. The alluvial gold was derived from
unwvorked veins in the surrounding hills.-

In the mine known as the Billys Lookout Reef (County of
Gipps, Parish of Corringle, Portion 53, No 130 on the Map),
shafts and drives were driven for a length of 200 metres and
width of 30 metres. In 1894 the major primary materials were
reported to be gold and pyrite, and the minor primary
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material was galena. Cowthorns and party were working this
reef.

Other mines in the Parish of Coringle {(Nos 127 and 128 on
the Map) also produced some gold but the amounts are
unknown.

Billys Lookout had a hall and business houses, and social
1jife included concerts, dances and cricket matches with the
neighbouring teams at Marsdens and Wamboyne. Messrs Wilson
and Stewart of Lake Cowal Station were President and
Vice~-President of the Billys Lookout Cricket Club.

On 16 August, 1895, there was a concert at Billys Lookout to
celebrate the erection of a hall for the Miners' Club. This
was followed by a dance "with an excellent supper". Dancing
continued wuntil 8 a.m. Following the concert Mr Morris,
President and an o©ld identity, and Mr Neil White addressed a
large crowd of members and residents in the hall, which had
been decorated by "ladies and gentlemen of the township®.

In November, 1895 the Department of Education made a grant
of £5 to the Billys lookout Progress Association for the
erection of a bark school house and furniture. Edward
Morrison was the first teacher to be appointed on 13 Aprili,
1896.

Although approximately 1000 miners and gold seekers
congregated at the Billys Lookout goldfields, the periocd of
winning gold was shortlived. Numerous shallow shafts - or
diggers holes - were sunk at various other sites within the
‘locality. However no further signs of gold bearing stone
were discovered.

Robert Brenner operated a battery on the field and also
conducted the only 1licensed hotel - which was closed in
1903. There were possibly a number of shanties on the
goldfield because it is recorded that on a Saturday night in
September 1895 there was a raid by the Marsdens police. Some
liquor was seized and one person was arrested. He appeared
at the Marsdens Police Court and was fined £30 or six months
in Forbes gaol.

Some of the timbexr from Robert Brenner's Hotel was later
used to build a shed on Mr Harry Bodel's farm at nearby
Clear Ridge. Mr Clarke, who was Mrs Neil Wwhite's father,
moved his hotel from Marsden to Billys Lookout.
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UNGARTE.

The township of Ungarie derives its name from the pastoral
holding held in 1866 by one Roger Frehilly. Its native
meaning means "thigh”. The area of the pastoral station was
29440 acres with a grazing capability of 1000 head of
cattle. A small settlement began to rise to the east of the
present township and in 1892 it consisted of two general
stores, a Post Office, a hotel, a blacksmith's shop., a shop
and a boarding house. R.M. Mackrell ran the Post Office and
one store. The other store was run by D.A. Colbert.

An application was made on 30 November, 1891 for the
establishment of a village. Surveyor Maitland reported that
a village should be surveyed on the south bank of the Humbug
Creek. Nothing was done about it until Surveyor Roberts
reported 1in December, 1892 that a suitable site could be
found on the northern side of the Humbug Creek opposite the
present town. Surveyor Maitland surveyed the village on this
site in September, 1893 and this was gazetted as the village
of Ungarie on 31 March, 1894.

When the Wyalong-Lake Cargellico Railway line was
constructed the surveyors placed the railway station on the
side of the creek opposite the village. A suggestion to
extend the boundaries of the gazetted township were approved
and duly gazetted on 27 July, 1917.
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BLOW CLEAR.

The Wyalong Advocate dated 8 August 1903 stated that a
discovery of gold bearing stone had taken place at Blow
Clear some 20 miles north of Wyalong by scrub cutters. The
stone was found on the surface and further investigations
went to show that a gquartz reef is running north and south-
about twelve inches wide. Samples have prospected so
satisfactorily that Brian McNamara and others have bought
two shares in the prospective Eldorado for the sum of £20.
The stone is of sugary, white quartz guality and said to
contain gold freely.

Further Mining Intelligence in the Wyalong Advocate dated 19
August, 1903 stated: The prospectors, Clarke and party are
down 20 feet on a-12 inch reef of white sugary gquartz, and
have commenced to put a crushing together. Stewart and
party, No 1 North, are on a reef about the same width, but
distinct from the prospectors reef. It is composed of flesh
coloured quartz, opalised, and containing ironstone, and is
assayed at the rate of 1 oz 14 dwts gold to the ton. A good
deal of prospecting is going on in the surrounding country.
which is also Crown Land. There is no outcrop to guide the
prospector and most of the work consists of trenching or
costeening. Altogether there are about 40 men working at the
new find and the adjacent country and there is plenty of
water. :

On 19 September we read that Clarke and party. Stewart and
party., Leadbitter and party all have a tidy parcel of stone
paddocked. :

On 7 October it was reported that John Thompson had struck a
reef at the depth of three feet about a mile south of the
prospector'’s claim and gold was said to be showing freely in
the r?%f:

-~ Cemant N7
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LAKE COWAL.

The Geological Survey of New South Wales has very littile
data available relating to the geological history of Lake
Cowal. Many speculative theories have been suggested as to
what might have occurred during the centuries gone by.

There has been no official theory as to how the large number
of trees had grown to such proportions on the bed of the
lake during some period of the past. The trees - mainly red
gum — with well developed trunks and limbs, had been dead
for a long period of time before white men first set foot in
the area. The only 1logical conclusion that the Geclogical
Survey can assume is that for a long time the waters held in
the lake maintained a degree of purity, and later the water
could have reached a level of salinity that the trees could
not tolerate. This theory is only speculative, but most of
the underground water in the catchment areas of the lake at
a shallow level contains a high degree of salinity. The wet
seasonal period of 1916-1917, when large volumes of water
overflowed from the Lachlan River to Lake Cowal, provoked
graziers concerned to bank off the low lying areas along the
river to prevent flooding of their properties. Very little
water has flowed to the 1lake from the river since that
period. Major volumes of flood waters flow to the southern
end of Lake Cowal from extensive catchment areas from which
the principal flow is carried by Bland Creek. The upper
reaches of the Bland Creek extend to the foothills of the
Nimdooran Range, which is situated southwest of the town of
Cootamundra-

Other creeks that empty into Lake Cowal are the Barmedman,
Back and Duck Creeks. The upper reaches of the Barmedman
Creek extend to southwest of the Barmedman township. The
Duck Creek rises west of the town of Temora and continues
along the eastern foothills of the Tungley ranges, joining
the Barmedman and Back Creeks at a point four miles upstream
from the Wyalong-Quandialla Road. From ther the creek
becomes Back Creek which empties into the Bland Creek in the
vicinity of the former village of Marsden.

The flood waters that flow from the localities on the
southern and south western side of Wyalong-Barmedman Road
all converge into Back Creek in the vicinity of the
Wyalong-Quandialla Road. From the areas north of Wyalong angd
Mallee Plains the waters meet Back Creek near the crossing
on the Back Creek Road. The waters from Clear Ridge, mainly
by way of Clear Ridge (or Sandy) Creek, run directly to the
southern end of Lake Cowal near the station homestead.

From the eastern areas, mainly from Piney Range near the
west side of Weddin Mountain and the Caragabal district,
flood waters run directly to the lake, principally through
the Marsden area.. The run-off from theses extensive areas
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all move northwards towards their natural basin - which |is
Lake Cowal. The natural fall of the terrain still continues
on down the Lachlan to the Murrumbidgee River. From there it
continues to the Murray River and thences to the South
Australian coast near Murray Bridge. The waters from the
Bland can really flow a long, long way.

The main bed of Lake Cowal comprises an area of
approximately _90 square miles. Lying north to south, the
width

length of the bed is about 16 miles, with an average
from five to six miles.

During the period 1916-1917, large numbers of water birds
and fowl flocked to the lake. Thousands of the various
species of wild ducks and large numbers of black swans,
pelicans, gulls - including sea gulls, cranes and numerous
varieties of smaller birds. The dry trees in the waters of
the lake provided excellent perches for the birds. It was
during this period that Lake Cowal was declared a bird
sanctuary. No open season for the shooting of bhirds was
allowed. The declaration of the sanctuary became a
controversial subject, especially when two years later, the
waters of the lake were rapidly drying up again.

REPORT OF BRAMHOPE LAKE BLOCK - 3237 ACRES.
1946-1991.

1946 Dry.‘Useful grazing in summer and early autumn, but

cut out badly in winter.

1947 Useful grazing, with small floods, about % country
covered in December.

1948 Good grazing, summer and autumn, about 2/3 covered in
June - receding at end of year with excellent grazing.

Some fence repairs.
1949 Good grazing., about % full of water in spring.
1950 Country inundated to highest flood level in March.
1951 O©Only a little grazing along fringe of water.
1852 ?1006 level again in April.
1853 Still 2/3 covered at end of year.

1954 sSmall flood early in year, but only about % covered at

end of year.

1955 Quite a few miles of fence renewed. Flood rains again
in March, covering most of the country.
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1956 Filled to record level again in April.
1957 Only fringe benefits, % full at end of year.

1958 Useful grazing, water receding fast in summer, and
country inclined to scald.

1959 About % covered in March, water getting away quickly
by end of the year. :

1960 Completely dry and refenced by end of autumn.
completely covered by water again in August.

1961 Not much use. Some grazing in summer.
1962 Filled again in January. No use through winter.
1963 Filled again in winter.

1964 Some flooding in spring, practically covering all the
country.

1965 Useful grazing in spring with water getting away.

1966 All dry and fenced by end of autumn. Complete renewal
of fencing- Splendid grazing.

1867 Good all year.

1968 About 500 to 600 acres flooded in June with further
flooding in August - covering about % the country.
Good grazing on flooded country in summer.

1969 Started to flood in March and continued till it filled
completely in June.

1970 Had not receded much and filled again in June from
Bland Creek.

1971 ©Not much use throughout the year.

1972 Water started to move back in dry spring, with cross
fence dry and back to Channel near lignum by end of
year.

1973 Lake useful in autumn and winter and a bit too good in
spring with terrific growth of trefoil-. Country about
¥ covered but wet conditions in November covered most
of it and forced us to shift sheep.

1974 Gradually filled right up and running out Manna Creek
2/8/74.
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Still floccded and miure fload rains in October caused
river water to overflow Lake and run Manna Creek early
November.

‘Manna Creek again a hanker after flood rains in

Janvary. River water again reached lake in spring
running Manna Creek with small flow - dry at erd of
year, but lake virtvally full.

Nct mwuch vuse, but back to cross fernce in lignum by end
of year with some restricted grazing.

Lake promising kut big winter rains again flooded tig
Lake with small overflow to little lake early October.

Not muick except fringe kenefits, but back to cross
fence at end of year and receding fast in dry
ccnditions.

Water getting away fast with disappointing results.
European Carp? salting? or just dry weather and the
result of ccontinuved flooding- Goced results from
Wimmera Rye sown by air and Bolte grew a splendid cror
cf wkezt. Big stocking in lignum. Lake dry anc fenced
early Tecember. Silting tanks.

High stocking rates ard dry ccnditions tock toll and
lake not carrying many stock through autumn. Approx-
600 acres grain sown Deepwater sump ard nicely away
when minor flcod in July took water to Bolte's fence
and rvined the crop. Wimmera Rye responded well, alsc
barley grass, but large numkers again carried till enc
cf year. Ligrnum peddcock dry and Ceepwater almost dry
by end of year. Most of the country scalded except
where cane grass growing thicker than ever.

Lake running fair number of sheep early in year. -
mzinly on 6ry Wimmera Rye grass. Flash local flocding
after big rains in March caused water to reach Bolte's
anc¢ presented problems and arduous work in getting

out with minimal losses. Big numbers in Sgring and
lake ccmpletely dry by enc cf Novemker.

Local storm early January flooded approx. BOC acres
Deepwater and Flain, with minor flooding in Lignim-.
Splendid response from couch grass, a great relief
vncder extreme drought conditions with akcut 4000 sheep
on Bramhore. With winter rains water into Bolte's by
August and almost tc Rcy weccds’® ernd COctoter.

Big summer rains early in year with local ard Bland
flocéing czused the big lake to overflow abcut lst
February and running out Manna Creek by llth February.
Of nc use for mcst of year. Little lake also full.
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Big Lake of very little use for year with a fresh
towards end of yezr, virtually filling blg Lake again.
Little Lake quite useful, especially W.J.'s and drying

fast.

Water receded quickly in Little Lake, with gcod
stccking rates. Also allowed opportunity crop to be
sowr. with tremendcus results. A fresh in Big Lake
during the winter spoilt hopes of useful spring, but
wvater getting away fast at end of year and teccming
useful. For the record we lost about 70 of Mrs

E.'s wethers in long paddock (Narara) due tc poiscn
attributed tc algae in water.

Bland Creek haé rur during year but minimal effect or
Lake. Some light fringe grazing in late spring and
water well back by end of the year.

Lake dry by ené of March but with lack of any showers
no resporse cf feed on deeper country. Fair amount of
crop sown, but it did not suvrvive a fresh in Lake
which put the water into Bolte's. Gocd grazing.

Lake dried out early in year and preparations made for
sc¥ing brt water won the race. Turned very wet, with
some flooding from River in early winter. with Lake
aboct half full.

Flood ra2ins in autumn with the Lake cverflowing from
Bland and River waters and running out Manna Creek by
about 1lst May. Ceased running about end of the yesr.

Little Lake almost dry by end of year, but big Lake
haé not receced muck, except fringe ternefits late
spring and early summer.
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ABORIGINAL DATA.

whern the first settlers arrived at Lake Cowal there aprearec
to be ample evidence that the area had been inhabited by
ninters ¢f Atcrigires of tribal proportions. The EBland hacd
teen referred to as a meeting place of the tribes of the
lacklar an Murruvahidgee Rivers.

Mar:y ©f the cld gum trees on the western banks of the lake
showed extensive «carvings on their trunks. The custom of

icerving @ truvrk of a tree near a burial plot cculd te gprocft

that numkers of aborigines had been turied in the sandbanks
surrour.cing the shores of the Lake.

In parts of the dense mallee areas of the district it was
arparent that gunyahs had been erected. Practiczlly all the
hill areas bore signs of habitation by our first
inhakitants. During the early days cf Marsdens an akoriginal
camp was situated along the eastern banks of Lake Cowal
tetveen the village and the lLake.

. Samuel Wilson wrote in the RAHS Journal and Proceedings
Volume III- 1923 p. 374 that akcrigines had large camps on

the site of the present Lake Cowal station homestead., and
numerous midderns were found there.

Mrs Sarah Musgrave, a pioneer of this district, wrote that
the Plard wzs 2 famous Dbattleground of the Lachlar and
Murrumbidgte aborigines. She had rememkered an occasion when
tve abhorigines were killed by the same spear anc arother had
his head krccked off by a boomxerang- 1They had their sex
initiatior ground scmevhere in the neighbourhood where they
initiated their young men. John Regan discovered the area
orre day. This was on the site c¢cf the future Wyalong. The
area was not used again because the atorigines said it was
desecrated.
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TOPOGRAPHY, GEGLOGY AND CLIMATE.

The eastern area of the PBland Shire, is included in the
south-western slogpes for rainfall reports and it is mostly
flat, whilst the vwestern part included 1in the Central
western plains has many hills. The dividing 1line runs
between the towns of Wyalorg @nd West Wyalong.

East and north of West Wyalong the region is generally flat
whilst the south and west are more undulating and have some
sizable hills with high peaks.

Ap interesting plrysical feature is the line of hills which
runs frcm North Yalgogrin across to Farmedman and these
hills form a watershed. The streams rising on the ncrthern
side eventually flow into the Lachlan River and the various
creeks have keen listed elsewhere.

The topography of an area influences plant life in various
ways- The types that grow on the hills are often guite
different from those of the lower country. Foe example, Hill
Red Gun. (Eucalyptus dealbata) prefers hilly areas.
Waterways, especially those subject to flooding and causing
wvet or damp conditions for consideratle periods. are
tordered by plants which can stand these conditions where
others such as the River Red Gum {Eucalyptus camasldclensis)
would perish.

Flants derend¢ 1largely on the soil for their food. Soil is
derived from broken down rccks. Rocks differ considerably in-
the zamcunt of plant focd which they ccntain. Thus a brief
geological survey has some importance when studying thre
rative flora of ary giver area.

In the Bland Shire there is a noticeable variation in the
geology- It varies in age from the Upper Ordovician (the
rocks of that period would have teen formed hundreds of
millions of years ago) to what is geologically xnown as
Recent. Scme of the rocks are Sedimentary and were made from
the sediments of older rocks and 1laid down under vater,
ma2inly sandstone and shkale. Then there are Igneous rocks.
These have teen formed from molten magna intruding into
other rocks arnd ccooling down, such as granite and dolerite.
We also have Metamorphic rocks in the Bland Shire - the name
me:ent  changed form. These rocks were either sedimentary or
igrecus to begin with and then, because of the great
stresses and strains, acccxpanied by heat and chemical
charge, they become something different, as in slate and
quartzite. Slate was originally shale and gquartzite was
sandstone. '

The following igneous rocks occur in this shire: granite,
granophyre, grano-diorite, rhyolite, porphyry. norite, and
dolerite. Amcng the 1local sedimentary rocks are sandstone,
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shale, ccrglomerate (pudding stone), anc travertine (a
lirestone). The metamorphic group is represented by such
rocks as slate, quartzite, schist ard phyllite.

very ancient rocks. probably -belonging to the Sillurian
period., occur towards the eastern end of the shire. They are
sheared conglomerates, sandstone, shale, schist and
phyllite. The largest area includes Wamtoyne and the railway
sidings of Corringle, Lake Cowal and Clear  Ridge. The
Bockeroi Hills which «c¢ross the Marsden Road about eight
miles frcm Wyalong belong to this period. Evidence of
tremendcus pressure is seen here as the rock strata instead
of keing flat are just about vertical- Much of this rock is
talc schist, a lightish grey colour.

Large areas of granite type rocks occur in the Bland Shire.
It was from the gquartz veins of these rocks that gold was
obtained in the 1local mines. The rock from the mines 1is
granodiorite, a Plack and white rock-

The granite belt stretches northward from West Wyalong and
incliudes Wyrra, Calleen, Girral and areas north and south of
Ungarie. There 1is a 1long strip going south east from
Yalgegrin through Buddigower; another area includes Wargin.,
and another area lies between Thulleco and Kikoira, tut does
not include those places.

The only other area is very small, but very interesting. It
is at Wyalong and atout two miles north and south of it.
Chinese market gardeners are excellent judges of sc¢il and so
for many years they produced excellent vegetables from the
rich scil of Wyalong. The soil of Wyalong is more fertile
than that of West Wyalong, much of which 1s covered by
irgnstone gravel over clay- There is an outcrop of
conglomerate, sandstone., gquartzite, siltstone and shale
probably of Upper Devonian age on the north west edge of
Lake Cowal.

Practically the whcle of the Shire east of Wyalong 1is
covered by Tertiary to Recent deposits. They include
alluvial clay, silt, sand and sandstone. On the whole the
resulting soil is fertile and provides good plant food.

Bland Shire 1lies within a region of uncertain rainfall and
its variability has a big influence on the vegetation.
Plants have to adapt themselves to long dry periods and then
cope with wet seasons as well. Taking the Shire as a whole,
there is not much difference in the average annual
rainfalls. It is the variability of the temperatures which
influence plant life rather than the average. For example,
between 1951 and 1956 Wyalong had an average maximum
temperature of 1B.18 degrees Celsius and a minimum average
of 9.4 degrees Celsius. but this information does not reveal
the heatwaves when the temperature reached over 43 degrees
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Celsius in the shade and the cold frosty nights when the
thermometer fell to zero or less.

Another important factor with regard to plant life is the
absence of clouds on so many days of the year and the high
rate of evaporation. The average annual evaporation for West
Wyalong 1is about 57 inches compared with the average annual
rainfall of about 19 inches.

The relative humidity for the area is low. There is a good
deal of calm weather, particularly in the autumn and winter.
Frobably the most prevalent wind is that from the south west
and when it 1is not moisture 1laden it is a particularly
drying wind. The scfter easterlies are not common. Those
from other gquarters make the temperatures soar in the

summertime.

Peheans and their young on a small island in the lake.
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KEY TCO MINES AS SHGWN CN EXTRACT OF THE FORBES METALLCGENIC
MAF included in these notes.

MINE NAME CCMMODITY (VAILUE IN
[ 1976 $'s
91 Weelah Manganese Prospect NW,SE Man, Au 10 000
Sz Men, Av 1 00C 0CQO-
10 OCO
12 CUrgarie Tin Prospect E, W Sn 10 000
124 Carnells - E, W ¢n 10 CoC
125 Girral » - N, S Sn 10 00C
126 Elow Clear Ridge Mine Av 10 0CO
127 Billys Lookout (Placer) Au 10 000
128 " » - Av 10 coc
129 Smiths Prospect Au 1C¢ 000
130 Billys Lockout Reef Avu 10 0GC
131 - o » Deep leads Au
132 " - Alluvial Werkings Au
(Ceep Leads)
133 wWambcyne Goldmine (Deer leads)N,S Au 10 0GC
134 " - Au 10 000
135 " bt Av 10 0OCQO
136 Kayser {Manna Mtn Prospect) E.W Au 10 000
16¢ FKacthacker®s Prospect Au 10 0G0
170 Keen's Prosgect Au 10 000
171 - Au 10 ©OCo
172 Molloy's Mine Au 10 000
173 Fletcher's Mine Au 10 CCO
174 Dawson's Mine : . Au 10 000
175 Crawvley's Mine Av 10 OCC
176 Au 10 000
177 Nelscon’'s Mine Auv 10 oCcC
178 Early Morn Mine Au 10 00C
179 Crampton®'s Mine Au 10 OcCg
180 Prospector's Mine Au 10 00C
181 Coronation Mine (The Blow Mine) Av 10 ©Ce
182 Fu 10 o0C
183 Au 10 000
184 Au 10 000
185 Wecstern West Wyalong Grp of Lcces Au 10 €00 000-
1 000 000
186 Mallee Eull Line of Lode Au 10 000 000-
1 000 000
187 Svmmergill's Line of Lode Au 1 000 000-
10 000
188 Klcndyke Line of Lode Au as above
189 Fioreer Line of Lode Au as atove
190 ~<Santa Claus and Kinks Line of Lode Au as above
191 Au 10 000
192 Pine Ridge Line of Lode Au 1 000 000~
10 g000

193 Au 10 000
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Pine Hill Lode
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Call Back Line of Reef

Geological Reference:

Fault

Anticline

Syncline

Approximate

Concealed

)

}
!
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General Reference:

Major Roads

-

Railways

T —
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Au
Au
Au

Au

10 0CO
10 0CC
1 000 00O0-
10 G600
10 000



THE FLORA

by Late Mrs Anne Mitchell B.Sc.
{as printed in “West of the Bland" -
of the Wyalong District.

It is fortunate that our carly explorers were also botanisls or ook bolanists with them
un thair capudibons. After Blaalund, Lawson snd Wentworth crossed e Blue Muountains in
IHLY Governor Lachlan Macquatic sent varivus cxpeditions into the interior of New Soulh

Wales. The headwaters of the Macguarie and the Lachlan Rivers wero discovered but nu -

onc knew where the streams weat It was thought that they might flow into a large inland
ta, 30, on 6ih April, 1817, Surveyor bohn Ouxley's cxploratioa party, which included the
bolenist, Allan Cusningham, keft Bathurst 1o trace the course of the Lachlan River.

About three weeks later they reached the Lachlan aond followed it for some weeks.
Then, to their surprisc, although no rain bad fallen in that aréa, the river began 10 rise and
the water spresd i all directions. Foaring twy should bo caught and druowned by the rising
waters aley deonded o leave e river wl o el el Far ssstl of wheic Yasrabarndey oy e
shay Betone g s thay plancd o 1ut susdane ou tho asge vemws ol & wlyget mral Wit i
tollowing masbac B dadey, 40, W, Evans, A Muy 173h 1517, After Jeaving the rver the
explorery 1ourncd south-west, hopiag to raach the acighbourhood of Capc Nurthumberland,
{This cape is situated in the cxtreme south-¢ast corncr of South Australia)

It was duriag this sage of the journey that the party waversed postion of wbat is
aow known as the Bland Sbire. They probably passed cast of the preseat Ungarie about 21st
May and were also close 10 tho sites of Yalgogrin and Weethalle before 1eaching ML Aitoa
{(now known as The Pcak) on 26th May—a distance of about 100 miles from the Lachlan.
They continued south-west until they reached Mt Brogdea, {(sow called ML Binya). An io-
swribed monumenl al this point bears exiracts from Oxley’s journal, From these they trawcll-
cd in a northesly disection oa the western side of Cocoparra Raage which they samad Peel
Kangc. No doubt ia this part of their journcy they wemt closc 18 wherse Rankias Springs
now stands,

The explorers seached the Lachlaa River agaia on the 13cd Junce and {ollowed it until
not far from its junction with the Murrumbidgee {although they did mot know this). They
turned back and ja carly August crossed the river acar the aorthera cad of the Goobuthery
or Holooa Raage. A monument markiag the spol can be scea oa the Lake Cargelligo-Condo-
bolin Road.

From these they travelled overland to the Macquaric River and thence 0 Bathurst
altcr am absence of four months,

Oxleys report of New South Wales stated that they west over couatry “of the most
mincrable descripiion” He doubted that “these daolate plaias would ever again be visited by
civilized man™ On 20th May Allan Casningbam aoted ia his jourmal: “Costinued our couns
duc S.W. over a2 most menle, dry, scrubby flat country, molorious for the uaiformity ol its
production being the same a3 passed yesterday™ (Cypress Pine, Boree, Bulloak or Belah) “and
pencirating three miles [uriher we traced the same miscrable arid comniry thai we hawve had
20 day.” .
yOnly aklo gave am unfavourable report of the Lachian River, saying thal it was prob-
ably a flooded marsh im winter and a chain of ponds ia summer. Cunningham’s journal in-
dicates that 1317 was a very dry year and this area was a the grip of a droughl. The
weather observation were very simidar 1o thosc of the year 1967, cxactly 150 years later
{i.c. for May a1k early Junc). Oxley's panty left the dangerous waters of the Lachlaa only to
endure the ravages of drought. No min fcll and much time was speat looking for waer
which was ofien stagnant and foul. Thoir borses suffered from the lack of feed and water
and some of them died. The men's provisioas were so Jow that they had to be rationed. If
ra’n had fallen while they were mear Biaye they would have pushed on and found the Mur-
rumb.dgec about 30 miles farther south and theace to the Murray. However, that was not 1o
be and to save his men Oxlkey turned towards tho north again 10 get back W the Iachias,

Neither Oxley por Cunaingham wese tmpressed with what are now prized
river flats ia the vicinity of the lachlan. Cuaniagham wrote om the 15ih May:
“The soil of these fats &5 of a tenacious cold stiff clay quality. The Cypressus glavca (White
Cypress Pine) is frequent, forming small timber trees soarcely exceeding 25 fect, and the
many dcad stems scatiered among the common Eucalypt are sufficicatl damonstration of the
coldness and sterility of the soil™ On 18th May when they loft the River and turnad south-
west “the country became exccedingly brushy and assumed a greyish gloominess in conse-
quence of the great numbers of Acacia pendula (Borec) and Rbagodia dilatata (2 Salt bush)
which were the two predominant shrubs, The soil is a loose red casth with a large propor-
ton of sand.” As they continucd south-west, trees such as Eucalyptus micrantha (Saappy
Gum) and Cypress pine were passed—also Kurvajongs and Yarran interspersed with Boree.

As they drew neaser to where Ungaric is now, Cunningham wrote “Continued on our
course duc S.W. over a most sterile, dry, scrubby flat country nolorious for the uniformity
of its produciions, being of the same as passed yesterday.™ The taller timber was white Cy-
press pine and the smaller Bulloak or Belah and Boree, Farther on they saw Native Cherries
and a “beautiful tree about 30 feet of very spreading habit, with branches very slender and
pendulous.” (This could have been a Wilga). Hop bushes were also in evidence. The next
day they cuntinued the S.W. journcy and passed through “the meiancholy Acacia pendula.”
Today we think the Boree a very attractive tree if not marred by an ioscct pest. On the
rises they saw [ronbarks and Cypress pises and a number of shrubs such as Tea Trce, Green
Mallee (2). While Mallee, Paper Bark and a tree the mea called Snakewood, with rough and
scaly bark, Mistcloc was common on the trees. The vegcialion they encountered on 23cd.
and 24th May was the same as that found today on the virgin arcas [rom West Wyalong to
the west and south-west. As well as the plants previously mentioncd tha were Mint-
bushes (both red and white), Gooden'as. Eriostemons, Melaleucas {one of which was probab.
ly aur Broom-bush), Blue daisy bush, Clover bush and the twining Mallee Vine. The last
cveming they spent in our arel they disturbed “a large emu and two young kangaroos whao
were [ceding upon the trifling herbage, which the stenifity of the couairy can only produce

v small patches.”

a History



PLANTS SEEN BY ALLAN CUNNINGHAM WHILST EXPLORING THROUGH WHAT
IS NOW THE HBLAND SHIRE, FROM 18th TO 25th MAY, 1817
{A comprehensive but incomplcte list).

Cyprossus glauca {White Cypress Pine) now called Calkitris hugelii (C. glauca), Acacia
pendula {Borec), Rhagodia dilatata (A Salt-bush), Eucalyptus micrantha (Bastard Box) now
called Eucalyptus racemosa (Snuppy Gum), Pimelea Colorans (a rico Aower), Arthrotriche
gracilis, Arthrotriche augustiflora, Zieria puichella (pulchella means pretty)l Extoxia rugosa,
Sida species {Paddys Lucernc), Astzr decurrens now callod Olearia decurrens {a Daisy-hush),
Sterculia heterophylta, now called Brachiton populneum (Kurrajong), Ascelpiadcease
(Creeping shrub twining on small Cypresses), Acacia homalopbyla (Yasran). Eucmlyptus
sideroxylon (Westorn ITronbark). Casuarina {could be Bulloak or Belah), Loranthus filiaform-
's. now called Amyema probably  linifolia (Mistlctoe), Zygophyllum (Twin-leaf). Daviesia
(Pca-llower), Leptospermum sp. {Tea-trec), Eucalyptus acacioides, Eucalyptus dumosa {White
Mallee), Melalcuca sp. {probably Broombush), Goodenia Miflora (ocould be present G. Ovaw),
Eriosteman rhombifolium (a2 Wax-Flower) now EB. difformis, Prostanthera aivea (White
Mint-bush), Prostanthera coccinca, now called Prostanthera acpalathoides, (Scarkt Mint-

" bush), Myoporum gracile (belonging to the Boobialla group), Melaleuca sp. (a Paper-bark),
Cassytha (Mallee Vine or Devil's Twine). Shrubby Aster (probably an Olearia), Goodia lot-
ifolia {Clover-bush or Golden Tip), Erodium (Crowfoot), Aster oculatus, now called Alearia
ramulosa (Twiggy Daisy-bush). Syngenesia (a Daisy of some kind), Westringia triphyila, now
catled Waosiringra cremicola (Awusiralian Rosomary). Bignonia oxlciie, now called Pendorea
pandoranoa sub species oxeleyi (Western Wonga Vine), Pentandria monogyria (Rutaceae)
Extremely likcly that this is npow calied Geijera parviflora (Wilga), Dodonca cuncata (Wedge-
leaf Hop-bush), Exocarpus cupressiformis (Native Chesry), A “middling sized tree” from ils
description was very hikely, Heterodendram olafolium {Rosewood).

It is impossible 10 decipher some of the plant names rccorded in the Jouraal Also some
of the names bave been altered, partially or completely.

Cunaningham docs not mention grasses. No doubt they were included in the “Urifiing
herbage.™ Perhaps it had becn eaten dawn by #nimals or withered by drought. leaving no
mcans of identification. Obviously the explorers did not come dose o the sitc of West Wya-
long for Cunningham would certainly have observed our Blue Mallee. (Eucalyptus {ruticetor-
um). It is not possible to tel! whcther he obscrved Bulloaks or belahs, or both. He merely
states “Casuvarina.™ Bulloaks are Casuarina luchmanii and Belahs are Casuarina cristata,
both of which grow ia this area. He docs not appear 10 be intcrested in tho fauna of the re-
gion, cxcept for kangaroos, amus and snakes, and that interest was mot scientific. The Abor-
igines deserve special mention for their 1olcrance of the cxploters. From tfime 1o time ho
writes of finding thoir receatly vacated camps, of bearing them and members of the party
sccing them. The natives would never have seen a white man before, With their consummate
busheraft they casily could have wiped out this cxpedition. It is sad to think that the white
man’'s coming bas meanat degradation of various kinds for this peace{ul tribe.

Our .native flora looked after Hself wery well for thowsands of years and even the
advent of the Aborigines 20,000 years ago did not disturd it unduly, ag they were neither
pastoralists nor agricaliurists. They did mot domipate the plants, but lived with them wsing
this and that, such as Nardoo (Manilia drummondi) and Yam (Microsesis scapigera).

Now the white man is here and much of the pative-flora has dsappeared, either by
cleazing: by pesis such as rabbits, or being replaced by weeds, amoag them, Cape Weed
{Cryptostemma calcndula) and Skeleton Weed (Chondrilla juncea) The growing iolerest ia
our nalive plants in the lasi few ycars should lead to actioa to preserve our unique flosa
from extinction whilc theze is yet ime.

To get water and retain it has beca the greatest nced of our planis and they bave de-
veloped many means of doing so. Ope striking cxamplc is the aromatic oils contained im the
leaves of cucalypis. On a bot day the oil volatilises and the lcaves have a protective layer
between thamn and the sun, thus kecping down Joss of water.

Some wattles {acacias) bave findy divided leaves, such as the Wyalong Waule {A.
cardiophylla), but many of them, through untold years, bave gonc a sicp furnther and dis-
carded their leaves. The leaf-stalke, or phbyllodes, act as lcaves, They aic tougher and give off
less moisture than a leaf. As scedlings, all wattles bave pinnate leaves If it is the phyllode
type, such ac the western Black Wattle (A. bakeoides), the transition stage can be scen as
it gradually changes. When grown in the wetter climate ot Melbowne Wie Ieaves vi e w p5a
long Wattle are much larger. 1n the Casuarinas, among them the Bull Qak and Belah, the
leaves are reduced to scales and the wiry branchlets act as Jeaves.

There are numerous other examples of the adaptation of the plants to dry conditions.
In the drier areas it does not seem to be the quality of the soil which is the governing
factor in the distribution of plants, but rather it ability w retain water. Some plants arc
more adaptable than others and occur throughout the shire, while others are localised.

There are at least 18 different species of cucalyptus in the area. Mallecs usually occur
on solonized brown soils, bul those around West Wyalong are oo decomposed granite. The
besl-known is the Biuc Mallee (cucalyptus fruticetorum). The Broad-leaved Maliee Box (E.
behriaaa) is calted Bull Mallee locally, It grows naturally oaly in the Wyalong district. Other
mallees are Mallee Gum (E. gracilis), Greca Mallee (E. viridis), White Mallce (E. dumosa)
Red Mallee (E. oleosa) and Narrow-leaved Red Mallee (E. foccunda)

On stoney ridges with poor shallow soils lronbark (E. sidesoxylon), Hill Red Gum
(E. dealbata) and Hill Gum (E. dwyeri}) thrive where others would diel Currawong (Acacia
doratonylon) and Black Pine (Callitris emdlicheri) are often associated with them. At Nar-
riah, Drooping She Oak {Casuarina stricta) also occurs. )

Grey Box {Eucalyptus woolsiana) is well scattered through the shire on red Soils,
whereas the Westera Grey Box (E. microcagpa) prefers good heavy sails. The Box with the
rouadish shining leaves, Bimble Box (E. populnea) is drought resistant and is found mostly
oa poos sl clay soils. The presence of Ycilow Box (E. meclliodora) is considered an indica-
tion of good soil, usually heavy alluvial, 1t s gur best huney tree.



River Red Gums (E. camaldulensis) thrive wherc there is an abusdaace of waler and
occur at Lake Cowal and along the creeks. Black or Fleoded Box (E. largiflorens) lives on
heavy alluvial soils subjct to flooding and occurs ia the Lake Cowal area. Fuzzy Box (£,
conica) generally occurs on low land aloag streams. Narrow-leaf Iroabark (B. crebra) ofica
grows in {orests with cypress pines. Il occurs in the Burcher area.

. Other district Lrees are the Kurrajong (Brachychiton populneum). It is both bandsome
and useful Where thero is Belah (Casuarina eristata) the soil is Beavy, siad the samc is true
of Borce or Myall (Acacia peadela) Bull Oak (Casuarina luchmannii) is found on a varicly
of soils. White Cypress Pinc (Callitris hugelii) is widespread in the district on good sandy
loams which are well draincd. It is a valuable limber tree and is whitc.amt resisiant. Many
of the forest arcas have beea cut out 1o fulfil the demands for ity imber.

The Mallee Pinc (Callitris preissii) occurs in the Wecthalle arca. lis common name is
apt as it huis scveral swams and is small. The Wilga (Geipra yarvillora) is wsually {ound on
the beavier soils It is a very attractive trec and can be used for lodder.

Other trees which grow ia the shire are Rosewood or Betrigan (Hatcrodendrum oleifol-
ium), Quaondoag (Eucarya scuminasa).

Buticr Bush or Wesiera Pittospocum (Fillusporume phylliracoides) is alho known ag
Berrigan, The hard fruil is yetlow and opeas 10 show slicky oraage-red scods.

Warrior Bush or Currant Bush (Apophyllum anomalum) is a small trec with almost
lcafless branches. It bas an air of greal astiquity about it Budda (Eremophila mitchellii) is
a small tree with graceful light greea foliage and white or purplish bell-shaped flowers. It i3
sometimes called Samdalwood. Emw Bush (Eremophila loagifolia) ofica oaly a shrub, occurs
on 2 variety of oils. It has dult rod tubular flowers abowt an inch Josg, and is somclimes
alled Bomigaa Sugarwood (Myoporum platycarpum) occurs chicfly em sandy Joams in
mallee country. B exwdes a sweetish resin, and is also known a3 Dogwood and Sandalwood.

Yarram {Acacia homalophylla) is fairly widcly distrilwied oa a variety of soils. Native
Cherry (Exocarpos cypress iformis) is an altractive small wree, looking rather like a pine. It
scemns as i the sced is outside its fruit. In reality the “fruit™ is the ealarged berry-like,
bright-red stalk and the “sced™ is the real fruit, a small aut. The Jointed Cherry (Exccarpos
aphyllus) Bas the mame type of fruit, but is aot atiractive. M is beafless with criss-crosscd
hard, almost thormy, branchiets aad i wsually a Jarpe shrub. Moomah (Mclaleuca pubc-
scens) grows in samdy soil—a small spreading Wee with two-inch white “doulkebrush™ flow-
ers. It is sometimes called Black Tea Tree.

Broom Brush {Mecladeucs wacimata) is usually a shrub in this arca. It coatains oil which
wag somelimes extracied from it o the carly days. Neediewood (Hakea scpbrosperma) has a
fairly wide range, and the neediedike leaves are about two inches Jomg The woody [ruit
opens and [rees ywo dark, winged seeds

Of hybrid Eucalyptus trees which have not been mentioned there arc ac keast 40 did-
crenl specics withia the shize. With the exception of the hybrids it s likely they would
have all béen bere whea Oxley and Cunaingham passed this way ia 1817,

So far 21 differenmt wattle species have been ideatificd in the arca. No doubt there arc
more. The most famous is the Wyalong Wattke (Acacia cardiophylla). It occurs in the Bon-
baroi Fosest, and 2 few miles wenl of West Wyalong. It favours the banks of dry water-
courses. L is a beautiful [ree-floweriag shrub, wilh rich yellow flowers and bi-pinnale
lcaves, the leaflets boing vesy small Nurserymea praise its beawty in their ocatalogues. 1t
should ol be coafused with Dcancs Wattlc {A. deanei) which it much mofe common. In
1his species the leafllcts ase larges and aot such an atractive greea. The yousg Jeaves and
branchlets are wsually tinged with yellow and the flowers are paler thaa thosc of the Wya-
long Wattle,

Western Black Wattle (A Bakeoides) is common in the district, Js “leaves™ are up 1o
five inches loag and half an iach wide. The flowers ase bright yellow, Other wattles asc:
Kaife Wattle (A. cuiltriformis) Showy Waithe (A_ decora), Needle Wattle (A, nigens), Kangaroo
Thorn {A. ammata), Grey Muiga (A. brachybotrya), Dagger-leafed Wattle (A. rhigiophylla),
Streaked Waltle (A, lincata), Midjee (A. oswaldii), Bunoy Bush (A_ rotundifolia) Alo A.
Trimeura, A. aspera, A sclesophylla, A difformis and A flexifolia. The last aamed flowers
ia July and brightens the landscape. .

Among the most beautiful of our shrubs is the Purpic Mint Bush (Prostanthera ovali-
folia). Its colouring varies from lavesder o purple. Sorse plants bear white ar pink flowers
1t scems to favour billsides and occurs at such places as the Boobarei Hills, M1, Narriah and
hillsides in the Alleena area. The Scarlet Mint Bush (Prostanibesa aspalathosdes) has a wide
disiribution. It grows abow threc feet has tiny bright greca leaves and bright red flowers,

Austral Indigo (Indigofera Australis) is another beavtiful shrub with blucy-gréen pin--
nate leaves and long sprays of rosy-mauve flowers There are seven diflerent species of Hop-
Bushes (Dodonacas) all of which are altractive whea bearing their bops. The Wax Flowers
(Briostemons) are represented by the Loog-leaved Wax Flower (E. myoporoides) in the south
ol the shire and by E. difformis, which has piump litile aromatic leaves and is covered wilh
while starry flowers. The Goblin Grevillea {G. [loribunda) with its intriguing ycllow und
brown (lowers grows in similar arecas to the Purpic Mint Bush. Grevillea snethilolia, a
smallsh shrub with highly perfumed white flouwers occurs at Gubbata. Asvund Wecthallo
is another Grevillea with red flowers, as yet unnamed. Desert Cassia or Native Daphne
(Cassia ercmophila) is described as onc of our most beautilul shrubs. It s widespread wn the
arca. The local Tea Tree (Leptospermum trivalve) is a Jovely sight in the spring when cover-
ed with small white flowers. Two bardy atiractive shrubs are the Common Friage Myrulo
{Calytrix setragona) and the Fringed Meatn Myrtie (Micromyirus ciliata),




Among the smaller planis there ace many undershrubs, (ncluding daisy bushey, cver-
lasungx pea planis orchids, rushes, herbs and bulbs. The Kock Fern (L.neilanthes lcnu:foha)
13 wndcsprcad The MNardoo (Massilia drummondi) which looks sather hike a clover in the
gilgais, is also a fern. Among the climbers are False Sarsparilla {Hardenbergia violacea),
Western Wonga Vine (Pandorea pandorana oxleyr), clematis (C. mucrophyila), Parsonsia
cucalypiophylla with highiy pcrlumcd musiard-coloured (lowers, swect apple.berry (Billar-
dicra cymosa} a shrubby climber rare in N.S.W. and Glycine cancscens with sprays ol small
pea flowers.

Maoy overseas grasses have becomce naturalised bere, bul among lhe original native
grasses are Corkscrew or Yariable Specar Grass (Stipa veriabilis), Liverpool Plaias Grass (S.
aristiglumis), Soft Spear Grass (S mollis), Feather Spear Grass (S. elegantissima), Warrcgo
Grass (Paspaladium jubiflorum), Slender Panic (Panicum coastrictum), Hairy Panic
cflusum), Wallaby Grass (Danthonia richardsonii), While-top or Wallaby Grass (D. cacspitosu).
Brush Wwire Grass (Arsistida behriana), and the Wire Grasses or “Number 9,7 (Aristida ram-
osa, A. jerichoensis, and A Calycina), Umbrella Gruss (Chloris Uruncata), Purple Love.grass
(Eragrostis tacunaria), Qusicred Love-Grass (E. clongata), Grey “:ard Grass (Amphipogon
caricinus), Buitoa Grass (Daciylocycnium radulans) and Spinitex (Spinifex paradoxus).

The malive trecs were pat 1o many uscs by the early seitlers, who proved themsehves
adept al improvising from whal malerials were available. They built und ronfed houses, banig
feaces and slipeails, made bullock yokces, and cven couked kurrajong leaves us wepciables,

Tbe Grecy Box proved to be a very use{ul tree, Box bark was used for rooling houses,
huts, dairies and sheds by the early setilers and miners. Sometimes even the walls were of
Hox bark. The bark was atiached 10 a frame of White Cypress Pine. The sonkr woulkd
Nhanre n big lice weth gamed steuaght bk, Ve apecratsm buad be B wiiiied v wbes tho
hiags wan dinssg, prosslaly mibey m ogeend sman. an Mo ok Mecn peckcd ol an Juasge Meecis, wasy -
ing lrom hall o wa inch is thichrcs.

To ramove the bark omc scurfl was cutl Jow down on the trec and another higher up,
aceording 10 the leagth of the sheel reynired  Cuts were made dengthways up the tree A

wuived stk with » wedge-shaped poet was used 1o pry the buk off 1he tice.

The curved shects had to be flaltened, and this was wsually done by placing weighis
on the bark, but somciimes a small fire was lit underacach to siraighten it oul The burk
shects were placed oa the framework in the same way as galvaaised iroa is wday, and were
then kept in place by timbes bomg luid acrons them and secwsed. Thee hark saniy shed tho
rain and wese comparatively o0l in summer. They lasied many yoass The Grey Bos was
sometimes used as fomcing posts and the limber was also wsed lo some catent in brick kilas
and bakers’ ovens, but Cypress Piac was preferred.

Box and lreabark were used extensively for makiag charcoal, which was uscd lor
forge work by blacksmiths and fammers. A pilc of wood, arranged in layers, was covered
over with 30l with veats Jeft a2 both ends. A {ire was lit at opc end and the draught curr-
ied it throwgh to the other vealL Whea properly alight and the logs reduced 1o charcoal tha
pile was thoroughly scaled off and left for scveral days 1 cool down. This procedure pre-
vented the coals from turming o ash. Box was the chic{ timber wsed for f{iring the boilers
in the mines.

Iroabark fcacing posts lasied a Joag time. They were faisly resistant 10 white ants wnd
resistant to fire. The bdark from Jrombark wus used exiemsively for heating sicel tyres, prior
w fitting them oa to waggom asd sulky wheels. Once the tyres were in placo on the wheels
cold water was applicd 1o make the metal shrink and fit tightly.

White Cypress Pine had, aad still has, many uscs. Onc of its greal advantages is 1hat
it s white-ant resistaat. Pinc was wsed in the coastruction of bouscs and was also wsed for
lining rooms. For sheds, sound sapling posts were wied {os raflicss and battens. Fencing pouts
were sometimes made of pinc. It was casy to split and saw and was straighy, but it was not
fire resistant. Young round pine rails. not Jess than four jaches at the small end, were wsed
exlensively for underground mine props. Brick kiln owsners used pinc almost exclusively, as
it provided a quick bot fire. It was also popular for bakers' ovens. Rabbit pits were lined
with White Pinc, !i; pinc tees were preferred 10 small ooes for moch of the building
work. Some rafters in an old local sbeaniag shed were aver 30 fect Jong and withow a knot
in them

Bull Oak was used for rails and firewood. It makes a very bot fire. Sometimes it was
used to make bullock yokes, but they were not as good as thosc made of Kurrajong.

Kurrajong was spieadid material for bullock yokes and onc skilled man coud make a
yoke for iwo bullocks ia two hours There were four holes in the wood for the ifon bows to
- pass through Red hot rods were pul through thesc to toughen the wood. Kurrajong leaves

were valuable fodder in dry times
Belah provided good fodder. Boree alsa yielded fodder and fencing posts. Posts from old
Barec lrees are hard, and last a Jong time. There arc some very ©ld ones 00 a properly near
Yalgogria

Other trees that provided fodder of some valve were Wilga, Rosewood and Warrior
Bush. Mallce Vine, also kuowa as Devils Twine, was useful as cattle fodder. Locally this
plant is semi-parasitic on mallce trees.

The fruits of Quandong were used for jzms sauccs and tart fillings. The wood of
Needlewood provided material [or homec-made pipes and walklng-slu:ks The Currawong
was said 1o bo used for shoulder poles by the Chinesc whao lived in the-district. At the turn
of the century Blue Mallee was being treated for cucalyptus and other valuable products.
Maost of the trecs mentioned and mallce roots were used for firewood ia ovens and open firf:s_

Rabbit Pits were made of White Cypress Pine. The pits were sunk along the wice
netling boundary fences, about ose or two miles apart, depcoding oa the nature of the
country. Rabbits were always more plentiful in sandy country, becausc of the ease with
which thcy could build their warrens. A hole about [ive feet deep and [ive [ect squarc was
sunk direcly ungerncath the wirc actting. Sawn rough timber slabs of pine were then placed



side by yide 1n an upright pusitiwon aloag one side of the hole. Thea 2 4 inch by 2 inch plank
was placed horizontally to support the slabs and another oac was pegged down at the bot-
tom. The other three sides of the hole were treated the same way. The pit was thea covered
over with boards. Among thern were four balanced pieces of board. An eacoming rabbut
would 11t 2 board and drop into the pit. The board would thea swing back ino its origin-
al position. A wirc-actting wiang, onc cbain long, rag fram cach corncr of the pit, making a
sharp angle with the fence. This arrangement “herded™ the rabbits towards the pit.

Every day or so a2 man would kill the rabbits and clear the pit. Other amimals, too,
would fall into the pits  especially aat-caters, foxes, cats, and occasionally snakes also met
their doom that way. When the rabbits were plentiful, as in 1907, there could be 300 rab-
bits 2 night in one pit. The average was 150 rabbils. Fourpence per pound was paid [or
rabbit skias in those days. In winter seven and in summer ainc skins went 10 the pound..
They were bought by the Jocal Chinese. .

A Dog-Leg Fence was wusually made of Cypross Piac. Two round posts were erected.
and crossed rather Yike an open pair of scissors. They were supported by az 318 inch block
of wood six to cight inches in diamecter. This process was repcated and then a pine Jog ,with
branches siill attached, was placed in the V's of the crossed posts. By this means a fairly
good shecp-prool fence could be constructed. ’ :

For a2 Chock and Log fence, any large available timber was used, Box, lronbark and
especially Cyprese Pine. Green timber was casier to cut and work, and the Jogger polas werc
better {or the purpose. A chock of wood two fect long and 9 to 12 inches was placed {lat on
the ground. A scarfl was thea cut out of the centre of the 1op side. A log was placed ia the
scarf. Them another chock was scarfed on both sides to fit over the first Jog and placed in
positioa o receive another log om 1op. This process was coatinued until the desired height
was reached. Logs along the top finished off the feace. Only the botiom chock aceded 10 be
two fect Jong. The others could be shorter aad do a satisfactory job.

For a Post and Rail fence, Iroabark posts were wsed if possiblo. It is good straight

splitting timber and lasts a long fime. 1t is also easier to adze out than Box. Builoak, Box and
old Belah were wsed as rails. The timber was used green and both posts and rails were split
lengthwise. A morticing axe was used 1o cut oblong boles in the upright posts. The rails
were trimmed to fit saugly in the holes. As a rule three or fous raike were mMsed in each
pasnel. .
Slip Rails were wsed in place of gates. One method of making them was 10 place rails
looscly i holcs im the wprighis 30 that they could be removed guickly to allow passage
through. They were made of any available timber. Box rails were satisfaciory, but Piac wa:
too brinkec and Kablc 10 break wnder pressure {rom stock. Amother type of slipeail was
made with slots cut in ihe posis 10 allow the poles to be dropped in. To remove one wouly
require both a lifting and a pulling movement This made the “gaic™ more secuse where
stock were concerned. Later on U-shaped round iron, or large used horseshocs, were driven
into the posts and the rails were slipped into these Wire twilchey were also wsed.

Siae landbolders believed that timber growing oa the 3pot and used as lencimg mat-
eria) Jasied lomger than ether timber. One local property bad a paddock fenced with Box,
another with Pinec, and 50 oa. Anothcr had assorted feace posis with Piac Mallee, lron-
bark and others altermating As ome would cxpect, the Iroabark outlasted the other timber.
Belah had t0 be old when wused, as the yousg stulff rotted qQuickly. Howewer, the lmbdcr
had o be greea whes boced for feace posts otherwise the bils on the brace-and-bits would
be brokea. Yarram limber was wsed for feace posis and in the erection of stock amd shecy
yards. )t lasted for years. Yarran wood makes a fire with greal heat and burng to am ash. Ju.
heat caused buckling and destruction ia the fice-bary ia stoves.

Black Pimo was wsed 1o make bullock whip handles, and Quondong timber was wscd
to make bullock yokes. Kurrajomg kawes were somctimes cooked as vogetabics, the most
tender leaves coming [rom the top of the tree. The imtroduced plants, such as marshmallow
and pettles, were also cooked as “greeas.” .

The besi meat blocks, both for homesicad and butchers’ use, were made from Kwsra-
ong stumps. The wood was spongy, and slits made by cleavers closed up again. A fow still
in wse are greatly valucd by ewners.

Sometimes sefthers erected Jofis in a cormer of the stockyard, near a dam or waser-
holc. Men would hide ia this until the kangaroos came for a drink, whea they would shoot

the unsuspecting animals.

L

FORESTRY DEFARTMENT

Of the 28 Suate Forests in the West Wyalong Sub-district the present Cypress Pine
forests are by far the most important, not only because they produce the bulk of the sales
of logs, poles and fencing timbes, but because a considerable amount of grazing is availabic
in tbem. The maia Cypress Pine [orest areas are in tbe Booberoi Hills, cast of Wyalong,
Yarraajerry, south of Anah Park and aloog the Rankins Springs Road, south of Lakc Car-
gelligo.

The Hardwood forests were of greal consequence when they were dedicated, as they
were the source of supply of such products as railway siecpers, fencing timber and firewood.
Demand bas sioce fallen off considerably and only a small amount of fencing timber and
lircwood 1s now sold. Twenty of tho forests carry predominanily Cypress Pine limber and
cight carry Hardwood (Irom Bark and Box)y There are 35,000 acres in the pine [orests and
14000 acres in the hardwood (orests. One forest carrics a coasiderable amoum of Blue
Mallec, which is cut periodically for the distillation of cucalpytus oil.



X Tho West Wyalong Sub-district al the Forestry Commiwsinn extends about |10 mules
ia 2 »N.W,/S.E. direction and averages about 30 miles across. West Wyalong is the admin-
istrative centre of the sub-district, aod with the sub.districts of (renfell, Forbes and Condo-
bolin, comprises the Forbes Forestry disurict. The sub-district boundary is roughly, Temora,
Bb.nd Creek, Lake Cowal, Burcher, Bena Ungarie, Tullibigeal, Lake Cargellign, Willandra
Weir, Naradhan, Taleeban, Sandy Creek, Ardlethan, Wallaroobie, Mimosa and Temora.

) Persoanel in the sub-district are a forester and an office assistant engaged on adminis-
trative dutics, and a forest foreman and another employee, who are engaged on ficld work.
Work dooe by the commission consisls mainly of the maintenance of assets, including roads,
fences and water supplics, killing of uscless Hardwood competing with Pine, supervision of
timaber opcrations and rabbit eradication. All thesc are done by local employees, with the
exception of road maintenance, for which a grader unit comes {rom Forbes periodically, to
grade the 216 milcs of roads through Jocal forests.

There aro sevea sawmillers in the sub-district, one of whom rcgularly buys logs from
State Forats. A sawmiller from Greafell also buys an ancual quota of logs from this area.
Sales [rom Statc Forests and other Crown areas are also periodically made to other millers.
Most sawmillers are able to obtaia the bulk of their log input from privately owned land.
Miscellancous sales of timber, poles, firewood, sand and gravel are made under licence and
dicences are issucd Lo apiarists to allow them to place their hives in State Forests. Honcy
production is wsually from thosc focssts carrying lroabank.

A considerable amount of grazing under permit is being donc on local forests’ Graz-
ing was suspeaded o0& many forcsts about 1955, in order to encourage the germination and
growth of Cypress Pinc sccdlings. These responded so well that grazing by catile was in-
wroduced oa many forests froch 1964, and grazing by sheep, which eat small seedlings, is pow
being considered on some forests.

Grazing in the West Wyalong district forests has the desirable effect of removing
much of the dry grass that creatkes a scrious firc bazard cach summer. Fires in tho forests
of the sub-district are rarc. There have been only two in the last 12 years, buraiog a total

of 13 acres.

BULLOCK YOKE MADE BY EARLY SETTLERS.
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ON FAUNA

Early settlers in the Bland Shire have told of a small animal that lived in mallee
trees, which they knew as a native bear. This gives credence to the listing of koalas by tho
National Parks and Wild Life Service as being in the district, although rare.

A marsupial about balf the sizc of a kangaroa, grey in colour with splashes of white,
was 2 common sight. It was kown as the paddymelon. The burrowing of another marsupial,
the bilbie, caused a crater-like warren: Rabbits took over the warrens and the bilbies disap-
peared. Clearing of the land for wheatgrowing and grazing bas led to the extinction of din-
goes and native cats that were common in the closing years of the nincicenth ceatury.

The keen observeér will find many species still living in the bushlands of the shire.
Listed as uncommon in the moootremes is the platypus, but the spiny ant-€ater is still fairly
common.

C pials are the yellow-footed marsupial mouse, the fat-taited :_ rsupial
mouse, brush-tailed possum and the grey kangaroo. Uncommon marsupials are the featber-
tail glides, the squirrel glider, the ring-lailed possum, bushy tailed possum, pipmy possum
and the sed kangaroo. Mammals extinct in the district are rabbit-cared bandicoot, brush
tailed rat kangaroo, brown hare-wallaby and the bridle nailtailed wallaby Tiger cats have
been seen on rare occasions in the Weethalle district.

Of native rats and mice the Eastern water rat is still common. The allied rat and the
long-haired rat arc uscommon and the extinct species are the Eastern psewdo-rat, ihe
whitc-footed rabbit-rat, and Miichell’s hopping mouse Bats are nncommon 10 race, but the
district has been at times inhabdited by the Eastern borseshoe bai, the greaters long-cared bat.
the little brown bai, Gould's watiled bat, the beat-winged bat, yellow-bellicd free 1ail bat,
white striped mastifl-bat and the little mastiff bat. Flying foxes are rare vasitors.

. Introduced mammals are the Puropean rabbit, the European hare, the dingo, red fox,
Féral pig, Feral cat, goat, rat and mouse.

Of the snakes the carpet snake, commoa browa snake tiger snake, mulga snake, red-
bellied black snake, myall snake and the bandy-bandy are the most common. Scldom secn
now are the sed-aaped snake, ycllow faced whip snake and death adder. A snake expert who
visited the district 3n recent years is said to have boen of the opinion that taipans could be
here, but no sightings have been reponied. Copper-bheads are akko said 10 be present. The
bush is inhabited by a aumber of lizards and skinks. These include 1he common diclla, leg-
lexx Nzard, jacky lirard, bearded dragom, goanna, striated skink, Cunningham's skink, shingle-
back shink, blue tongue, copper-tailed skink, water skink and grass skink. Scldom seccn aro
the thick-tailed Gecko, scaly-foor, and Gould’s goanna. .

In the years of good raiafali when the waters of Lake Cowal spread over the nonh
castern countryside of the shire, black swans and numcrous other water bisds arc seen. Sca-
gully have found their way to the Jake, and oa rare occasions have beea seen over West
Wyaloog.

Flocks of galahs and colourful parsots are morse plentiful in the wheat scason thanm
at any other time, but, unless steps are taken to conserve lasger areas of the suitable habiwat
of the more rare types their chances of survival are slight.

Among the birds seen in the shire are the emm, brown goshawk, wedgc-tailed cagle.
peregrind falcom, brown hawk, mallce fowl, peaceful dove, common bronzewing, cresied
pigeon, Major Mitchell's cockatoo, galah, cockaticl, ringnecked parrot red-rumped passot,
blucboanet, mulga parsoi, pallid cockatoo, tawny {rogmouth, owlel nighijar, laughing kooka-
burra, raisbow bird, Back-faced cuckoo-shrike, southera scrub robin, chestnut quad-thrush,
whitc-browed babbler, brown songlark, black-backed wren purplc-backed wren, wesicrn
warbler, little thornbill, chesinut-tailed thombill, yellow-tailed thornbill, brown wecbill,
mallec heath wren, red-capped robin, hooded robin, southern yellow robin, grey fantail,
willic wagtail, restless flycaiches, goiden whistler, rufus whistler, red-losed whistler, Gilbert's
whistler, grey shrike-thrush, crested bellbird, striated pardalote, yellow-1ailed pardalote, siriped
honeyeater, white-cared b yeater, yellow-plumed honeycater, brown-hcaded honeyeater,
while-[ronted honeycater, spiny-chcclcd hooeycater, peewee, white-winged chough aposie
bird, pied butcher-bird, grey butcher-bird, black-backed magpie, Australian raves, little raven,
pelican, spoonbill, blue cranc, white ibis, bab chick, wood duck, teal, black duck black
swan, green leak parrot, finches, seagulls, swallows, castern stone curlew, spur-winger plover,
quail, diver, shell parrot (budgerigar) little crow, easiern rosclla, brolga, mistictoc bird,
turquoise parrot, noisy misner, little wattle bird, masked wood swallow (blue martin), dusky
wood swallow, pied currawong, collared sparrow hawk, branded ploves, kinglisher (several
species), eastern shrike-tit, diamond dove.

THE KELPLIE

The Wyumong district has played its part in the development of the Kelpic sheep dog
which bas been so invaluable to the pastoral industry in this couatry.

The early 1800's, were an era when transport and handling of stock, other than by
draving was virtually unknown. The bundreds of counsties through Enagland and S,cmhnd
all bad stock of one sort or another, and with the stock went the shepberds and their dogs.
When stock was first brought to Australia, so were shepherds and their dogs to care for them.
This was ncccssary for the stock had 10 be “folded™ or yarded every pight to protect them
from the dingoes and Aborigines and 10 stop them from straying.



With the rapid increase in stock numbers there was an increasing demand for a “must-
ering” or “gathering™ type worker Lo scplace the “shepherding™ type dog. There is little doubt
that by the mid ‘1800°s a great number of difflerent strains and types of workers had been
imported. One of the first 10 successfully make a pame for themselves was the Rutherford
strain of North County Collies which immediately proved ideally suitable 1o Australian con-
ditions. Scveral younger members of the Rutherford family had migrated to Australia, and
once settled were supplied with dogs by their Scottish relatives. Mr. J. Rutherford purchased
Yarrawonga from the Hume {amily, where he bred the black dog, Moss_ which Jaler became
the property of Mr. Jack Gleeson.

My, Robert Tully, 2 well known bretda in the Murray and Da:lmg River areas, was
also a strong supporter of the Rutherford strain collic and all his stock were claimed to bave
carried this blood. o

The dog which gave the Kelpie breed its name was Glecson's Kelpie which was bred,
as far as we know, on Worrock station in Victoria, Ms. Jobn D. (Jack) Gleeson came into
possession by swapping a borse for the pup, which had becn bred by Ms. G. Robertson from
imporied collic parents. Gleesoa's Kelpie is described as a black and tan with semi-erect eacs
and who had a reddish tinge to bher coat when seen in the sun.

Mr. Glecson keft the district shortly aftér acquiring Kelpio and siayed for a short time
at Albury, where he met and married Miss Mary Ryan, a daughter of Ms. Lancelot Ryan of
Wallandool station. Twothcrdaudmn_ht:andcuo&mnd!hﬂyxmgudratcox.
soas of the owners of Yalgogrin and Wollongovgh Satioes respectively. In crossing the Mur-
rumbidgee, on his way to take wp a position on Bolcro (North Belaira) be mict an old friend,
Mr. Mark Tully, brother to Mr. Robert Tully, who gave bim the black dog, Moss, who had
been bred at Yasrawonga from dogs imported from the Rutherford kemnels ia North Scot-

1

Kelpic was mated fwice w0 Moss; the Krst litter she whelped was shortly after amriving
at Bolcro and 2 pup was givea 0 Mr. T. Keogh The second litliesr by Moss was born oa
Norcth Yalgogrin and a pup from this litler was givea 10 Mr. Sicve Apps, who was on Mer-

a.

re =N .

. Abowt this time, 1370, Mr. Arthur Kobinson drought out from Scotland a pair of black

and tans, Brutus and Jenay for Mr. EDiott of the firm of Elliott and Allen of Geraldra station

mated jogether om the way out and the bitch, Jeamy, whelped shortly after

- Brutus and Jemmy are described a smooth-coated black and tans with semi-

erect ears. One of pups from the first litter, Cacsar, was given to Mr. John Rich who was

was mated to Gleesoas Kelpic and the most famous of all

> ‘When Kitter arrived a black and tan female pop named Young Ke:-

p’ethdpig&eWMKn;stpwmpmbm C. T. W. King and she be-

the y 1870°s whea sho won the first sheep dog tria] ever beld in Axs-

performance at Forbes oa this occasion was so eatstandiag it resulted in the mani-
breod.
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a short time the same, Kelpic, applied to the progeay of King's Kelpic oaly, al-
more have been applied 10 Glcesoa's Kelpic for withoat her there
would never have beea a broed 30 mamed today. From the ssass of records to band i1 ap-
pears ag before all dogs of similar appearsnce wore being described :s
33 dogs at the Sydney Sheep Dog Trials im 1398 ounly twe dogs waie
oa

i
:
il

of

Glccsoa took up a sclection Bolero, being portion 10 Parish of Yalgogeriag, 4t

in March 1878, Whea leaviag North Yalgogria to take wp a position at Lake Cow !
Wm’hchaxdﬁevi&ﬁsﬁiudur'!‘l.cun and Moase with Mr. P. J. Cox of Mer-
riagrecn, terward developed a growth she had to e de-
stroyed, eading her days at Wolleagough, Usgarie. Old Mass, which Mr. Cox had lent o0
Mr. C. T. W. King for stud purposes, was found dead on the chain ome morning at Gainb'il,
Lake Cargelligo, which property Mr. King was mamaging at the time. While living at lake
Cowal West, Glceson had an adent with a b and died at Wagea Wagga

é.
|

THE MOUSE PLAGUE

Almost incredible stories have been told of the mice plague of 1916, Early in the
winter bordes of mice appeared from no-rbm, to invade the ficlds, the homes and business
places. They destroyed haystacks and grain ate the produce and foodstufls in stores, and in
the homes they even got intd bed mattresses. Many of the houses were lined with hessian,
which was covered with wallpaper. The mice atc the paper and hessian, and the nights were
disturbed by their scampering up and down the walls. The siench was everywhere.

Mr. Jack King was working at Mr. Charles O'Donnell’s farm at Buddigower and he
recalls that the men walked around the baystacks at night, carrying a tin tub containing
waler. With a stick they knocked the mice into the tub. The mico ate stacked bagged wheat
uatil the heaps collapsed, and, as 1916 was a wet year the damage was considérable. In 1917
Mr. N. Coen, of Quandialia, was pulling down a shed, when be noticed there were no lead
washers on the screws. Close examinatioa showed that the mice had eaten away all the
lead, but could mot bite into the iron in the screws. In 1917 there was another plague, but
it was on a smaller scale

WEST OF THE BLAND
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EARLY HISTORY OF THE DISTRICT.

In 1817 Surveyor General John Oxley was sent by Governor
Lachlan Macquarie to discover what happened the Lachlan and
Fish Rivers. These rivers caused geographers a problen
because they both flowed inland in different directions.

In 1817 Oxley established his depot on the Lachlan and 1in
April with Allan Cunningham and ten companions, started down
the river.

This journey brought him into the area under discussion and
we read in his diary the first recorded description of this
area. His description vas very unfavourable, which is
surprising, because this land eventually became one o¢f the
best wheat producing areas in New South Wales.

Whilst in the vicinity of Mt Amyot Oxley said: "It is
impossible to fancy a worse country than the one we are now
travelling over, intersected by swamps and small lagoons in
every direction:; the soil a poor clay and covered with
stunted useless timber." OXLEY: P 20-21. The timber referred
to was the mallee scrub and this district would be north of
Lake Cowal.

In the Mt Melville district which on this occasion was more
than usually flooded, he said:" I am forced to conclude that
in common seasons this whole tract is badly watered. The
soil of the country we passed over was poor and cold clay
but there were many rich levels which, could they be drained
and defended from the inundations of the river, would amply
repay cultivation.® Oxley concluded that these flats were
entirely unsuited for cattle, the grass being too swampy and
the good portions mentioned above being overcrowded with
bushes, swamps  and lagoons. He did not comsider it a safe or
desirable grazing country.

In the neighbourhoods of Mts Maude, Edwards and Campbell he
described the country as "poor and as barren as can well be
imagined; the so0il a light red sand, acacia "~ scrubs, small
box trees and a few miserable cypresses.” OXLEY: p.43.

He said from the want of timber, grass and water it would
never be inhabited by civilised man. His prophesy was not
true for this district, now called Ungarie, north west of
the township of West Wyalong. is the centre of one of the
greatest wheat producing districts in the State.

The Surveyor General was struck by the physiography of the
region. The few hills vhich the region possessed usually
terminated on their westward side in a perpendicular bluff
to a2 height of two or three hundred feet.

It was in this district the Oxley first noticed what was
surely gold country! He observed that the hills to the south
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were “curiously composed of pudding stone in very large
masses -~ (granite), the lowver stratum being a coarse granite
intermingled with pieces of quartz. OXLEY: p52.

Fortunately Oxley's gloomy opinion of this region did not
deter the squatters in their westward drive. These squatters
»concentrated for a time on .the south, and, in a few years,
_dotted settlements all over the country from the o1ld cedar
huts of Illawarra to Lake George and the Lachlan." Roberts:
»Squatting Age in Australia" p-3. The Lachlan formed the
boundary of the Nineteen Counties. By 1835, the thick black
line of the Nineteen Counties remained as solid as ever on
the map as the legal limit of settlement, but, actually" 1t
had been crossed in 21l directions." Roberts p5.

Oxley had first explored the Bland -in 1817 - vhen he camped
for a considerable time near the Weddin Mountains. He tried
to explore the Bland Creek but was only able to go as far as
Euroka where he was blocked Dby water. There - was so much
water about that he considered he had discovered an inland
sea and marked his name on a tree at the -edge of the- water.
This tree stood for many yvears until an unimaginative Free:
Settler chopped it down and burned it. What Oxley considered
as an inland sea was merely the backed up waters of the
Lachlan River and Lake Cowal which had filled up the Bland
Creek and spread across the plains. )

Major Thomas Mitchell (later Sir Thomas) the next Surveyor
General of New South Wales set  out in 1826 to further
explore the Bland country which he called *"The Levels". He

got as far as where the Bland Road joins Curraburrama . and ' -’
Bland Stations. He camped in a belt of timber halfway . .
between .these. two stations at a place called Major‘'s Point. .
He was forced back, as Oxley had been, because of’ a Lachlan. '~
flood whxch he thonght was an inland sea. ' ERR

The flrst settlers in the ne1ghbourhood of Wyalong seem to L
have been a family of Gibson Brothers who took ‘up a run near~45*
the Bland in 1B33 and Mr .Glass who settled on the ‘Bland in
1834. Some of the early Settlers were Mr Oakes (Back Creek)’
— 1835; Mr. Myles at Morangorell in 1836 and who sold.; tof
Donald’ HcGregor in 1843. John Bray from Crookwell opened
Narraburrah in 1836 and Horatio Roberts and Wade also from-
Crookwell opened Carrumbee in 1836. They sold to John shourd .
and John ' Mason: in 1840. Abel Burke opened Bland Creek in = -
1838 and in the same year John Levitt took up a station near
Grogan. He sold to Thomas Burrett of Wentworth Falls -in
1839. Moses Beard opened up a run on the Bland Creek
opp051te Abel Burke in 1840. John Trott opened the Blllabong
1n 1842 and sold it to James Harsden in 1852. .

-
R
“

Follov1ng the sqguatting and occupat10nal period of the first
settlers who took up pastoral runs about 1842, there came a
secondary wave of pioneers, bringing with them their wives
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and families. Apart from the pastoral stations very little
settlement had taken place within the Wyalong district prior
to 1885.

John Rodd had taken up Billabong Pastoral Run in 1842. The
Billabong Run extended through Mallee Plains to the area
where the twin towns of Wyalong and West Wyalong were later
established. Rodd 1later sold to James Marsden in 1852. The
Government Gazette of New South Wales, 1842, included the
following lessees in the Lachlan Distict No 6:

No 3 Lessee William Atkins Run Cowal 16000 acres
No 129 Lessee John Rodd Run Caragabal 26880 acres
No 130 Lessee John Rodd Run Billabong 40000 acres

No 149 Lessee Levi Stonestreet Run Tregalona 25600 acres

In 1849, two years after . the Waste Lands Act wvas passed
allowing squatters to take up Runs we find the following
names: -

Cartwright John Barmedman Run’ 36000 acres

Burke Abel Back Creek’ 28400 acres

Gibson Alice Bland 44800 acres .

Rodd - John Billabong 40000 acres )
Stonestreet Levi Tregalana 25600 acres

Walton - John Bland 100 square miles

Atkins William Cowal ™~ . 16000 acres

In 1852 John Regan, brother of Denis Regan who had married
Sarah Musgrave commenced exploring back country for station
property. In a few years he. had caused much of the country
. to be opened up and shifted the location of the outback from

Young to what is now Wyalong. On one occasion John Regan set
off with a Mr Wood and after passing the Billabong came to
another creek. Their tethered horses wandered off and after
finding them had difficulty in finding their camp again.
They called the creek *‘Humbug® and this simple expression
shoved the feeling of the two men towards the creek that had
so long deluded them.

Mr Wood was impressed with the land and sent Mr Walsh as
overseer to take possession of the run until he (Wood) was
able to occupy it. Walsh entered into partnership with Wood
and called the station Merrengreen and stocked it with
cattle and horses. This was the farthest outback station in
south west New South Wales. In 1859. Thomas and James White
explored Humbug Creek, taking up land which they called
Ballangama. Mr Woodhouse took up Hiawatha and Thomas and
Abraham Wocd set wup on the Humbug Creek calling their
station Wallandry. :

The next 1land explored by John Regan was the Merocol now
known as Wyalong. The first man on the Merool was an
American negro named Sims and known as Black Sims. He toock
up Coonaparra runm in 1859 and was in possession two years
befare another settler came to the district. His run
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reverted to the Crown when he was arrested for cattle
stealing and sentenced to ten years imprisonment.

In 1861 William Marshall acquired a large area on The Merool
and called it Buddigower and in the same year George Harman
took up Quondarry. Moses Beard late of  the Bland took wup
land on the Merool calling the station Merool Creek. Samuel
" Pawsey of Mandamah was followed by Hamilton Hume, nephew of
the explorer at Mandamah West.

By the Land Act 1884 called the Subdivision of Runs Act, the
old Runs were converted into Pastoral Holdings. Thus we find
that Lake Cowal No 701 includes the Clear Ridges, Lower
Billabong, Billabong Back and Wombine Runs.

The first major area to be alienated from the original Lake
Cowal Run - was proclaimed in’' 1885 as Lake Cowal No '162. The
secondary Lake Cowal Station was acquired by John Bloyd
Donkin and was situated on the eastern side of Bland Creek,
dovnstream from Marsdens. The homestead was near Fishermans
Bend where the Bland Creek turns north-west to empty into
Lake Cowal. A number of smaller holdings were taken: up in
the Lake Cowal area, along the. perimeter extending from
Wamboyne through Billys Lookout to Clear Ridge. In the
Marsdens district the smaller holdings were mainly situated
between the village and the Booberoi Hills fronting the roag .

to Wyalong-.

The land upon which the town of Wyalong now. stands wvas

formerly part of Camping Reserve. 6387, Parish of Mugga, .
County of Bland, within the leasehold area of Billabong.

Holding No 61 held in 1889 by Henry Ricketson and also part

. of Wyolong’ (HYalong) Resumed area No 410. Prior to this .the .
Leasehold. area. . was part of Mugga 5va-p Run. held in -.1866 byﬂi
McIntosh and Oakes and by H. Ricketson in 1879.. The Resumed -
area part‘ of ~Uppex Wyolong (Wyalong) No 1 Run was held in :
the same "‘Yyear by E:A- Phillips and P. Besnard and 1879 by J:. .
Cox and M. Callaghan- The present location of West’ Wyalong .
lies vholly in the latter run only. HANSON: 1889 - “@”

4 . o=

There . vas hardly any other settlement in this locallty untxl
.1889. ”'this ‘year we find the names of holders
Condltional Leases or Conditional Purchases taken up : £
miles .north " 'and north west of the present township of‘Hestf{
Wyalong. 'The holders were as follows: William, Robert  and:-i
" Elizabeth Gagxe. Wilfred Wells Jnr, and William Lange. Then :
followed in the early nineties a little to the south, John ::
and Ph1111p 'Bolte. Donald Rankin and Phillip Ryan. G.W.
Neeld came in 1893 and became an important figure in the
hlstory of the d1str1ct. . : -
The gradual falllng -off of the goldfxeld did not ‘mean the
doom of the two townships as witnessed in other townships
for' it "was found as far back as 1898 that the district was
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MOst suitable for agricultural pursuits and particularly
vheat growing. It was evident that wheat growing had become
@8tablished by 1900 because the estimated area under wheat
in the Wyalong district in that year was 11900 acres with an
GXpected yield of 12 bushels to the acre.

At the turn of the century the principal properties. in the
Lake Cowal area were:

LAUREL PARK: taken up in 1885 by Patrick and Thomas Frost,
Comprised an area of 4960 acres and was situated on the
Southern side of Wamboyne Hill. Frost Brothers sold to Henry
Buttenshaw in March, 1898 for 17/6 per acre including 3000
wWell bred Sheep.

LAKE COWAL wEsT: adjoined the southern side of Laurel Park
and was acqired by Frank Allen. It comprised of 8000 acres.
Allen so01d to Beaufroy Green. After a series of misfortunes,
including the homestead being gutted by fire, Green sold to
Key Perry. Perry did not reside on the property., but placed
it under the management of William McNair, vho had come to
Billye Lookout in 1885. Lake Cowal West was sold ' in the
1920*s -to William J. Hammond who took up residence with his
Only son Roy and three younger daughters. The property was
8ubdivided in the late 1920's following the death of William
Hammond. _

LAKESIDE: Taken up by James H. Palmer, comprised of 4000
ACres. Palmer sold to William S. English in 1907 for 10/- an
ACre. English renamed the property “Weelona®.

LAKE VIEW: selected by Charles West in 186B.

;INE GROVE: 2400 acres, selected by Henry Thomas Broadribb
n 1887.

HILLSIDE: 800 acres., situated on the eastern side of Billys
Lookout was taken up by Moses (Harry) Fleming who was
employed on Lake Cowal.-

CORRAN: selected by Samuel Stewart and situated opposite
Felimans and Weelona and fronting the.Billys Lookout Road.

ELLERSLIE: joined Flemings block and a forest lease on the
Northern boundary, on the west by Girdlers Tank lease and
fronting the road leading to the Marsdens-Wyalong Road.

MILLY HILﬁ?: selected by Roderick Charles McDonell and
Comprised 3000 acres. It was proclaimed as a settlement

lease area on 23 January 1904.

CALOOLA: taken up by Mr Rawsthorne, followed.by James Hay,
80d  Steve Vinecombe. In 1922 it was acguired by Charles
Wllson (second son of Samuel Wilson). It was purchased by
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Thomas J. Wilson (no relation to Charles) in 1926. Caloola
was proclaimed as a settlement lease area on 27 July, 189S
for an annual rental of £40.

Later the forest area between Harry Flemings and Ellerslie
was taken up by Samuel Pellow.

Two small blocks were taken up at Billys Lookout .by Victor
Beazley and- Mervyn Whiley. Portion of Beazley's block was
situated where Billys Lookout village had been.

GOLD MINING.

Gold occurs in many types of rock imn the form of lodes,
veins and impregnations, the . breaking wup of vwhich form
surface and alluvial deposits. Pure gold is seldom found in
nature; silver, copper., iron, platinum and other metals are
found with it. s : . :

The geology of Wyalong is .difficult to describe, because
with the exception of a few widely separated low elevations
such as the o©01ld hospital hill, standing at the N.E. of
Wyalong and Pine Rill and Pine Ridge, the underlying rocks
are nowvhere visible at the surface. ’ .

The underlylng beds are concealed by an ovefcdvering of Post
Tertiary accumulations of several feet of red soil, so that
the geologist must make his observations by an examination
of the surface soil or by the use of shafts -ade by miners
in prospecting. The difficulty.was increased in the case of’
Wyalong because of the lack of knowledge of geology of . the
surronndxng districts. L : *..'“

In. 1899. the Government Geologist, Mr E.F. Pittnan reported
that the Wyalong goldfield had been developed so.__v1gorouslyf
that it was then the most. productxve in’ the .Colony. He . vent‘
on to say: . The altitude of. Wyalong is "almost’ . 800, feet-
above sea ‘level, and ‘I: think that there nust have been
during the Tertiary perxod.‘well defined -channels - ryugh
vhich the drainage of this elevated, district. found its wvay
to the sea, or to the Tertlary ‘basin, or lake- (at least ~900
feet thick)., which exists near the Junctxon of. the Hurray
and Darling Rivers. In these drainage .channels.}the gold
derived from the denudatxon of the auriferous ' reefs-must:
have been concentrated- o

In the frenz1ed search for gol&wxh'the‘f1rst ‘years . of i the
goldfield at Wyalong, reports came in of discoveries in the
surrounding areas. These included Yalgogrin, Buddigower,.
Billys Lookout, Hiawatha and Blow Clear and areas in closer
proximity to the diggings. Gold. was discovered :at. Hiawatha
on Portions 10 and 12 on Good Friday, 1898 by Conway and
Ryan and it was traced to the a6301n1ng crown lands. All the
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reef at Hiawatha were in granite, which seemed to occupy a
large portion of the surrounding country and seemed to be
continuous with the Wyalong mass. The reefs struck east and
west and dipped to the north in contrast to the Wyalong
reefs, which had a general north south trend.

In the neighbourhood of Wyalong, there are roughly two main
geological areas which can be readily be distinguished and
their boundary line approximately known- The larger of these
is occupied solely by granite and it is in this area which
possibly contains rocks of much greater age than the
granite, is occupied by highly altered sedimentary strata
and igneous rocks of intrusive character. J.WATT: "Report on
Wyalong Goldfield™ pl0. The granite extends for miles in a
northerly and probably continues without break to Hiawatha -
a distance of 8 miles north west from Wyalong. Auriferous
reefs have been discovered at Hiawatha. The granite also
extends south as well as west to Yalgogrin.

Almost the whole area of the goldfields is occupied by
loosely aggregated sandy and clayey materials which are
largely the result of the decomposition and disintegration
in situ of the underlying granites and diorites. The red
colounr of the deposits is prodbably due to the presence of
oxide of iron. The iron oxide itself is derived from the
biotite and hornblende present in the granite. The
decomposition of these minerals sets free the oxide of iron.

The red colour of the surface soils in dry regions such as
Wyalong is more characteristic than in most regions for in
this latter region *the decaying organic matter has a
bleaching effect due to the reduction of the ferric oxide
and its partial removal in a soluble form. Part of the oxide
of iron has separated out in the form of small ironstone
concretions which ' present rounded pseudo-water—-worn
appearance due to their mode of origin." J. WATT p. 12

*“In the absence of well marked outcrops it was the presence
of these fragments that led to the discovery of gold at
Wyalong.-® J. WATT pl. Small rounded particles of quartz were
noticeable on the small Mallee flat which extends between
the township of Wyalong and Pine Ridge. Although during
heavy rain, water evidently flows over this flat, there does
not seem to be any. depth of deposit there or any
accumulation of gravel but the loose rounded stones are
veathered irregularly over the surface and through the red
soil.

The gold present in the Wyalong goldfield was so fine that
it was not readily detected except by aid of a lens.

Mr Neeld Snr had joined his sons, who had come to Wyalong
previously. He selected a piece of land and was preparing to
use it in the normal way. The ironstone nodules had
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naturally attracted his attention because he had experience
in the Ballarat and Bendigo goldfields and also in Fiji. The
first gold was found in quartz on the Picneer Claim reef.
While Mr Neeld Snr wvas prospecting the first claim’  one of
his sons located gold-bearing stones just outside the
selection and about 10 chains to the east of the former
site. The reef. from which these stones came was soon located
and was afterwards known as the Dead Rabbit Claim and later
still as the Easter Gift. Work was considerably impeded by
the thick mallee scrub. ) -

The third discovery was made by Harry Neeld on Klink's line
of reef and was .known as Harry's Find. It- remained in the
Neeld family and paid large dividends. Discoveries wvere made
on sites known afterwvards as Red Flag and the Currajong
Mine, but no prospecting was ‘done there. The most important
discovery was made towarxds the end of October when some of
the sons discovered gold-hearing rocks in the vwvicinity of
what was known as the Prospect1ng Claim.

The family decided to peg out claims on 16 December, 1893;
firstly the Prospecting Claim, then Harry‘'s Find and thirdly
the Pioneer Claim, fourthly the Christmas Gift and lastly
The Dead Rabbit. J. WATT: pb6.

Men Dbegan to arrive from the day the gold was reported and
by the end of January 1894 there wegre about 500 men on the
goldfield. It was not until the following March. when the
first parcels of ore were crushed at Barmedman and good
results shown, that the big rush took place and by the end
of that month 10000 had arrxved on the goldfield. -

The fact that the field was worked so successfully was in no
small measure due to the.character of the ground., which over.
all parts of the goldfield could be worked with. pick' and
shovel alone down to at. least 150. feet. This.made the:
sinking of shafts very inexpensive. As J. Watt observed - (p
7}: " "As. a consegquence of this many of the reefs have been
profitably- worked which, had the ground been hard, would
certaxnly have been abandoned.” . : o T
By the ‘endw.of 1894 there .were six crnshing nachxnes atu
Wyalong, " but. these were yeduced to four.and two chlorinatiom
wvorks . erected when it was recognised that chlorination ivas

the most su1tab1e process for the treatment. of rich ore..

In 1894 the follov1ng crnshlngs took place at Barmedman and
show varyxng rlch ore:

- _Tons yielded oz. . dwvt grs.
Neeld 13 o 6 4 .
Cassin 12% « oL 9 3 i
Neeld No 2 . 17 - 72 16 -
Perry & Party 17 - .. 42 18 .

Conwvay » » 22 - : 103 5 -
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Keeth =~ ~ 28% " 67 . .
Fraser " = 10% " 39 6 -
Gorman * " 37 - 77 12 .
Smith =*. = 6 " 8 14 .
McMahon * ™ 4 » 10 - -
Lawry * * 14% - 14 18 .

The greatest drawback to the development of the Wyalong
goldfield was the scarcity of water and as there were no
large watercourses in the vicinity, the warden had to set
aside tanks and have races excavated. -

One of the outstanding differences of this goldfield from
- others in Australia was the almost complete absence of
alluvial gold. "The existence of so many rich veins at the
surface makes it extremely probable that these veins have
suffered denudation to some extent. Had the other
circumstances been favourable alluvial deposits would have
been formed. In the absence of these deposits we must
therefore conclude they have not been so." J. WATT p. 1l4.
The unfavourable circumstances are: :

a. the absence of hills and gullies in this flat "~ country,
vhere natural sluicing operations could take place.

b. The small of rain is another big factor.

c. The extremely fine state of the gold set free wounld mean
that it would be scattered by the action of the wind and
rain storms so prevalent in these regions.

As to the question why was this goldfield so 1long
undiscovered, it may be pointed out that this was due to:

i. The absence of alluvial deposits. already explained
above.

ii. The level nature of the ground with its almost universal
covering of red soil.

iii.The absence of fresh water.

iv. The sparsely settled condition o©of the surrounding
country, and

v. The very fine condition of the goid.

During 1895 the claims vwere steadily developed although
there was some falling off of population, due to the
discovery of gold elsevhere in Australia. The scarcity of
vater retarded an even greater development because water was

very necessary in crushing operations. Coupled with: this was --..-

the refractory nature of the ore from belowv water level.
These factors tended to keep down returns. However it was
established that the reefs were payable below water level.

The following is a list of mine depths in 1895:

Hildebrands 24S ft White Reef 185 ft
Hidden Treasure 225 Barrier 180
Pressers 210 Bantam _ : 170
Bolte's 193 Currajong 160

Snowden & Party 185 Welcome Stranger ’ 150.
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white Reef, Currajong., and Welcome Stranger gave splendid
returns. .

puring 1895 the new large battery of Nicholas and Raymond
commenced work and was in constant use. Climo and Co also
erected large works at a cost of L8000 for the treatment of
tailings- The - number of miners engaged was 8600, 500 less
‘than the year before but the Report of the Department of
Mines, 1895, hastens to add that the figures would rise
again as several mines intended putting on more men.

The record year was reached in 1897 when 34750- oz wvere
obtained. In that year 'Wyalong produced more gold than any
other mining division 1n the Colony-' J.WATT: p7-

‘The Wyalong 'argns“ dated January S, 1898 in its editorial
was justly proud that 'no outsxde capital had yet come into
the Wyalong field.....*

In 1900 there was drop in the yield ‘6n the Wyalong goldfield
because the mines were treating low grade ores vhich had
been accumulating. The number of miners which had been 1600
in 1899 dropped to 1200 in 1900. In 1907 the number "of
miners fell to 462 and by 19210 only 150 men were employed on
the goldfleld. ) .

The gold y1e1ds for each of the years of product1on were as
follows:

1895 - 15534 tons of stone yielded 24497 ounces of gold
1896 : ‘ -
1897 30750 33900

1898 30940 ' ‘ 34582

1899 15116 o 44675

1900 22387 ' S 32425

1905 . 10555 L - 24708

1910 i-uf_':“ " Lo i 7 9000

1915 ' - 3800

1920 - The yield had practxcally ceased-

In 1920 the Departuent of Mines Report stated that "Gdldﬁ
mining: has. salmost ceased . in this division.” Thus a most
1mportant perxod in the history of Wyalong came to an. end.u
.Anyone.’ interested’ in .the .progress. of Wyalong during the®
first quarter centurz must have rejoiced that Wyalong had:
- indeed, found its staple, not the golden - metal. but the
golden graxn." : ' . il

: ,- -.,-._‘-... Lo 3

Gold had been found in the Wyalong district 1ong before it;
was found in . Wyalong itself, in such places as Temora (or
Bakers)‘1879. Baruedman 1882, and later Reefton in 1895.

Before fxnishlng the history of the Wyalong Goldfield we
pause ' to remember the tragedy of the Barrier Mine disaster
 wh1ch took place on Saturday, 1 January, 1912, when five
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miner lost their lives, through an inrush of carbon dioxide
gas. Those who "died were Frank McGuire, Jack Mulhall, Bert
Navin, Jack Navin, and Rupert Nicholson.

Because of the conditions at the "Main Camp* (White Tank)
the establishment of a township was considered to be an
urgent necessity. Surveyor J. Richmond was given
instructions in February, only two months after . the
discovery of gold to. lay out a township for the new
goldfield. He selected a site about one and three' guarter
miles east of the Main Camp. His reasons for selecting this
site so far from the mining field were that: "It was
necessary to keep off the area of the gold deposits: its
suitability from a sanitary viewpoint; its proximity to the
main Barmedman Road and its generally healthy location."
Richmond completed the survey of the first four sections by
6 March, but this was considered insufficient it was
extended to fourteen sections.

The whole of the towaship of Wyalong proper is mainly
situated on a farm selected by the Neeld family., while the
town of West Wyalong is built on farms owned by George Bolte
and John Ryan. The whole-of the township of West Wyalong is
built on the farm of John Ryan. while the northern boundary
of George Bolte's property extended from ‘about Paul
Meagher‘s residence to Central Railway Station and south to
include Pig Tank. The farms of Neeld, Bolte and Ryan were
resumed by the Government for mining purposes.

Joining Bolte‘*s property on the west, sonth and south-east
were the farms of Con Ryan, Philip Bolte, John Bolte and
Donald Rankin. On the northern side of the goldfield were
Robert Gagie and Sons, William Lange, Jacob Haub.
Christopher Haub, Niel Nielsen, Conrad Hildebrand., E.T.
Clark, Jacob Rootes and Sons, Wilfred Wells and Donald
Fraser. - '

Wyalong, the original name of the old run and Parish, was
decided upon as the name of the new township after
consultation with the Mining Wardens, who also approved the
street names. Most of the streets bear the names - of the
. bioneers of the field or officials connected with.its early
history, - ielc or oir ettt TR ER e

Early in March., 1894 there were no buildings whatever on the
ground, Qﬁt by 3 May, 120 to the value of £20 each had been
erected. By the police returns the total population within 5
miles ’ of Wyalong Courthouse, including
both townships was, at the end of 1894, 4215 of which 3825
vere males and 930 females, exclusive of children. Dept of
MINES RECORD. 1894 p25. Wyalong was proclaimed a Village on
23 June, 1894 having obtained the necessary approval from
Governor Duff on 19 June 1894.
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The demand for alotments at West Wyalong continued, and the
expected transfer of residential population or business
activities from Main Camp to the Government Township did not
occur. A huge population soon gathered round the White Tanx
“and notwithstanding my warning and advice an irregular
narrov street was formed on the very quartz claims whereby
the Main Camp or Wyalong West became an established fact™.
DEPT OF MINES REPORTS., 1B94. p25. The warden was unable ¢to
iay a sStreet 99 feet wide with cross streets of the same
width in a position not 1likely to be auriferous, in
accordance with allotments in the already surveyed. town 2%
miles distant.

Finally. after much agitation Surveyor Richmond was'
instructed on & April, 1895 to survey the occupied area at
West Wyalong (late Main Camp) and to prepare a design plan
vith the Main Street 66 feet wide-

The final survey of ‘Main Street ‘was carried out by Surveyor
V.F. Tozer on 28 December, 1895 and the many irregularities
and encroachments were at last straightened out.

The White Tank, an outpost of Wyaldng.No I Stasticn
and water supply for the goldfields in-1894.
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DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC BEALTE, STATE OF NEW SOUTII WALES Perm Na Tl

TYPHOID FEVER

table disense, the infection of which is alwarz derited from a provious caso

TIY;E‘IO&F-E:;E: t’;o.c:hm p'::u‘bl; a loag interval-of time may clapse betweon the occurrence of tho firnt

:ndn(nhnequentm Thot;poof &oimmxhnxﬂauvﬂmhtuﬂmqudcn(

‘mm'l‘"fo‘:‘ﬁd;em“ t: myd in the excrota of the typhoid puhdr ut‘(bﬂ'ol discliarges and uriue), and

y articl taminated ndtnxuetlnqmuuvohdoo infection.
It f-‘:‘t newn pt:euol how long the infoections matecial may retain its vxtuhty and its power af
doing harm, but there in reason to belisve ‘that wndor favoursble circumatancen, £g, in a conspit ac i ramo
WARY “moa d posaibl

woile t‘}‘}‘:ot::t:d.:ny :‘ -w’;oumy.zmmrby food “or drink, and may obtain access ta theso in a

vmotyol‘ﬂy;. hmpkq&ofdbmgmykmhued-
szhwdhmyhhwmmthky
Milk and other foods may bo infoctod through being luudlod hy paticnta, oc those ia attendance

. 3 thm‘umuwwhmbemwﬂmdmmw“ton
A I'°-! % ,, ‘.:wb dust oc Iaua.nyulg' miuate particles of excreta that hare
beeaiul_:npcly -

PREVENTION

TYPHOID FEVER is most rrenlent. us & rale, in Summor and Autamn, sl at theso aoa.smu
should precantiona inat infectios.

“w&’;::? mug m:kk.oq them clen'n:.:ml free from accamulations of dict and ruldsish whu-lt

mat shelter and: fortor the Typhaid micrabax. Cloaw up clasctx and cotapite.  If thero iz any susqricion ﬂu-t

nisy cluset ST Tard 15 aiteady tmtectod, diminfect it froely with Chlaride of Lims malution -

lo caroful that foodl and driak are not exposed to risk of infection. Boil all mila and au mtcr

boefars dnnhﬂg’. Guard food aud driuk as well as possible from dast and flics,

Every case of TYPHOID FEVER ahould o regarded as a possible source of danger, end -pecul

precaations should Le takem to roudar lun-lou all excreta, and all articles in the least ‘degree soiled 1rith

oxcrota, by DISINFECTION. - .

DISINFECTION may be accomplished mthcr by beat or by cbouuak. o N

I Heat—Boiling is tho .most reliable domestic method of spplying beat  Excreta and h!ectad'.

dopmmyhhaodln&oommm& little or ne nuisance if bu-ugcrchnmng'

of the substamces be avoided. * ﬁmmm&umdcrdmm—- i

important matter. Clothes also are reedily disinfected by boiling. R

IL Cuzmicats—{(r) For oxcrets (bowel discharges sad urine) the following may be veod =

ﬁlond.ol’l’a.o .-.Spumtulnﬁogudohynum‘flh.of&mkddo

lime with 1 galion of water

: Carbolic Acid ... . § cent. solution. | 2

" The chemical disimfectsnt must be bclkoqultoorgmwthmthomut excmtl tnbo:

disinfected, and must be iatimately mired with the excreta and remain in coatact for at least.

oue hour. The common practice of lpnnkhng on antizeptio 80 es merely to pmd-oa an odo' &

of the chemical is of 2o value. o ndeids

() !;ot clothing—Carbolioc Acid in the above strength, the clothes to remain !n louk far.

an nour, e (,;

IBOLATION.—Unless complets isolation and skilled nurxing is obteinshle st home ovury audu'rm

should be masde to transfer the case to Hol?ltll This is sdvissble in the interests nct caly of the pdiant.
but also of othor members of the household who run serions risk of becoming infectsd.

DISPOSAL OF EXCRETA.—Whers & special pail in provided the excrets should be plnoad {n thh
efter disinfection by boiling or cliemicals, snd removed to the appointed depdt

Whers such & sarvice ln not_svailabic sxtrems caro should be taken to t.horoughly disinfect b-r
Loiliug all excrota befors disposing of them by burial

On no account ahould infectious oxcrata Le buried or cast out oa any promisss. This prnchca hﬂ-l
frequeatly led to infection of otlier persons living on the same or even on neighbouring mmnot. sod
tonds moreover to perpotuato the diseass and cause s Yyearly rocwrrenco iu the Typhoid season.

uSydney, Sept. 7, 1903 (By Order) G. B. XING, Becratary.

Ay ¢ St
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T.J. Wilson Esq., .
“Caroola",
Clear Rfdge,

xia‘E!ALONG;
. . ‘

Deer Sif,

‘Specisl Lease epplxcation 50-11 Wyalong has been .
lodged by V.G. Beagley over the red edged srea on sccompsnying
diagram which includes. R, 62u4l47” from sele’ for Public Recreetion
Notified 16th Janusry, 1931- green tint on disgrem. - _

It has been reported that together with yourselr tbe
following hsve been appointed trustees of -such reserve on the
dates 1ndlceted¢- -

Charles West appointed 28—10—32

. Clive West Tz
= - Williem Arthur Bu_ttenshaw oo
o Patrlck Hetherington, 18- 9 36

-

, atﬁt'nae..to';tne proposed Is.peciaal Leese .applicationi .4, Ti
officer of this Department bes reportgd tuat the'ares ha

\-.

Yours faithtully. .
C. E ELPHINSTONE,

by all of ‘the trustaes. .
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LAKE COWAL.

The Geological Survey of New South Wales has very little
data available relating to the geological history of Lake
Cowal. Many speculative theories have been suggested as to
vhat might have occurred during the centuries gone by.

There has been no cfficial theory as to how the large number
of trees had grown to such proportions on the bed of the
lake during some period of the past. The trees - mainly red
gum - with well developed trunks and limbs, had been dead
for a long period of time before white men first set foot in
the area. The only 1logical conclusion that the Geological
Survey can assume is that for a long time the waters heid in
the lake maintained a degree of purity, and later the water
could have reached a level of salinity that the trees could
not tolerate. This theory is only speculative, but most of
the underground water in the catchment areas of the lake at
a shallowv level contains a high degree of salinity.. The wet
seasonal ‘period of 1916-1917, when large volumes. of water
overflowed from the Lachlan River to Lake Cowal, provoked
graziers concerned ‘to bank off the low l1lying areas along the
river to prevent flooding of their properties. Very little
water has flowed to the .- lake from the river  since that
period. Major volumes of flood waters flow to the southern
end of Lake Cowal from extensive catchment areas from which
the principal flow is carried by Bland Creek. The upper
reaches of the Bland Creek extend to the foothills of the
Nimdooran' Range, which is situated southwest of the town of
Cootamundra-

Other creeks that empty into Lake Cowal are the Barmedman,
Back and Duck Creeks. The upper reaches of the Barmedman
Creek extend to southwest of the Barmedman township. The
Duck Creek rises west of the town of Temora and continues
along the eastern foothills of the Tungley ranges, joining
the Barmedman and Back Creeks at a point four miles upstream
from the Wyalong-Quandialla Road. From ther the creek
becomes Back Creek which empties into the Bland Creekx in the
vicinity of the former village of Marsden.

The flood waters that flow from the 2localities on the
southern and south western side of Wyalong-Barmedman Road
all converge into Back Creek in the vicinity of the
Wyalong-Quandialla Road. From the areas north of Wyalong and
Mallee Plains the waters meet Back Creek near the crossing
on the Back Creek Road. The waters from Clear Ridge. mainly
by way of Clear Ridge (or Sandy) Creek, run directly to the
southern end of Lake Cowal near the station homestead.

From the eastern areas, mainly from Piney Range .near the
west side of Weddin Mountain and the Caragabal district,
flood waters run directly to the 1lake, principally through
the Marsden area.. The run-off from theses extensive areas
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all move northwards towards their®natural basin - which is
Lake Cowal. The natural fall of the terrain still continues
on down the Lachlan to the Murrumbidgee River. From ‘there it
continues to the Murray River and thences to the South
Australian coast near  Murray Bridge. The vaters from the
Bland can really flow a long, long way.

The main bed of Lake Cowal comprises an area of
approximately 90 square miles. Lying north to south, the
length of the bed is about 16 miles. with an average width
from five to six miles. : - - .

During the peried 1916-1917, large numbers of water birds
and fowl flocked to the 1lake. Thousands of the various
species of wild ducks and large numbers of black swans,
pelicans, gulls - including sea gulls, cranes and numerous
varieties of smaller birds. The dry trees in the waters of
the lake provided excellent perches for the birds. It was
during this period that Lake -Cowal was declared a bird
sanctuary. No open season for the shooting of, birds was,
alloved. The ’'declaration -, of the sanctuary became a
controversial subject, especially when two years '~ later, the
waters of the lake were rapidly drying up again. ‘

REPORT OP BRAMHOPE LAKE BLOCK -~ 3237 ACRES-
1946-1991. o

1946 Dry. Useful grazing in summer angd early autumn, but
cut out badly in winter.

1947 Useful grazxng, wvith small floods, about E country
covered in December.;,. .

-'<£ .‘

1948 Good graz1ng, summer and autumn. about 2/3 covered 1n‘,
June - receding at end of year with excellent grazing.<
Sone fence repairs. i

51949 Good grazing, about X full of water in spr ing..

1950 HCOuntry inundated to highest flood level in Harch.:.

1951 Only a_little grazing along fringe of water.

1952 Flood evel agaln in April.'
1953 Still 2/3 covered at end of year.

.. 1954 Small f£lood early in year, but only about % covered at
’ ) end of year. .

1955 ° Quite a few miles of fence renewved. Flood rains again
in March, covering most of the country.



1956
1957

1958
1859
1960

1961
1962
1963

1964

1965

1966
1967
1968
1969
1970
1971

1872

1973

1874

69
23-

Filled to record level agsgin in April-

Only fringe benefits, %¥ full at end of year.

Useful grazing, water receding fast in summer, and
country inclined to scald.

About % covered in March, water getting away quickly
by end of the year.

Completely dry and refenced by end of autumn.
completely covered by water again in August.

Not much use. Some grazing in summer.
Filled again in January. No use through winter.
Filled again in winter.

Some flooding in spring, practically covering all the
country. )

Useful grazing in spfing with water getting away-

Al) dry and fenced by end of autumn. Complete renewal
of fencing. Splendid grazing.

Good all year.

About 500 to 600 acres flooded in June with further
flooding in August - covering about % the country.
Good grazing on flooded country in summer.

Started to flood in March and continued till it filled
completely in June.

Had not receded much and filled again in June from
Bland Creek.

Not much use throughout the year.

Water started to move back in dry spring, with cross
fence dry and back to Channel near lignum by end of
year. :

Lake useful in autumn and winter and a bit too good in
spring with terrific growth of trefoil: Country about
X covered but wet conditions in November covered most
of it and forced us to shift sheep.

Gradually filled right up and running out Manna Creek
2/8/74.
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- lake completely dry by’ end of November.

.Splendid response fromr couchk grass, a great.relief :
-'unéer extreme drought conditions with abcut: 4000 sheep 4
“on Bramhope. With winter rains water 'into Bolte' s by

- August and almost to Roy, Wocdc"end Octoter. :

707 -

24,

Still flocded and mure flood rains in October caused
river water to overflow Lake and run Manna Creek early .
Novemtber.

Manna Creek again a banker after flood rains in
January. River water again reached lake in spring
running Manna Creek with small flow - dry at erd of
‘'Year, but lake v1rtually full--:‘ '

Not much use, but back to cross fence in lngnum by end
of year with some restricted graz1ng.

Lake promising Eut big inter rains agaxn flooded bzg
Lake with small overflow to’ little lake early October.

. Not much excert fringe tenefits, but back to cross

fence at end of year and reCEd1ng fast 1n dry -

cenditions.

Kater getting away fast vith disappcintlng results.
European Carp? salting? or just dry weather and the
result of continuved flooding. Gocd results from
Wimmera Rye sown by air and Bolte grew a splendid crorp
of wkeat. Big stocking in lignum. Lake dry anc¢ fenced
early Pecember. Silting tanks.

High stocking rates and dry conditions'totk toll and
lake not carrylng many stock through agtumn. Approx.
600 acres grain sown Deepwater. sump apd nicely away
when minor flood in July took water to Bolte's fence .-
an¢ rvined the crop. Wimmera Rye responded’ wellf alsc
barley grass, but large numters again carried till:end
cf year. Lignuvm paddock dry ard Deepwater almost dry.

by end of year. Most of- the-country scaided: -except .

vhere cane grass grom;ng thxcker ‘than- ever :
Lake running fair number of sheep ear o

mzinly on dry Wimmera Rye grass.. Flach, 1oca1 flocding
after big rains in March caused water to’ reach Bolte'
ard presented problems ‘ané arduous work. in" gettin
out with minimal losses. Big numbers. in _Spring an

Local storm early January flooded approx- 800 acres¢
Deepwvater and Flain, with minor -flooding in. L1ger.,

= _...-

Big sumrer rains early in year v1th 1oca1 and Bland
flooding czused the big lake to overflow abcut lst
February and running out Manna Creek by 11lth February.”
Of nc use for most of year. Little 1ake also full.
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Big Lake of very little use for year with a fresh
towards end of yezr, virtually filling kig Lake again.
Little Lake quite useful, especially W.J.'s and drying
fast.

Water receded quickly in Little Lake, with gcod
stccking rates. Also allowed opportunity crop to be
sowrn with tremerndous results. A fresh in Big Lake
during the winter spoilt hopes of useful spring, but
vater getting away fast at ernd¢ of year ard Leccming
useful. For the record we lost about 70 of Mrs _
E.'s wethers in long paddock (Narara) due tc pciscn
attributed tc algae in water.

Bland Creek haé rurn during year but minimal effect or
Lake. Some light fringe grazing in late spring and
wvater well back by end of the year.

Lake dry by end of March but with lack of any showers
no resporse cof feed on deeper country. Fair amount of
cror sown, but it did not survive a fresh in Lake
vhich put the water into Bolte‘'s. Gocd grazing.

Lake dried out early in year and preparations made for
scewing but water won the race. Turned very wet, with
some flooding from River in early winter, with Lake
akort half full.

Flood rains in autumn with the Lake cverflowing from
Bland and River waters and running out Manna Creek by
abtout lst May. Ceased running. about end of the yezr.

Little Lake almost dry by end of year, but big Lake
had not receded muck., except fringe berefits late
spring and early summer.
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LAKE <COWalL - AN tPHnHERAL LAKE

Lake cowal is. a natural depre551on approximately 14.800 ha in
area. 1t is approwlmately 26 kms, ip length ancg averages 6 to
7 kms in Sreadth.-, The take is’ formed ‘of two portions

separated by a low saddle and a hll; known as Bogeys Island.
The northern and ‘smaller portzcn 1s known as Nerang Cowal (or
the Littie tLake) and ths 1arger and aeeper ;outhern section

is called Lake eawal_ - . _ )

[nflows to Lake Lowal occur due to rlood waters which escape
from the tachlan River downstream ot Jemalong Gap and Wyldes
Plalns Irrlgatlon District. . These inflows enter Lake Cowal
immediately south of" Bogeys Island.”’ Additionally inflows
occur from Bland Creek, which enters the Lake at its
southern extremity. . S

Overflows Trom the Lake system disdharge over a bar located
at the northern end of Nerang Cowal and flow down Manna Creek
and thencs via Bogandillon Swamp, wallamundry and Waliarol
Creeks ta. the Lachlan River. _ - .

when filled to capacity up to the level of the northern
outlet dar, the total voluame of'water stored in both Lakes is
about 194.000 NL of which 162,000 ML 'is reta1ned 'in Lake
Cowal at a maxlmum ‘water depth of 4. 2 metres. The remalnlng
22,000 ML 's stored in Nerang CowaL at a depth of about 1.5 .,
metres. AL, capacxty storage, the surface area of Lake Cowal -
and Nerang Cowal lS 10,800 ha and o ‘800 respect1vely. o
The -Lake area is owned by prlvate landholders under freehold‘
tenurz. .The -Shires of. Jemalong, Weddin and Bland meet in, therz
centrz of the Lake.p The area is fenced -1nc1ud1ng lands that,
become submerged and it 1s used for cropp1ng and gra21ng as,i
flood waters recede-,‘ 3 . . L :

‘.-..- . ~,

Once \1lled to capac1ty the Lake takes from 2 to 3 years to
. empty by evaporatlon and seepage,. provided ‘that no further
inflous occur- DUrlng this perlod wind driven waves ofte
cause temporary tlnundatlon of land recently exposed by"ﬁﬁ
evaporation. thus creatlng a natural 1rr1gat10n,.water1ng and
1mprOV1ng the abundant growth’ of valued pasture fer graz1ng.,£

Records of‘_lood1ng from the Lachlan Rlver and Bland Creek
commence 1n 1870:ﬂ'However most of this data is scanty ‘and’
open to differences of opinion, consequently the flooding
history of Lake Cowal ‘is not altogether clear-,;Studies show
that the take was dry between 1904 and 1931. " A series’ of

" floods in the Lachlan brought water into Lake Cowal ‘for
periods between 1950 and 1960 and a substantial portion of
the Lake was’ dry between 1967 - 68 and 1984 - 1985." More
recently Lake Cowal has filled 1n 1990 and 1993

Whilst Bland Creek floods can occcur lndependently of , or 1in
conjunction with, flooding in the Lachlan, Lake Cowal is most
commonly filled by inflows from floods in the Lachlan. Flood
events i1n 8land Creek alone are rarely of sufficient
simnificanca ko fill Lake Cowal or Nerang Cowal and carry



The aoove data would indicate that over the years mans
intervention has altered the character of the Lake, clearing
the land for Tarming, bullding dams - irrigation,., levies to
protect some areas Trom flood with little consideration being
given to the resulting effect on neighbouring properties
resulting 1in many landholders feeling that they have been
disadvantaged due to the flood protection being received by
others. Now however an awareness of d?mage to self and others
is making people look to their farming practices and accept
that any action which either diverts water to neighbouring
land, ©r increases the volume of water in neighbouring
locations is unacceptable. :

Wwith few exceptions the land arocund the lLake has been owned
continuously and successfully managed by the same families
for three and four generations creating , within those groups
a valuable knowledge of successful farming and grazing
practise and a deep attachment to the very uniqgue area in
which they live. wWhile, in this dry continent water is a
valued asset to the farmer it also prdvides an.aesthetic
value to those who are fortunate to live in the area. It is
interesting to note that early settlers, where possible,
built their homes near water and many farmers dwelling near
Lake Cowal, the Creeks and surrounding area berneTit from
this. What could be more beautiful than the moon making a
silver path across the water or an early morning sunrise

and in dry times the view of an abundant crop or fattening
stock.

Flora and Fauna too numerous to mention abound in the area
and create a constant fascination to all who are interested
in observing nature. It :is one of the most significant
waterbird concentration areas in NSW. It is an important site
for migratory birds and contains a diverse breeding waterfowl
population of 79 species, numerous other birds are found
there and several rare and endangered species are known to
inhabit and breed in the Lake.

It is important to note that it is essential that the Lake
has its dry periods, for when the Lake dries up, vegetation
grows-the land is used for farming and grazing -native
.animals appear, then the Lake floods and a rich bioclogical
explosion occurs -food is plentiful -~ aquatic life 1is
generated and birds appear. It can also be noted by those
familiar with the area that bird numbers are greater when the
bed of the Lake is only partly submerged, they enjoy” -
pottering about” the shallow water.

Lake Cowal supports commercial fishing based mainly on goldsn
perch, redfin, and yabbies. The wetlands are a popular site
for duck hunting ( though not all landowners ars sympathstic
to this activity). A reserve on the western side
administered by the National Parks and Wildlife Service
allows public access to the Lake.

The major enterprises on the dryland area are sheep and
Cattle grazing and cropping of winter cereals such as whaat,
Ccats and barley. The wetland areas are grazed and cropped
Oppartunistically as moisture and market conditions permit.
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proauctive than the surrounding dry lands for several years
after flood recession. High crop ylelds can often be
obtainead fram recently flooded land and an abundance of stock
feed can provide ideal conditions for grazing stock. It can
be noted that farmers cropping the wetland areas run the risk
of inundation by flood before harvest - this has been
particularly notad since 1950 - however the excellent return
can make the gamble worth the risk. Grazing is of course
more reliable and of value to landholders particularly in
times of drought when an abundance of feed grows as water
recedes, the necsssity of storing large quantities of fodder
for dry times 1is not so great when the bed of the Lake 1is
available for grazing. Lake Cowal is known as some of the
most productive agricultural land in the state.

In 1992 tLake Cowal was listed on the Register of the National
Estate. ’ '
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comment .aoout Lake Cowal would not be complete without some
referente to snakes.

Snakes are reotiles and are numerous in Australia. There are
110 species of land snakes in Australia, they can be grouped
into four families. They are the Elapidae, which are front
fanged; the Pythons, which are constrictors: the Colubridae,
which are harmless rear fanged snakes; and the burrowing
blind snakes (family Typhlopidae). :

Maost of the Australian species and all the dangerous ones,
are ELAPID or front fanged. The danger presented by a
particular snake's bite depends on both the potency of 1its
venom and the quantity it 1is capable of injecting. If both
of these factors are considered, the most dangerous land
snakes are , in order: the Taipan, the Death Adder, the Tiger
Snake, the Eastern Brown Snake, the Western Brown Snake, the
Copperhead, the Mulga Snake, the Red-bellied Black Snake and
the Rough Scaled Snake. .

Some” snakes to be found at Lake Cowal are. Yellow-faced whip
snake, White-lipped snake.-Red-naped Snake, Eastern Tiger
Snake, King Brown Snake, Spotted Black Snake, Eastern Brown
Snake, Curl Snake, Black~headed Snake and 8andy-bandy. So it
can be seen that while interest may centre on the Tiger Snake
there are other snakes worthy of mention.

The Eastern Tiger Snake is common at Lake Cowal and active

each year between spring and autumn. This reptile is found
on the ground and in trees, some of which may be standing in
water up to two kilometres from the shore. They live on a

variety of chicks, eggs, mice, frogs, spiders, grasshoppers,
beetles and ants. A study has shown that Tiger Snakes have a
praference for young birds although frogs generally
constitute a substantial part of their diet. It is
interesting to note however that Tiger Snake remains have
been found in food of several remains of birds in the Lake
Cowal area including Sacred Ibis, Whistling Kite, 8rown
Goshawk, Swamp Harrier, Kookaburra and Pied Butcher-bird.

So while the snake is hunting it tooc is being hunted.

Snakes aonly pose a threat if disturbad, basic common sense
must be observed in the Lake area. Naturally if the Lake is
partly dry and a reasonable distance from dwellings and daily
activity there will be less likelihood of coming across a
snake though snakes can be found a considerable distance from
water. If the Lake has a reasonable quantity of water
bringing it in closer then extra care needs to be taken.
Protective clothing such as boots or shoes and long trousers
should be worn, avoid walking through long grass and
disturbing logs etc., Snakes will shelter on a hot day, the
ground is too hot for them to move about but they will come
out at night. People learn to live with nature all over the
world, they are not constantly confronting dangerous animals
nor perishing from extremes in climate.

Lake Cowal has been, over the years, a place of interest to

many naturalists among them Eric Worrell , who during his
lTifetime ATA mitrh tA avitamAd ~R1 i~ knnwleadae nf Anietrralian
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Reptile Park near Gosford NSW and was awarded the MBE in
L1270 for his contribution to the development of anti-venenes.

George Cann was a regular visitor to Lake Cowal, he was Known
-ac a Master Snake Man who Teared not the bite of the Tiger
Snake or Death Adder. He and his wife Essie settled at La
Perouse and established what became known as possibly
Australia's longest running snake show. Their sons George
JInr and John still visit Lake Cowal and continue on with the
show at the newly landscaped and aptly named Cann Park at La

Perouse.

John Edwards ﬁas_another man who developed an interest in
reptiles at a young age and became a regular visitor to the
area — at one time he had an educational exhibition of snakes

and spiders on tour around the schools.

One purpose in catching snakes is to milk their venom which
is supplied to the Commonwealth Serum Laboratories where
antivenenes are made for the treatment of snake bite.

In most Australian States snakes are protected by law,
including the venomous species. A dangerous snake may only
be killed if it is near a house , or is an immediate threat.



Flora and Fauna abound at. Lake Cowal,

to make a complete list.

it would be imoossible

Two keen, world travelled, bird enthusiasts camped for two

days on the shores of the Lake
were delighted with their sightings and also

during September 1989. They .

commented that

in all their travels they had not seen anything more -
beautiful than the sunrise over the Lake.

_Their list:

Great crested grebe
Hairy headed grebe
Pelicans

Large pied cormorant
Little pied cormorant
Little black cormorant’
white necked heron
Straw necked ibis
Yellow billed spoonbill
Black swan. ‘
Australian shelduck
Black duck

Grey teal

wood duck

Whistling Kite

Little eagle

Masked yapwing

Silver gull

Crested pigeon

Galah

Eastern rosella

Red rumped parrot
Pallid cookoo

Bookbook owl

Kookaburra

Welcome swallow

Tree martin

Black faced cookoo shrike
Grey shrike thrush
Willy wag tail

Grey crowned babbler
Rufous songlark

Noisy friarbird

Nolsy miner

White plumed honeyeater
Striated pardalote
House sparrow

Common starling

White winged chough
Apostle bird

Magpie lark

Pied butcher bird
Australian magpie
Australian raven

Bird song provides constant music, especially in the spring
when so many birds enjoy the blossom of the trees.



Some trees to be found are the 8elah. Wilga, River red-gum,
Bimble box, Yellow box, Black box, Grey box, Rosewood,
wWweeping myall ,River cooba. Pine, Xurrajong.

Flowers are a delight, especially in the spring and if there
has been rain it is a joy to discover numerous small, but
very beautiful flowers; Bulbine lily, nodding blue
lily,Grasland lily,plain sun orchid, mistletoe, native lilac,
pink bindweed,bugle flower,tall bluebell., rock isotome,
mulla-mulla, numerous daisy flowers, yellow, mauve, pink,
blue and white and billy-buttons.
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Lake Cowal abounds in wildlife.
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"LAKESIDE"

My association with Lake Cowal began in 1922, when my father
Harold Bolt won this block in a civil ballot. 3,000 acres on
the NorthWestern edge of the 35,000 known as the "Big"” Lake.
The only improvments on the block were one fence and one
dam. My father lived alone in a tin hut for 7 years. He cut
carted and hand bore many fence posts before putting up
miles of new fences. He and his brothers built the woolshed

and all the other farm buildings.

He married and had the farmhouse built. My wife and I still
live in that house. Our family is the only one of the
original owners who drew blocks, still holding our portion.
Owning a farm in a lake has it's ups and downs. But the good
times have outweighed the bad. Probably the most difficult

thing being the fencing.

In 1988 we gained first prize in the local then zone, then
the regional crop competition with some Vulcan wheat gréwn
"in the lake bed. It went 26 bags to the acre. We 'used no
fertlllzer and only worked it up once.

We have at one time grazed 6,000 sheep and 100 cattle — some
belonging to neighbours — at the one time the feed was so

lush.

Many duckshooters from near and far have camped and become
friends over the 'wet' years. We have had up to 1200 camped
on our place alone one year. And despite the loss of ocur
grazing land when the lake is full, the magnificent water
birds nesting in their thousands almost makes up for it.
The Naticnal Geographic Magazine have featured the rare
Royal Spoonbills nesting here.’

Lake Cowal is famous for it's tiger snakes and we have had
them in the house and even at this moment have 2 frozen in
the deep freeze to show interested visitors. Our two sons)
made quite a hit on separate occasions with frozen 'tigers'
at school.

Cne unlque feature of this property is the family graveyard.
The ashes of my Grandfather and Father are buried on a quiet
hill overlooking the lake bed.

This is just a brief picture of life on a lake farm. The
years of 'wet' droughts and good years when everyone else is
experiencing a dry drought have certainly been worth the
different farming practises needed to own "Lakeside".

~ < .jk;/(ti,

Trevor King Bolte.
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RUNS AND STATONS ~ LAKE COWAL.

NEW SOUTH WALES GAZETTER, 1866,
CROSBIE'S CREEK: (Co. King). 1s an eastern tributary of the

Boorowa River, rising in the Yass Plains, and flowing west
about 10 miles. -

COWAL LAKE: {Co. Gipps) is a large swampy lagoon, formed by
the waters of the Yeo—-Yeo and Manna Creeks. It is about 18
miles in length and 6 miles in width, and in wet weather
expands into a large shallow lake. The hollow or valleys in
which it lies is about 40 miles S.E. of Condobolin, on the
Lachlan River, and is well grassed and abounds in
salsclaceous plants. Pliocene tertiary.

COWAL, STATION: (1ACHLAN DISTRICT), occupier T.J. Atkins,
area 16000 acres; grazing-capability, 600 head of cattle.

The nearest post town is Forbes.The old charges
were Thirteen pound; the recently appraised rental is
Seventyfive pounds.

COWAL NO.2 STATION: (Lachlan district), occupier,
T.J.Atkins, area 16,000 acres; grazing capability 640 head

of cattle. Charges, Thirtyeight pound two shillings and six
pence.

HAIWATHA STATION: (Lachlan distric¢t), occupier, M.R.

Bernard, area 58000 acres, grazing capability 4,000 head of
cattle. Charges, Thirty pound.

CLEAR RIDGES STATION: (Lachlan district), occupier, Thomas

- Lees, area 45,000 acres, grazing capability 640 head of
cattle. Charges Thirty pound.

BLOW CLEAR STAATION NO.2: (Lachlan district), occcupier,

Sweeney Brothers, are 16,000 acres, grazing capbility 960
head of cattle. Charges, Thirty pound.

BLAND: is a county in the pastoral district of Lachlan,
containing 300 acre=s of alienated land, and 1,359,700 acres
of unalienated. Its boundaries are, however, open to
modifacation. . ‘

BLAND STATION: (Lachlan district), occupier, Thomas Atkins,
area, 17,000 acres, grazing capability 640 head of cattle.

Rental Two hundred and sixteen pound.

BLAND STATION NQ 2: (Lachland district), occupier, John

Chisholm.



BLAND EAST STATION: occupier, Mrs Alice Gibson.

BILLABONG STATION: occupier, Thomas Lee, 19,000 ;acres.‘
BILLABONG LOWER STATION: occupier, Thomas Lee, 16,000 acres
BILLABONG BACK RUN: occupier, Thomas Iee, 16, 600 acres.
BILLABONG NQ 2 SIAIIQ:{. : occupier, James Marsden, 16,000

acres.
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LAKE COWAL SUBDIVISION

NAME CLEARED
ACRES

ANDERSON
BASSETT 3c0
BACKHAUS 700
BAILEY. P

BUTTENSHAW. W 3045
BAILEY. C

BUTTENSHAW. E

COONEY

cox

CAMERON

CROFT

CADOW. EST _ 200
DAWSON BROS . 1112
DAWSON. J

DAWSON. A

DUNN. A

DUNN. T.M.

DILL

- DEAN. T

DEAN. J .-
DEAN. T.E. 500
DONKIN :
ENGLISH

EDGERTON

ELLARD

FACEY

FIRTH

FITZGERALD R

FOWLER

FITZGERALD A - 300
FITZGERALD. E

FLEMING 400
GAVEL J

GANNON

GOLDING

GALLOWAY

HOPE C

HOPE. ‘A.S. 100
HAMMON 100
HAMMOND 100

~ JONES.W.T:"

JONES A.S.

KENNEDY A

KENNEDY L

LOwW 300
LUDLOW 1000
LEWINGTON

LEVERSBA 400
LEONARD

LEAHY

LUNT

LUDLOW J 100

CROP
ACRES
100

400

400

- 1000

100

100
200
200
200
300
300
400

300

300

200
300

600

300

250

300
300

AREA
ACRES

1930
6500
3185
1396
5200
1137
2560
803
516
2946
2556
22567
27000
3580
5262
3183
3719
3201
4560
2560
1500
28771
4002
115%
1112
4406
2767
2240

5244

2560
2682
1240
20442
3885
8268
1862
3837
19340
8000
8000

- 2560

1447
2993
2949
13801
6887
2278
1525
1280
30000
1280
2000



NAME_,

-

MATCHETT
MOONEY. P.J.
MOGNEY. P.M,
MARSH. W
MOONEY. - O .M. Bede
MAY

MOONEY. P.J.S. .
McCORMACK
McCORMACK J
MASLIN
McDONELL
McPHILLAMY
NASH

NEIDECK
NEIDECK W
PORTER. C
PORTER
PURSEHOUSE
QUILTY
RIDLEY. G.H.
REYNOLDS. O
REYNOLDS. H
REARDON

RANRD

RECKMAN
RIDLEY & WOOD
RIDLEY S
RIDLEY. J
RICKETSON EST
RENKE
SHEPHARD. W
SHEPHARD A

SHARPE
SMITH E.E.
SMITH. C
SHITH. C.
STEWART
WEST
WILSON & CO
WILSON. L
WILSCN. C
WILSON. G
WESTION

*ARROQ EST
YERBURY. E
YERBURY. A
WAITE M
WwWOODns. G
WOODS. H.R.
WAITE J

40.
86 CLEARED
ACRES

300

1500

- 400

100
100
is50
200
700

400

400
5000
2000

800

600

1000

CROP

ACRES

100
1200

BOO
400

400

400
500

1300

150
1500
300
500

2000
1000

300

400
500

AREA
ACRES

59000
14200
4000
6000
5143
2489
4591
2649
6228
13000
3785
12642
1647
2560
2560
1351
8456
770
2989
117638
740
- 853
3548
10121
1937
2815
5120
2588
25000
1708
804
2746
770
19S50
1650
2189
2448

13965

42500
3016
2560
2051
2560

42313
1843
1889
6510
2584
2560
3405
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LAKE COWAL.

Boolambayte:- The great rains in N.S.W. last month swelled
the Lachlan River until it burst the confines of its banks
and spread the water over the plains to f£ill Lake Cowal.
This inland sea is a spasmodic affair, and exists in name
more often than in actuality, like all western lakes, save
Lake Cudgellico. When the rains of 1915 and 1916 flooded the
inland rivers, Lake Cowal filled for the first time for some
12 or 13 years, but the long dry spell during 1918-19 saw
its waters vanish completely. This lake is merely a shallow
depression, some 69000 acres in area, and when the basin is
filled, the greatest depth is only about 4 feet. In early
days and ordinary flood in the Lachlan would send a strong
.stream through Gatenby's Jemalong station into the lake,
and, so a consequence, it was very often full. When the
Forbes-Condobolin road was formed and N.A. Gatenby went in
for irrigation, the embankments and barriers so created
obstructed the flow until it required a heavy flood to

. divert any considerable volume of water along the Bland to
the Lake. The area indendated by these floods soon dries up
in the fierce heat of the western summers, leaving excellent
pasturage in the huge basin. This land is held by Samuel
Wilson, a typical western squatter of the old school, and
his enormous run, probably the largest in the Central-west,
is called Lake Cowal Station. It lies near the overflow3
between the Bland and the Mirrocl and save for the lake and
a few isolated hills, is genuine plain country. The recent
flow from the Lachlan has inundated about 25000 acres of the
lake bed, and for 12 months there will be a fine, but
shallow sheet of water there.

Then, unless heavy rains come next winter it will be dry
pasture land. But during its days of fullness, Lake Cowal is
a paradise for the naturalist.

Every variety of ‘water birds that the back country knows
finds a temporary habitat along its grassy fringe, and on
its reed strewn basin. In 1916 I saw 3 million of teal,
mallard, black and wood duck black swans in clouds,
pglicans, cranes, shags and those wonders of the water, the
wingless musk-duck. Shooters slaughtered ducks in thousands
for food and sport, but the numbers never decreased.

Whence the birds came so suddenly, or whither departed when
Fhe lake dried ups is one of the mysteries of the
inexplicable western bush.



LAKE COWAL.
by S.WILSON.

The date of the earliest settler at Lake Cowal is
unknown, but would be probably be prior to 1830.

James Marsden 'took up' this station, also Billabong
Station, joining the village of Marsden, called after him,
and which for over forty years was called Marsden's. Lake
Cowal Station was sold by Marsden to Clarence and Kennedy,
and they sold it to Ricketson and Shinn about 1876, and the
latter sold it to Samuel Wilson, of Lima Station, Benalla,
in 1880, since which it had been held by our family.

Caragabel Station, surrounding Marsden, was taken up by
Gibson about 70 years ago, -and Fred Faithful Gibson held it
till his death, and his beneficiaries still hold it.
Morangorell Station on the Bland, was taken up by Donald
McGregor prior to 1850. He sent a load of hay to Forbes gold
rush, getting up to threée shillings per pound for it.

The name, Cowal means "lake™ in Aboriginal language.
Youngee means the "mallee hen™. Wamboyne means "kanga:oo
Nerang means "small"™. Morangerell means “"white cockatoo”
Borongerell means "bird"”.

The pioneers of the Bland were: Cartwright, Marsden,
Gibsons, McGregor; McNamaras, Caldwell, Jamiesons,
Chisholms. Willliam Jamieson still lives at Back Creek,
Wyalong and could give interesting early history. Steve
Caldwell bought Moonbucca in 1894. James white took up
Burrangong, where the town of Young now is, in 1819.

Mrs Sarah Musgrave is said to be the first white child
born at Young, and she is still alive.

Rabbits were first seen in 1886, and within ten years
there were hundreds of thousands of thenm.

The Aborigines had large camps on the site of the
present Lake Cowal Station Homestead, which is on an
elevation of about twenty feet above the Lake, and was
evidently once a volcano. Numerous middens were about here.
Lake Cowal, containing four hundred thousand acres, and
eight feet six inches deep when full, was at one time much
. deeper than ‘it now is, as at a depth of twenty four feet
below the ground surface one finds the identical coarse sand
that abounds on the huge sand bank,

There is a rock island in the Lake about 76 feet above
high water level. The rock is mostly slate, but old Devonian
rock appears at the northern end, and on the north littoral
there is "plum pudding”™ stone.

Wamboyne Hill, lying two miles west of the Lake, 1is
sandstone granite. Manna Mountain, four miles north of the
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Lake, is granite, with some quartz and sandstone. Billy's
Lookout Hill is granite and quartz, and a considerable
amount of alluvial gold had been obtained on the Eastern
slopes of it.

West Wyalong, 24 miles west of Lake Cowal, had rich
veins of gold, and the mining lasted 26 years, but is now

worked out.
Grey kangaroos were exceedingly numerous in 1880-84,

and over 15,000 were yarded and killed here. There -are
probably not 20 alive now. There were no red or blue
kangaroos on this western side of the Lake, though on the
eastern side they were numerous, and still are. There were a
few wallabies here once, and probably some scrub wallaby.
Paddymelons were plentiful, but now extinct. Bulbys were
once numerous. Emus were numerous and still are plentiful.
There were a lot of dingoes, but they are now extinct.

copy taken from R.A.H.S. Journal and

Proceedings-
Volume VIII - 1923. Page 373 & ff.
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WRITTEN BY LESLIE WILSON

Corran was taken up by my father, Samuel Wilson as a
Settlement Lease of 2560 acres (26/3/1895 Cowal & Gipps)The
capital value was £1.0.0 per acre.

Chas was born at Corran 1857

He had the homestead and stables built and the timber was
cut and milled at Lake Cowal and the cost was S/- per
hundred super feet, dressed.

Father sold Corran to his nephew Samuel Stewart for £1300
on a walk in.walk out basis. Sam Stewart took over a
mortgage on Corran amounting to E£800 and agreed to pay
. Father the balance of 5500 spread over five years free of
interest.

At a later date Sam Stewart took up an additional area of
1500 aacres adjoining the southern'séundary of Corran.
About 1908 Sam sold Corran and the additional 1500 acres
to 5.J. Stanford from South RAustralia for about 17/6 per
acre present title. ” )

In 1913 Stanford sold the additional area of 1500 acres to
Dean for around £2.0.0 per acre and at the end of the same
year my Father bought the original area of 2560 acres on
my behalf at £2.0.0 per acre present title

In 1914 I made application to convert the 2560 acres of
settlement lease to conditional purchase at a capital
value of 20/- per acre and after a delay of about two years
my application came before the Land Court and was granted.
In 1320 I bought 420 acres known as “Clearys" froa the
late Chas West at £2.0.0 per acre present title and in 1926
I sold Corran and Clearys to T Skinnick for E5.0.0 per
acre present title at that time there was 8/~ per acre
owing to the Crown on 2560 acres and I have no record of
the amount owing on the 420 acres known as "Clearys"”

I left there in June 1926 and did not see the place again
;ill October 1958.

I took delivery of the property known as “Malboona“ 915
miles west o©f Mudgee) in March 1927 and. had a number of
unpacked cases stored in a shed there. This shed was
burnt down one night and all my diaries dating from 1914
and a lot of my records were destroyed which accounts for

a certain amount of vagueness in this record.
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Corran was named after a farm on the Isle of Bute which is
owned by my Mother's family. I understand that all the
balance of the island is owned by the Marquis of Bute.

The Corran homestead is built on ground which was
originally covered with a dense growth of small pine trees.
The plan of the house is the same as a homestead:  owned by

my grandfather near Benalla in Victoria.
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NEWSPAPER CUTTING.
9.2.1925

U.S.A. - LAKE COWAL
KDHA HEARD PLAINLY
WEST WYALONG, MONDAY

Exceptional results in the reception of long distance
wireless signals were received on Friday night between 8 and
9 o'clock when Leslie M. Wilson at Lake Cowal Station
received music and speech broadcast from KDHA,

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, without using aerial or earth.
Owing to very bad atmospherical conditions little of the
speech was understandable, but many melodies were easily
recognisable, including "Killarney".

A low-loss two value set, with coils designed and
constructed by .the owner was used. With the aerial and earth
connected the music was heard 1S5S feet from the loud speaker.
" Lake Cowal is 250 miles from Sydney.



LESLIE WILSON
WIRELESS ROOM LARKE COWAL STATION

LESLIE WILSON
MOTOR FOR WIRELESS AT “CORRAN"
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WATER FRCOM LAKE COWAL T0 WYALONG.

During May, 1895, a project was afoot to bring water to
Wyalong from Lake Cowal. Mr. R.O.Ffrench made preliminary
investigations as to the best route, etc., and Mr Campbell,
a licensed surveyor,. was to ascertain the difference in
elevation between the two places. When this was done a more
definite report was to be submitted on the scheme. Mr
Ffrench stated that no difficulty would be encountered to
raise the required capital.

In the report of the. Sectional Committee, June 1895,
regarding Temora to Wyalong railway, Mr Gough, in his
evidence said he thought that if water from Lake Cowal was
lain on to the Wyalong field, a pipe might be laid to the
range- where Billy's Lookout was situated and gravitation
would carry it from there to Wyalong. Mr R.J.Campbell,
surveyor, said he had made a survey of the line of water
supply from the neighbourhood of Lake Cowal to Wyalong West.
The plan showed a route via the Wyrra Mountains, near Mr
Carter's house on the Billabong, but he had no knowledge of
the cost of the work of putting down pipes etc. He said he
knew the.country between Lake Cowal and Wyalong. About half
of it, that next to Lake Cowal, was good agricultural land,
but the part between Wyalong and that named is inferior
except odd places suitable for agriculture.

Sergeant of Police and Mining Registrar, Sgt. McHardy,
said that claims were being taken up in various localities,
such as Sandy Creek and Billy's Lookout. Those places did
their business with Wyalong. There was also'a large area of
country close to Wyalong which has not been prospected. Sgt.
McHardy thought a permanent supply of water would do more to
develecp the field than a railway would.

The synopsis of the report regarding the feasibility
of obtaining a water supply from Lake Cowal, prepared by Mr.
Campbell under instructions of Mr Ffrench stated:" The
nearest point to the southwestern shore of the lake from
Wyalong West is N33 degrees E and 21 miles distant. A line
in this direction would pass over country with out any
elevation of sufficient height to admit the gravitation and
supply of water into Wyalong and is, therefore, though
short, no practicable as part of the proposed scheme.

"A line passing from the centre of the lake to Billy's
Lookout which is distant 10 and a half miles form deep water
if carried to Wyalong West 15 and three quarter miles, would
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require a total of 26 and one quarter miles of pipe..
Billy's Lookout is an abrupt elevation of decomposed granite
rising to a height of about 400 feet above the level of the
lake and a considerably higher elevation the Wyalong. The
route is objectionable, partly on account of the great
distance to be covered, also owing to the non-permanent
character of the supply from the lake itself. A shorter
route, and a more desirable one in many respects, would
commence on.the Bland Creek above where the waters of the
lake spread out during flood periods.- This route passes over
level country and the ascent is gradual from the spur on the
Wyrra range, where the elevation would probably be about 300
feet above the starting point , a distance of 10 and a half
miles form there. From there to Wyalong West would be twelve
and a half miles, or twenty three and a half miles in all.
This line seems to be the best, for several reasons. The
_source of supply is permanent, the creek at this point not
being dry for over twenty years. The water there is always
pure and sweet, which is not .the case with the waters of the
lake. The distance is shorter than by Billy‘'s Loockout and
the elevation on the Wyrxa range is sufficient for the
purposes required with the line passing almost entirely
through Crown Lands.

"The country passed over is open box and pine.forest to
the foot of the Wyrra range, the soil being moderately stiff
clayey loam. Within the slopes of the range the line would
pass through iromnbark, pine, oak, box and over dense scrub
and loose conglomerate soil. From there to Wyalong the
timber is box, mallee and scrub, the soil being a stiff,
clayey loam. Timber of good quality is obtainable in the
vicinity of the forest on the Wyrra range, the line passing
for a considerable distance through a Government forest
Ieserve. The starting point on Bland Creek is on a
Government water reserve and the banks of the creek are
sufficiently above flood mark to permit of buildings and
machinery being safely placed there. Lake Cowal, although
presenting a very fine appearance as an expanse of water, is
not to be relied on as a permanent source of water supply.
Its greatest depth when quite full is 14 feet. After that it
overflows at the north west end into Manna Creek, it was
quite dry for nearly two years between 1883 and 1885, and in
consequence of its shallowness, the water is rendered impure
by the constant disturbance by the waves of the sedimentary
beds of vegetable matter. Wild fowl excrement, weeds etc.
Yotld probably choke the pipe which would be laid in the

ake.
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"I, therefore, think that the most practicable route is
one form Bland Creek via Wyrra Range and thence to Wyalong
West. Of course, my estimate regarding the height of Billy's
Lookout and the Wyrra Range is liable to rectification when
the levels are properly taken. This work should be carried
out at once in order that this data shall be obtained before
the scheme is finally decided upon".

Mr J.B. Reymond, Member for the Electorate of
Ashburnham, was in Wyalong for some days during December,
1895. Members of the Progress Committee of West Wyalong
conferred with him on the proposed water supply from Lake
Cowal to Wyalong. Members of the committee submitted that
the scheme was the ohly one likely to give permanent
results. He said the Government was fooling away money in
unproductive works while, if it could be shown that this
scheme would give anything like payable results, it must
receive favourable consideration. He read a letter from Mr.
C.McPhillamy of Warroo with regard teo bringing water form
the Lachlan to Lake Cowal, in which it was shown the natural
flow of the water from the river could be used to f£ill Lake
Cowal much more than was being done.

Mr Reymond said he felt sure any proposal to bring
water from Lake Cowal to Wyalong would have to be part of a
comprehensive water conservation scheme and such a scheme
was being formulated.



A TRIF TO LAKE COWAL

A correspondent in the Wyalong Star, August 15, 1895,
under the name of "The Vag", wrote the following report on a
trip he had made to Lake Cowal: "Lake Cowal is a local Tom
Tiddlers ground, the natural point for a picnicker, the
sportsman, the budding artist, the adventure seeker, the
blase and the impressionist. This it had achieved and it
merits well the distinction. Argiculturally it is as yet an
undeveloped bonanza. Industrially also it has unlimited
water supply and great possibilities in the far future. As a
repository of valuable minerals rapidly making its way to
"the front, let us further see how it is rapidly fulfilling
its inevitable destiny.

"About 30 miles by five or six miles, it is best
reached from Wyalong by a sandy creek and Billy's Lookout.
Taking a northerly track from Billy's Lookout, some five
miles through fairly open country, carrying very likely
-looking soil for cereals,- but quite bare of feed at present,
brings us in sight of the lake, which forms a large portion -
of Messrs Wilson and Stewart's Lake Cowal Station. Its
argicultural aspect is quite fair, arable soil everywhere,
quite rich in places. On the lake bank, half a mile to a
mile in width of rich alluvial, which with reef clay,
capable of growing anything in creation with this climate
and judicious irrigation, it is especially suitable for vine
and fruit culture. .

"To what extent is it now utilised? It supports about a
quarter of a sheep and five thousand rabbits to the acre.
Both are museum specimens, for opposite reasons. The sheep
rattle like castanets and the rabbits ar aldermanic
quadrupeds - too fat for sport and only useful for boomerang

practice. ;
"All around the lake and the Bland district feed is as

bare as your hand, and most of the stations are travelling
their sheep southwards to the Tumbarumba plains or north to
the Lachlan country, where some of the river flats around
Condobolin and Forbes still have a little herbage left and

more is springing from the last rains...... Even as I write
alluvial discoveries are reported from Billly's Lookout
----5S0il, gold and water unlimited -- what bright destiny

might not be promised for the lake district?"
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From the memories of Mr.W.J.English and
Mr.A.L.Martin.



PERSONALITIES

Coupled with Marsden, the Lake Cowal district has a
background of distinction for the numbers of its citizens
who have held important positions in public life. The
district can boast of two Members of Parliament. (George
Wilson was holding the State seat of Dubbo at the time of-
his death); shire presidents; eight or nine show society
present, number of show committeemen and ‘many others who
have held office in publlc affairs.

SAMUEL WILSON. -

Samuel Wilson was associated with the ownership of Lake
Cowal station for half a century, and he resided there for
-practically the whole of period. During the later-years,
Leslie, George, Charles and Basil Wilson were associated .
with their father on the station. Leslie, George 'and Charles
had also acquired separate properties. Samuel Wilson was the
chairman of the temporary shire council, pending the
official incorporation of the Shire of Bland. He was also
the foundation president of the West Wyalong P.A.H. and I.
Association. A further term of office was served by him as a
councillor on the Bland Shire Council. He took and active
interest in the public affairs of the district and gave much
valued support to all the patriotic movement during World
War I. A keen supporter of the Billy's Lookout schocl, he
always attended the annual break-ups for the Christmas
vacations. Besides giving the school prizes, Mr Wilson would
give a lecture on some interesting subject.

ERNEBST ALBERT BUTTENSHAN.

Ernest Albert Buttenshaw was the owner of Ellerslie for
a period of years. He entered public affairs when a young
man. Ernie Buttenshaw, as he was familiarly known throughout
the district, contested and won the former State Parliament
seat of Lachlan about 1917, as a Progressive Party
candidate. A breakaway occurred within the ranks of the
Progressives during the early period of the 1920°'s.
Buttenshaw was one of the seven party members who remained
loyal to the party. They were known as the seven "true
blues™. From this breakaway a new party emerged and from
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then on was known as the Country Party. The new party was
lead by Colonel Michael Bruxner. It was during the tern of
the Deputy Premiership of Colonel Bruxner that Mr Buttenshaw
attained cabinet rank as Minister for Works and Railways.
When Colonel Bruxner retired from active politics, Mr
Buttenshaw was elevated to the position of Leader of the
Country Party. During the absence of the Premier, Sir Thomas
Bavin, on a mission overseas Mr Buttenshaw was the Acting
Premier. At a later period he became Minister for Lands.
During his youth, Ernie Buttenshaw was a keen follower of
cricket and tennis and he participated in these sports at
most of the surrounding centres where clubs existed.

CHARLES WRST.

A typical rugged pioneer, Charles West was a man of
stamina and endurance. He_ came to Lake View before the turn
of the century, with his young wife, who was 20 years of
age. Charles West was a strong supporter of the West Wyalong
Show Society. He was a member of the general committee for a
period of years. In his young days, Charles was a "gun”
blade shearer and had the reputation of belng a "200 a day"”
man. Besides sheep, he took a keen interest in wheatgrowing
and was the biggest grower in the Lake Cowal area. West
never drank, nor did he smoke. He always attributed his good
health and physical condltlon to his abstention from the
common habits.

WILLYAM BUTTENSHAW

William A. Buttenshaw was known throughout the district
as one of the moést honest of gentlemen. He vied with Samuel
Wilson for the longest terms of presidency of the show
society, topping the list with nine terms of office. Wilson
had eight terms. The three sons of William Buttenshaw are
past presidents of the show society.

JAMES PATON.

Born in Glasgow Scotland in 1885, James Paton, who had
been a law clerk on the Caledonia Railway Company, came to
Australia in 1908 to Lake Cowal Station. With a true
pioneering spirit he adapted himself to life on the land,
with a love of horses and growing crops. he had a strong
mechanical bent, was a prolific reader, with a special
interest in parliamentary law. He was a Justice of the
_ Peace, a member of the Local Land Board, a trustee of the
- Clear Ridge hall and the instigator of the Clear Ridge
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School. A railway league which was successful in persuading
rhe government to build the Euglo (Burcherj line, was
founded by him. He was the sponsor and campaign director for
four local men who entered politics. They were Messrs George
wilscn, E.A. Buttenshaw, Hugh Roberton and G.P. Evans. On
the =xecutive of the Country Party, he also worked for the
Wheat Stabkilisation Scheme and served for some y=ars con the
Wast Wyalong F.A.H. and I.Association committee. He was a
mamber of Masonic Lodges, a trustee of Billiy's Lookout hall
and school. During World War II he was a member of the
Yolunteer Defence Corps mounted Regiment. Mr Paton, who
. died at the age of 57 years, entered in possession of his
"Beuliah™ property Clear Ridge in 1928.
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SAMUEL WILSON




BUTTENSHAW

JAMES: ROSALIE JASPRIZZA: ERNEST
MARY LLOYD: WILLIAM

MARY (WEST) HENRY NURSING IRENE SIMPK!:
VICTOR
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MARSDEN.

The name Marsden was taken from Mr. James Marsden, who
took up a run of country (Bland Billabong) here in 1852.
wWhen the village was first established about 1866,it took
the name Marsdens, from the fact that the country was known
as Marsden's country. This persisted until changed to
Marsden in 1912. )

It has no connection with the Rev. Samuel Marsden, who
arrived in Australia in 1794 and died at Windsor in May
1838.-

A A Post Office was connected by Telegraph to Morangorell
and Young in 1875, the poles for this line being carted by
Mr. William Hughes (1830-1916) of Thuddungra. (A relative of
the 1970 Cowra road Hughes family).

' By this time the Police Station was erected, but it was
not until 21st July 1879 that the first Court of Petty
Sessions was established at Marsden. Mr.S.Robinson being the
Stipendary Magistrate at the time.

It appears that the first Hotel was erected. before
1866, probably the first building at Marsden.

A public meeting was held in January 1882 to erect a
school, as there were enough children to secure a school
from the Department. The meeting collected Thirty Pounds
towards building their own school at the time.

This was erected in 1883 and shops and houses were being
added and the 'Royal' Hotel was being rebuilt after a fire
in March 1882. This hotel was owned by Mr. Curry, who later
had the Criterion at Grenfell.

The Police Magistrate was holding a monthly court at
Marsden in 1883 and Miss Hill was the teacher at Marsden
School in 1883.

At that time the nearest hospital and doctor was at
Grenfell, which was really going ahead in 1883.

) It is not known who had the hotel at Marsden in
1884,but Mr. Maurice Paice had the Bimbi Hotel at Sandy
Creek crossing at the junction of roads from Young,
Morangorell, Young and Bland.

The Welcome Home hotel on Grenfell Road, Wheeogo, was
ran by Mr. J.D:Brenner. (later Bristow's).

The railway line from Murrumburrah to Young was not
completed until 1885, the next nearest rail-head was a
Blaymey.

Young and Cowra were connected in 1886 and on to
Blayney by 1888 which gave those from Marsden a train to
Sydney for produce after they had travelled either to Young
or Cowra.

The discovery of gold at Wyalong in 1893 and the
beginning of a town there, detracted from the importance of
Marsden as a centre.
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They were hoping that the line coming to Grenfell from
Koorawatha in 1899 would continue on through the Bland to
Wyalong, via Marsden but the Government of the day decided
that a line from Temora to Wyalong would be best and this
was constructed in 1903-04.

The Grenfell- Koorawatha line was opened in 1901. Coach
fare Grenfell to Marsden in 1898 was fifteen shillings each.
In 1903 Marsden had two stores, Post and Telegraph

Office, Police Station, Court House and gaol and the Royal
Hotel kept by Mrs.. Cleary and daughter. The Bimbi Hotel in
1903 was kept by Mr.John Norton and the school there had 60
pupils. One of the first mailmen on the Grenfell—-Marsden run
was Mr. Alex Fraser, sometime before 1882 and Mr. Thomas
Maguire ran the Marsden-Morangorell mail for many years up
to about 1934. Weddin Shire Council was formed in 1906 and
the town of Marsden was right on the western edge of the
Shire boundary, between Weddin and Bland Shires.

Agitation commenced for the Forbes—Stockinbingal
railway line in 1907 and many were the arguments in favor of
a Grenfell-Wyaleong line instead, through Piney Range or
Bimbi. These arguments continued until February 1912, when a
start was made on the Forbes—Stockinbingal line at
Stockinbingal.

This was the beginning of the end of Marsden townshlp,
with motor cars being introduced into the district in about
1803 and roads getting better, more and more people were
shopping in the bigger centres. At the same time the
township of Bimbi was growing and taking more and more .
business from Marsden, by 1912. By 1916 the line had been
constructed from Stockinbingal to Caragabal where a new
township sprang up and a license granted for a proposed new
hotel there. This again took away from Marsden, and more so
when it was completed right through to Forbes by 1917. The
route of the line affected Bimbi as well as Marsden and
Quandialla and Caragabal took over as the leading town in’
the area.

The Police Station closed 20.4.1931.

In 1970 Mrs. J. Martin lives in the old Court House—
Police Station and gaol at Marsden, but little ‘else remains
of the one time thriving township of the 1880s.

taken from: “Marsden Township"” 1866~1970.
Grenfell Historical Society.
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MARSDENS POST OFFICE AND MAIL ROUNS.

Early postal records show that in a letter written on 30th
April, 1866, Mr. Henry H. Cooke of Bland Billabong,
requested that he be appointed as Postmaster in that
locality ( later known as Marsdens). Mr Cooke's letter read,
in part as follows; “Sir - Having seen that Tenders are
invited for the carrying of a weekly mail, from Morangarell
to Mr. Marsden's Station on the Billabong Creek, I beg most
respectively ( when such mail is established) to solicit the
designation of Postmaster at this place. It may be well to
state, that within a guarter of a mile of Mr Marsden's, I
have a building in the course of erection, which is to be
completed by the 20th or 21st of May when I intend opening a
general store, on the newly surveyed reserve for a
Government Township.” This letter of application-was
supported by two testimonials "from Gentlemen to whom I am
personally known”. One was from Mr. W.Farrand, Postmaster at
Forbes and the other from Johnson C. King, also of Forbes.
Both persons regarding Mr Cooke as "Steady, trustworthy,
respectable, and in every way eligible for the appointment”.

Marsden's Post Office was opened on 1lst June, 1866 and Mr
Cooke was appointed as Postmaster at a salary of Twelve
Pound per year. On 26th September, 1867, Mr Cooke resigned
and Robert Butler, who purchased Mr Cooke's business, was
appointed Postmaster. )

In a report, dated 21lst July, 1868, submitted by Postal
Inspector Moyse, it was stated that the Post Office at
Marsdens was destroyed by fire on 4th January, 1868, and
"nothing saved but seal, date stamps and type; the handles
of which are burnt®. Following the resignation of Robert
‘Butler, John Young was appointed as Postmaster on 1lst
September, 1875.

A petition, dated 3rd December, 1877, and signed by 15
persons, requested that the Marsdens Post Office be moved to
a more convenient place. (The Post Office was carried on at
a2 hotel following the fire.) This petition was forwarded to
the Postmaster-General on 14th January.1878. The petition
read as follows:- "We the undersigned, receiving our
letters and papers through the Marsdens Post Office, beg
leave respectfully to state, that the present Marsdens Post
Office is inconveniently situated and is one and a half
miles distant from the township, and in our opinion,
injudiciously kept at a public house, thereby tempting the
station men and other servants sent with and for our
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letters, to indulge in drink, and otherways delay in
returning home.

Reporting on this petition Postal Inspector Buchanan
stated:- %At present I see no reason for removing the
Office. The petition is, it appears, in the handwriting of
Kelly, the applicant for the office, and I can find but two

of the names as residents of Marsdens.”

A telegraph line had been constructed from Young to
Morangarell during 1877; and the line between Morangarell
and Marsdens was reported as being under construction in
1878. The date on which the telegraph office was opened at
Marsdens is not known. The Telegraph Station Master, John M.
Shannon, was appointed to Marsden on 17th January, 1879.
However, the Station Masters were often appointed some weeks
prior to the opening of the telegraph stations. Adthough a
policy of amalgamation of post and telegraph offices was
being implemented at the time, it was not unusual for the

" telegraph coffices to be opened in separate premises.

When Postal Inspector Buchanan recommended on 30th January,
1879, that the Telegraph Station Master alsoc undertake the
duties of Postmaster, it is possible that John M. Shannon
had not taken duty as Telegraph Station Master. The
Inspector said:— "As a Station Master has been appointed to

. the Telegraph Office at Marsdens., it would be well that he

should undertake the duties of Postmaster also. There is a
feeling of jealousy respecting the present holder of the
office which would be done away with. If my proposition is
approved, it would give satisfaction to the general body of
the people in this locality.” This recommendation was
accepted and Mr. J.M. Shannon was appointed Post and
Telegraph Master on lst April, 1879. As Telegraph Master he
was paid one hundred and fifty pound per annum by the
Telegraph Department. Usually the Post and Telegraph
Masters' salaries were paid jointly by the Postal and
Telegraph Departments. However, in the case of Mr Shannon
the one hundred and fifty pound paid by the Telegraph
Department was considered adequate and he did not receive a
postal salary.

The Postmaster in a letter addressed to the Secretary
requested that Mr. J. Chief's offer to rent or purchase of
premises to be used as a Post and Telegraph Office ‘as
accepted as the present building was unsuitable. The
Postmaster's letter res; " I respectfully beg to submit for
your conslderation, enclosed proposal from Mr Kelly. The
present building used as post and telegraph office is in
very Insecure. It is built of split rails many of which have
shrunk so much as to leave apertures large enough to admit &



64.

110

man's body. The rent of the present building in Twenty six
pound per annum and of that offered by Mr Kelly Thirty pound
per annum. The number of registered letters passing through
this office require greater protection than the insecurity .
of the present office affords.” And Mr. Kelly's offer was:-
"I beg to offer for sale or to .rent my premises on allotment
4, section 10, Bimbella Street which consist of a four
roomed cottage sawn timber iron roof 21x21 feet with
-detached kitchen 12x8 and necessary for the sum if total
sale, One hundred and thirty pound - including allotment or
at a rental of Thirty pounds per annum.
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PERSORALITIES

TEOMAS WILLIAMS:Mine host of the Pig and Whistle at the "Two
Mile™ which fronted the Forbes Road at the original
villiage. Tom and Mrs Williams were maternal- grandparents of
the well Known Bodel family at Mallee Plains. Mrs Bodel snr
was Kitty Williams and was born at Marsdens, as were also he
sister Mary and brother .George. Young George was tragically
killed when a water tank slipped from a dray. The Williams
family came to Marsdens about 1866 and during 1873, Mr
Williams moved his hotel to a site 18 miles farther upstream
on the Bland Creek from Marsdens. The site became known as
Williams's Crossing, which was situated at the intersecticn
of the Morangarell and Bimbi Roads. The hotel was named The
Travellers Rest. ; )

WILLTAM MARTIR Snr: Listed in an early Directory of N.S.W.
as a blacksmith and photographer, he was a well known
identity during the early days of Marsden. Horses for
shoeing, and vehicles for repairs, were brought to his
smithy at Marsdens from distant areas - even west of
Ungarie. Bill and Mrs Martin reared a family of ten, five
sons and five daughters, at Marsdens. As a Justice f Peace,
William Martin presided at the Marsdens Court of Petty
Sessions. A family reunion was held at the Marsden home of
Jack and Mrs Martin in 1955.

The average age of the family at that date was 64 years.

Some of the early family history was revealed at the
function. The late parents had come to Marsden about 75
years previously, and reared their large family at the
village. When a brass band was organised at Marsden, the
father made‘*a drum from a goat skin for the band When

William and Mrs Martin died, they were buried in the Wyalong
cemetery. One date was 1918.

J.B. DONKIQ; Mr J.B. Donkin was the owner of the station
known as Donkin's Lake Cowal. J.B. and Mrs Donkin were well
known personalities throughout the Marsden and surrounding
districts. They were always generous supporters of any
charitable or worthy cause. The station homestead was
situated on the eastern banks of the Bland Creek, downstream
Marsden near the bend called Fisherman's Bend. The vicinity
of the homestead, for many years, was the scene of an annual
picnic for all the Marsden children. Every child attending
the picnic was presented with a prize. Periodic visits to
the Donkin homestead wee made by some of the Governors of
N.S.W. The Governors were always provided with a police
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escort to and from the station. The last Governor to visit
the station was Sir Harry Rawson. Mr Donkin was the first
resident of Marsden to own a motor car. The car was
delivered to Wyalong by rail, and at various periods, was
truciéd,back to Sydney for use during visits to the city.

JOHN THOMAS KELLY: Familiarly known as "Pop™ Kelly. He was
the father of Mrs Curry and her twin sister, Mrs Sutcliffe,
Senr. of Wyalong. "Pop™ Kelly was a hawker by trade when he
first arrived at Marsdens. Apparently he was a man with some
education as he had been the Marsdens correspondent to one
of the Wyalong newspapers for a number of years. Kelly died
in 1905, at Cottingly, in the Mallee Plains district, where
Mrs Sutcliffe was resident at that period. He was buried in
the Wyalong cemetery. -

JACK MARTIN: one of the sons of William Martin Snr., was a
well known personality at all the local dance halls in the
role of M.C. Jack's masterpiece was his ability in putting
the dancers through the sets of the old-time square dances.
The most popular square dance was the Lancers, followed by
the Alberts and Quadrilles.

During his later life, Jack Martin acquired some of the
smaller blocks of land that were situated adjacent to
Marsden, and carried on farming and grazing pursuits until
his death.

~

SYDNEY BUDGE SNR: Was a station hand on Caragabal Station
for 45 years, during the ownership period of F.F.Gibson. As
a token of esteem for his long period of service on the 3
station the late F.Gibson bequeathed to him a small block of
land adjacent to the villiage of Marsden, where Syd built a
cottage. During the years of his retirement Syd was a well
known barracker of the local sporting fixtures, especially
cricket and tennis matches. Just a s the Sydney Cricket
Ground had its "Yabber”, so did Marsden have its Syd Budge.
Three member of the family still live in the Marsden
district.Frank Jack and Ethel live at Caragabal, Zeta (Mrs
George Boneham) at Billabong (1972).

MRS. "GRANNY" WATT: Remembered as one of the grandest of
women in the pioneering days. Mrs Watt was affectionately
endeared to all - young and old- as "Granny”. During her
life Mrs Watt was married three times, two of her husbands
(Powell and Walker) having predeceased her. Before moving to
the villiage. It is not known whether she ran the shanty or
not. Granny Watt was midwife to most of the children born



there. She was always at the bedside of the sick, and ready
to help those in distress. Mrs Watt was a grandmother of the
Budge family. She died about 1912, and was buried in the

Marsden -cemetery.

SUSAN TAYEB: Was a wandering nomad. Periodically Susan would
walk from Young to Marsden, a distance of 70 miles. On
arrival, she would quench her thirst with a few beers, have
a rest, then start on the return walk to Young.
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BILLYS LOOKQUT.

Billys Lookout was between Wamboyne and Lake Cowal, and it
experienced a gold rush just after Wyalong goldfields were
discovered, although gold haad been mined there
intermittently between 1873 and 1894.

The name Billys (Billies) Lookout is said to have originated
from a tragedy that occurred in the area. A young man named
Billie and an older man were droving cattle in the area for
Samuel Wilson, when Billie’s horse bolted, and he was struck
by an overhanging limb of a tree. When they returned to the
station to report the accident he was in a state of - shock,
and kept repeating, "I said 'Billie, lookout.' "

The Town and Country Journal, dated 2 June, 1894 states
that: "The o0ld mining camp at Billie's Lookout had lately
quite a new lease of 1life and seems likely to become a
permanent township. Two stores have been built and are in
full swving and other business places are being erected.

There are about 300 men hexre and prospecting is being
carried out very energetically. There are a few parties on
gold Dbut not to any great extent - simply tucker and a few
shillings.™ . -~ : - ‘

Neil White Snr and Ned Barris played a prominent part in the
discovery of gold at Billys Lookout. At the beginning of
April, 1885 a report stated that in addition to the initial
claims, three more claims had bottomed on the run of gold.
The whole valley was pegged out and other gullies were
vigorously prospected and there were four or five reefs with
fair gold. Neil White and party were working a promising
reef 18 inches to 2 feet wide. One shaft was down 90 feet to
vater 1level and others were down 70 feet and 30 feet. The
three shafts were being sunk to the same level vwhen
connecting drives were put in and the stopping of water
commenced. About 50 tons of fair stone had been brought to
the surface.

From the workings at County of Gipps, Parish of Coringle, No
132 on Map, $2240 worth of gold was found (value in 1967).
At least 2.17 kg of gold was found at an average of 9
grams/ton. There were shafts drives and shallow pits for a
length of 400 metres by 100 metres wide. The sedimentary
soils vere silt, clay, sand, granite sediment, quartz
pebbles and boulders. The alluvial gold was derived from
unworked veins in the surrounding hills.

In the mine known as the Billys Lookout Reef (County of
Gipps, Parish of Corringle, Portion 53, No 130 on the Map),
shafts and drives were driven for a length of 200 metres and
vidth of 30 metres. In 1894 the major primary materials were
reported to be gold and pyrite, and the minor primary
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matef}al was galena. Cowthorns and party were working this
reef.

other mines in the Parish of Coringle (Nos 127 and 128 on
the Map) also produced some gold but the amounts are

unknown.

Billys Lookout had a hall and business houses, and social
i1jife included concerts, dances and cricket matches with the
neighbouring teams at Marsdens and. Wamboyne. Messrs Wilson
and Stewart of Lake Cowal Station were President and
Vvice-President of the Billys Lookout Cricket Club.

on 16 August, 1895, there was a concert at Billys Lookout to
celebrate the erection of a hall for the Miners' Club. This
was followed by a dance "with an excellent supper™. Dancing
continued until 8 a.m. Following the concert Mr Morris,
President and an old identity, and Mr Neil White addressed a
large crowd of members and residents in the hall, which had
been decorated by “ladies and gentlemen of the township".

In November, 1895 the Department of Education made a grant
of £5 to the Billys Lookout Progress Association: for the
erection of a bark school house _and furniture. Edward
Morrison was the first teacher to be appointed on 13 April,
1896. — - )

Although approximately 1000 miners and gold seekers
congregated at the Billys Lookout goldfields, the period of
winning gold was shortlived. Numerous shallow shafts - or
diggers holes - were sunk at various other sites within the
locality. However no further signs of gold bearing stone
were discovered.

Robert Brenner operated a battery on the field and zlso
conducted the only licensed hotel - which was closed in
1303 . There were possibly a number of shanties -on the
goldfield because it is recorded that on a Saturday ‘hight in
September 1895 there was a raid by the Marsdens police. Some
liguor was seized and one person was arrested. He appeared
at the Marsdens Police Court and was fined £30 or six months
in Forbes gaol.

Some of the timber from Robert Brenner's Hotel was 1later
used +to build a shed on Mr Harry Bodel's farm at nearby
Clear Ridge. Mr Clarke, who was Mrs Neil White's father,
moved his hotel from Marsden to Billys Lookout.

From Miss Wilson and
The Town & Country Journal, dated 2 June, 1894.
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"BILLY'S LOOKOUT.
History Recalled. by NEIL WHITE.

This is my first venture in print, but I shou_: like to
say something of my people, who have passed away, z-d of Mr.
Wilson and his famjly, who were good friends of my zother
while she was alive.

I consider that some of the members of the Chzmber of
Commerce have gone to far. The Lookout is mentionez in a
reading called the History of the Lachlan (written >y my
mother's father) which goes back over a hundred ye=z-s. The
region known as the Lookout meant the country from -he Fish
River to the Old Mam Plain and the Bland.

My grandfather came from England at the age < 22, and
his first residence was at Gralton's station in th= Forbes
district. Later he lived at Speck's Gap. He was a ->rse and
cattle vet and in the early days he travelled all =<izat
district. ‘ ‘

The Lookout is first mentioned in the above h:story in
the year '63 when my father laid the foundation of zis
fortunes by discovering alluvial gold there. In '6 he
selected a holding known as Pine Hill in the Forbes
district.. Ned Harris discovered reef gold at the -cokout
before my father made his find of alluvial gold. T:e first
battery in the district was erected at the Lookout.

The old Billybung Station is also mentioned i- the
readings. It was owned by James Atkins, who died 2: years
ago, at the age of 93. The Lookout later became the back
station of Billybung and was given the name of Billw's
Lookout. Some of the oldest survivors of those disz-icts
spoke of the Lookout as being one of the Rignols, <Sose
being J.B. Donkin, and Maitland, of Moonbi.

As regards the remark made about a Johnny-coms-lately,
that could apply to Mr.E.A.Buttenshaw, the man whc 1ad done
all in his power to make the place a busy centre w=th the
spirit of\a good citizen had done what he can for zae
children and young people re a little recreation, wiich
otherwise they might never have got. It was here t-ac
Mc.Buttenshaw got his first start on the land. He = so got
the right for the railway to that part. I am of the opinion
that a little honor is due to such a man. As a fai- deal to
all concerned, if the place be called any other namne but the
Lookout, it should be called Ernie‘'s Lookout."



1187L

TOWN AND COUNTRY JOURNAL 2. 6. 1894.

BILLIE'S LOOKOUT TUESDAY.

This old mining camp had lately quite a new lease of life
and seems likely to become a permanent township. Two stores
have been built and are in full swing and other business
places are being erected.

There are about 300 men here and prospectlng being carried
out very energitically.

There are a few parties on gold but not to any great extent
simply tucker gold and a few shilllings.

A numerously signed petition had been forwarded to the
Postmaster General asking that a post office may be
established, great inconvenience being felt, there being no
post office nearer than Marsden, 15 miles distant.

BILLIE'S LOOKOUT REEFS.

A correspondent at Billie's Lookout writes:- -

White and party struck a reef about three miles in a
westerly direction on May 31. The stone, a small specimen of
which had since been crushed, gives good results, some say
equal to an at Wyalong. Another reef is in McNair's
selection and Fitzgerald and party are waiting for permits
when they will start working. Prospecting for reefs is being
vigorously carried out and any one with capital coming here
will no doubt be amply repaid for the outlay.

The petition for a post office has been answered and the
postmaster from Marsden is here now making enquiries.

The weather is cold and rainy and there is plenty of water
and grass.

Aid was granted for a provisional school at Billie's Lookout
on 9.5.1895. First teacher was appointed 13.4.1896, Edward
Morrison.

Public School 16.5.1905. Department of Education letter
undated.

Y
[y

- WIALONG-STAR June-19 -:894.... .. -
from Billy's Lockout we learn that mining affairs have an
improving tendency. Hatward and son cleared up about six
loads on Friday for nearly an ounce to the load. The sinking
is 35 ft and the depth of wash over a foot.

A few others are getting gold, but in most cases the gold
bearing reef 14 inches thick at four feet from the surface
has also been found about three miles south and several
claims have been registered.

Two bakers, two butchers and two storekeepers should be able
to provide well for a population of 200 people. Taken

altogether the place has now an air of permanency which it
never before possessed.

Sy
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BLOW CLEAR.

The Wyalong Advocate dated B August: 1903 stated that a
discovery of gold bearing stone had taken place at Blow
Clear some 20 miles north of Wyalong by scrub cutters. The
stone was found on the surface and further investigations
went to show that a quartz reef is running north and south
about twelve inches wide. Samples have prospected so
satisfactorily that Brian McNamara and others have bought
two shares in the prospective Eldorado for the sum of £20.
The stone is of sugary, white quartz quality and said to
contain gold freely.

Further Mining Intelligence in the Wyalong Advocate dated 19
August, 1903 stated: The prospectors, Clarke and party are
down 20 feet on a 12 inch reef of white sugary guartz, and
have commeneed to put a crushing together. Stewart and
party, No 1 North, are on a reef about the same width, but
distinct from the prospectors reef. It is composed of flesh
coloured gquartz, opalised, and containing ironstone, and 1is
assayed at the rate of 1 oz 14 dwts gold to the ton. A good
deal of prospecting is going on in the surrounding country,
“which is also Crown Land- There is no outcrop to guide the
prospector and most of the work consists o©of trenching or
costeening. Altogether there are about 40 men working at the
new find and the adjacent country and there is plenty of
water.

On 19 September we read that Clarke and party, Stewart and
party, Leadbitter and party all have a tidy parcel of stone
paddocked.

On 7 October it was reported that John Thompson had struck a
reef at the depth of three feet about a mile south of the
prospector's claim and gold was said to be showing freely in
the reef. *

R e N

Blow Clear School, 1927
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BLOW CLEAR '
Some excellent stone from this locality has been shown

about town since Sunday and as a result there is a revival
of interest in the place. In view of this fact we have
made enguiries as to the progress being made, with the
result that we are enabled to make the following report:-
Clarke and party on the western reef are driving south on
the S0 ft level on a fair body of stone. The same party
on the weastern reef are down about 50 feet in the new
shaft on about a foot of stone. WNo. 1 north of Clarke and
party are crosscutting for the western reef at 60 ft and

expect to cut the reef any day. On the eastern reef the
same party are down about 50 ft on stone from six to
twelve inches carrying fair gold. No,. 2 north are

crosscutting for the reef. McNeill's prospecting claim
about half a mile east of Clarke.and party struck nice
gold on Saturdady last. Your representative has seen some
of the storie and can vouch for its appearance. Armstrong
and party are sinking on the reef and samples deollied show
at least an ounce prospects. Grass and water are both
plentiful at this find, and considering the moderate
number of men on the field really good work is being done.
As depth is attained it will be possible to speak with
more authority on the prospects sof the place..
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UNGARIE.

The township of Ungarie derives its name from the pastoral
holding held in 1866 by one Roger Frehilly. Its native
meaning means "thigh". The area of the pastoral station was
29440 acres with a grazing capability of 1000 head of
cattle. A small settlement began to rise to the east of the
present township and in 1892 it consisted of tvo general
stores, a Post Office, a hotel, a blacksmith's shop, a shop
and a boarding house. R.M. Mackrell ran the Post Office and
one store. The other store was run by D.A. Colbert.

'An  application was made on 30 November, 1891 for the
“establishment of a village. Surveyor Maitland reported- that
a village should be surveyed on the south bank of the Humbug
creek. Nothing was done about it until Surveyor Roberts
reported in December, ‘1892 that a suitable site could be
found on the northern side of the Humbug Creek opposite the
present town. Surveyor Maitland surveyed the village on this
site in September, 1893 and this was gazetted as the village
of Ungarie on 31 March, 1894. '

When the Wyalong-Lake Cargellico  Railway . line was’
constructed _the surveyors placed the railway station on the
side o0f the creek opposite the village. A suggestion to
extend the dboundaries of the gazetted township were approved
and duly gazetted on 27 July, 1917.
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WAMBOYNE.

The first mine put down in the district was in 1902 on the
Trig Hill in Quinlan's "Nerang Cowal State Forest”. The
Mines ©Department paid £1 per foot to have the shaft sunk by
the Ellis Brothers but there was no gold.

Gold was found in 1905 by Harry Kaiser in what 1is now the
Burcher district, formerly Wamboyne (County of Gipps, Parish
of Bena, Portion 4, No on Map 136). The workings went to a
depth of eight metres 1long and three metres wide. H.F.
Fitzgerald and party worked the mine in 1941. Up to 1967,
270 grams of gold worth $288 was produced. ’

There was guite a rush for a while and Kaiser's Hill was a
hive of activity. Harry and Alf Nelson put down a shaft on
»Wilga Vale* {No 177 on Map) and Harry Leadbitter Snr sank a
shaft on top of the hill, but there was no gold in either.
Leadbitter went to a big gully on Mark Fitzgerald's
"Uplands”. He struck a little gold at fifty feet, but went
down to ninety feet and all he found was pipe clay. This
came in handy for people for the vwhitening of their
fireplaces - they came for miles around in order to obtain
some .

Kaiser was on a good reef, but it was never a bonanza. The
ore was carted to West Wyalong by Bullock teams to be
crushed. The carriers were Jim Hughes and Herb Beazley. This
mine petered out about 1909. The. Wyalong Advocate, 18 May
1906 reported that Keyser (sic) was down 30 feet on a new
reef with 10 tons at grass which was to be treated at the
Billys Lookout Battery. It was also reported that Nelson,
Leonard, Easdale and a couple of others had not discovered
anything.

The Wamboyne Gold Mine (County of Gipps. Parish of Coringle,
Portion 12, No 133 on the Map) was first worked in 1907.
Later in 1935 G.W.J. Murray and party and in 1939 this was
vorked by H. Whiley. The average grades of 3 grams/ton of
gold were found but the total production is unknown.

Another mine at County of Gipps, Parish of Bena, Portion 6,
No 134 on map) was worked in about 1907 and again about 1970
but the amount produced is not recorded.

In 1827 a decision was made to build a railway line from

~-Hyalong to Wamboyne. Rather  than-ond the line. .at .. Wamboyne

wvhich was landlocked the Government pushed it on for a.
further four miles and named the terminus Euglo. Seven years
later the name was changed to Burcher, possibly called after
Charles Burcher one time owner of Euglo Station.
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ABORIGINAL DATA.

Wher the first settlers arrived at Lake Ccwal there apreared
to Le awple evidence that the area had been inhabited by
nenbers cf Akcrigines of tribal proportions. The Bland had
reen referred to as a meeting place of the tribes of the
ILacklar an Murruvmbidgee Rivers.

Mary of the old gum trees on the western bznks of the 1lake
shoved extensive carvings on their trunks. The custom of
czxrving & trurk of a trxee near a burial plot cculd ke rprocf
that numkters of aborigines had been Luvried in the sandbanks
surrocr¢ing the skores cof the Lake.

In parts of the dense mallee areas of the district it was
apparent that gunyahs had been erected. Practiczlly all the
hill areas bore signs of habitation by our first
inhakitants. During the early days cf Marsdens an adoriginal
camp was situated along the eastern banks of Lake Coval
retweer: the village and the Lake. :

Samuel Wilson wrote in the RAHS Journal andé Proceedings
Volume III— 1923 p. 374 that akerigines had large camps on
the site of the present Lake Coval station hoxestead, and
numerouvs midéers wvere found there.

Mrs Sarxabh Musgrave, 2
the Pl1arG wes 2 famous battleground of the ILachklar ard
Murrumbidgee atrorigines. She had remembered an occasion when
twe zkerigines were killed by the same Spear an¢ arother had
his head knccked off Dby a boomerang. They had their sex
initiatior crouné scwevhere in the neighbourhood vhere they
initiated their young men. Jonhn Regan discovered the area
ore day. This was on the site c¢f the future Wyalong. The
area was not used again because the atorigines said it was
deszsecrated. '

-

From extracts The Way Back.

“pioneer of this distriéi._vrote that

”,
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TOPOGRAPHY, GEOLOGY AND CLIMATE.

The eastern area of the PBland Shire, is included in the
south-western slopes for rainfall reports and it 1is mostly
flat, wvhilst the «western part included in the Central
western plains has many hills. The dividing 1line runs
between the towns of Wyalorg @nd West Wyalong.

Fast @2and north of West Wyalong the region 1s generally flat
vrilst the south and west are more undulating and have some
sizable hills with high peaks-

An interesting rplysical feature is the 1line of hills which
runs frocx North Yalgogrin across to -Barmedwan and these
hills form a watershed. The streams rising on the ncrthern
side eventually flow into the Lachlan River and the various
creeks have reen listed elsewhere. '

The topography of an area influences plant life 1in various
wvays- The types that grov on the hills are often quite
different from those of the lover country. Foe example, Hill
Re€é¢ Grz (Eucalyptus dealbata) prefers hilly areas.
Watervays, especially those subject to flooding and causing
wet or damp conditions for considerable periods, are.
borédered by plants which can stand these conditions where
others such as the River.Reé Gum (Eucalyptus cawraldulensis)
would perish.

Plants deprenc¢ 1largely on the soil for their food. Soil is
derived from broken down rocks. Rocks differ considerably in
the zmxcunt of plart food whick they ccntain. Thus a brief
ceological survey has some importance when studying the
rative flora of ary giver area. '

In the Bland Shire there is a noticeable varjation in the
geology.- It +varies in age from the Upper Orxrdovician (the
rocks of that period would have been formed hundreds of
millions of years ago) to what is geologically kxnown as
Recent. Soxe of the rocks are Sedimentary and were made from
tre sediments of older rocks and laid@d down under water,
m2inly sandstone and skale. Then there are Igneous rocks.
These hrave reen formed from molten magna intruding into
other rocks ard cooling down, such as granite and dolerite.
¥e al=so have Metamorphic rocks in the Bland Shire ~ the name
mezes  changed form. These rocks were either sedimentary or
igrecus to begin with and then, because of the great
stresses and .strains, acccxpanied by - heat and chemical ’
charge, they become something different, as in slate and
guartzite. Slate was originally shale and quartzite was
sandstone.

The following ignecus rocks occur in this shire: granite,
granophyre, grano-diorite, rhyolite, porphyry, norite, and
dolerite. Amcng the 1local sedimentary rocks are sandstone,

West of the Bland page 93.
Bland Historica) Society.
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shale, ccrglomerate (pudding stone), anc travertine (a
jixestone). The metamorphic group 1s represented by such

rocks as slate, quartzite, schist arnd phyllite.

Very ancient rocks, probably belonging to the Silurian
period, occur towards the eastern end of the shire. They are
sheared conglomerates, sandstone, shale, schist andg
phyllite. The largest area includes Wamkoyne and the railwvay
sidings of Corringle., Lake Cowal 2and Clear Ridge. The
Bockeroi Hills which cross the Marsden Road about eight
miles frcm Wyalong belong to this period. Evidence of
tremendous pressure is seen here as the rock strata instead
of teing flat are just about vertical. Much of this rock is
talc schist, a lightish grey colour.

Large areas of granite type rocks occur in the Bland Shire.
It was from the guartz veins of these rocks that gold was
obtained in the 1local mines. The rock from the mines is
granodiorite, a klack and white rock.

The granite belt stretches northward from West Wyalong and
includes Wyrra, Calleen, Girral and areas north and south of
Cnga¥ie. There is a 1long strip going south’ east: from
Yalgogrin through Buddigower; another area includes Wargin,
and another area lies betwveen Thulloo and Kikoira, kut does
not include those placeés.

The orly other area is very small, but very interesting. It
is at Wyalong and akout two miles north and south of it.
Ckinece market gardeners are excellent judges of scil and so
for many years they produced excellent vegetables from the
rich scil of Wyalong. The soil of Wyalong is more fertile
than that of West Wyalong, much of which is covered by
ironstone cravel ovex clay. There is an outcrop of
conglomerate, sandstone, quartzite, siltstone and shale
probably of Upper Devonian age on the north vest ecdge of
Lake Cowal. )

Practically the whcle o©f the Shire east of Wyalong is
covered by Tertiary to Recent deposits. They include
alluvial clay, silt, sand and sandstone. On the whole the
resulting soil is fertile and provides good plant food.

Bland Shire 1lies within a region of uncertain rainfall and
its variability has a big influence on the vegetation.
Plants have to adapt themselves to long dry periods and then
cope with wet seasons as well. Taking the Shire as a whole,
there is not much difference in the average annual
rainfalls. It is the variability of the temperatures which
influence plant life rather than the average. For example,
between 1951 and 1956 Wyalong had an average maXximum
temperature of 18.1}B degrees Celsius and a minimum average
of 9.4 degrees Celsius, but this information does not reveal
the heatwaves when the temperature reached over 43 degrees
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Celsivs in the shade and the cold frosty nights when the
thermometer fell to zero or less.

Another important facteor with regard to plant life is the
absence of clouds on so many days of the Year and the high
rate of evaporation. The average annual evaporation for West
Wyalong 1is about 57 inches compared with the average annual

rainfall of about 19 inches. .

The relative humidity for the area is low. There is a good
deal of calm weather, particularly in the autumn and wvinter.
Frobably the most prevalent wind is that from the south west
and when it is not moisture 1laden it is a particularly
drying wind. The softer easterlies are not common. Those
from other guarters make the temperatures soar in the

summertime.

Pelicans and their Young on a smol island in the lake.
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KEY T0O MINES AS SKOWN CN EXTRACT OF THE FORBES METALLCGENIC
MAP included in these notes.

MINE NAME COMMODITY IVALUE IN
1976 $°
9 Weelah Manganese Prospect NW,SE Man, Au 10 000
(< ' . Mzn, Av 1 0CC o0CC-
’ 10 0OCO
12> Trgarie Tin Prospect E, W Sn 10 000
124 Caxrnells " o E, W (51 10 COC
125 Girral » . N, S Sn- 10 00C -
126 Elox Clear Ridge VMine Av 10 0CO
127 Billys Lookout (Placer) Au 10 000
128 » " T Ac 10 CcoC
129 Smiths Prospect Au 1¢ coo
130 Billys Leockort Reef Avu 10 oCC
131 » . * Deep leads Au
132 . - Alluvial Werkings Au
(Deep Leads)
133 Wenbcyne Goldmine (Deep leads)N,S Av 10 ooC
134 b d An 10 000
135 - - Ac 10 0CO
136 Kayser {(Manna Mtn Prospect) E.W Au ~10 000
166 EKothacker's Prospect Au 10 0CO
170 Reen's Prosgect Au 10 000
171 A 10 0CO
172 Molloy's Mine Au 10 000
173 Fletcher'’'s Mine Ax 10 CCO
174 Dawson's Mine Au 10 000
175 Crawley's Mine Av 10 0GC
176 au 10 000
177 Nelson's Mine Av 10 oCC
178 Early Yorm Mine - Au 10 000
179 Crampton's Mine ‘ Av 10 0CQ
180 Prospector’'s Mine Au ) 10 000
181 Coronation Mine (The Plow Nine) Av 10 oce
182 2vu 10 00C
183 Av 10 000
184 Au 10 000
185 Western West Wyalong Grp of Lcdes Av 10 000 000-
1 000 000
186 Mallee Bull Line of Lode Au 10 000 000~
1 000 000
187  Svamergiil’s Line of Lode - Au 1 000 000-"
10 000
188 Klcndyke Line of Lode An : as .above
189 Fioneer Line of Lode Au as alkove
190 santa Claus and Kinks Line of Lode Au as above
191 Au 10 000
192 Pine Ridge Line of Lode Au 1 000 000-
10 000

193 Au 10 000



194
195
196

267

130 %

Au 10 oCco

Pine Hil) Lode Au 10 oCC
Call Back Line of Reef Au {1 000 000-

10 000

Au 10 000

Geological Reference:

Favlt
Anticline I
Syncline : )

i
Approximate —————— e
Concealed e me s e e sy

General Referenceé:

Major Roads T — R ——

Railways R
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by Late Mrs Anne Mitchell B.Sec.
—~— (2as printed in "West of the Bland" - 2 History
of the Wyalong District.

onc knew where the streams weat. It was thought that they might Bow inw a larzge jnland
sea, 30, on &th April, 1837, Surveyor Joha Oxley’s exploration panty, which included the
bowais, Alaa Cunpingham, kit Batburit to trace the course of tho Lachlan River.

Abowt hree weeks hater they seached the Lachlan and followed " for some wecks.
Then, o Micis swrpricc, ahbouzh 8o raia had fallen in thai area, dbe siver began s nise and
the walker spread s all directions. Fearing thoy sbould bo caughl and druwmie by the rising
waters Saley decwdad br Ieuve e Fiver ol 4 Jurint dest fug sesth of whare Yusonhomlai is b
oy Bebirs dusng aar they pluwmcd » Slut ssnince wn the Josge sbems ool m Pawndypt wmd Wl) Ihe
Sordlomwreng manehsz- B Oadecy 6, W. Evana, A.( Moy 12h INEY. Alser keaveng dhe niver the
cxpluress Wowrncd south-west, hoping 1o reach the acighbourbood of Gapc Northumbcriand.
{This cape is sitmaicd i the exureme south-e131 corner of South Awstraha)

- R was during this stage of the jouracy that the parly. traversed portion of what is
aow knowa as the Bland Shire. They probably passed gast of the present Ungarie about 2131
May and were abo c20se to the sites of Yalgogrin and Weethalle before reaching ML Aiton
{sow known as. The Peak) on 26th May—a disiance of about 100 miles from the Lachlian,
They continwed south-west wntil they seached ML Brogden, (sow called ML Binya) An in-
senbed & at this point beans extracis from Ozxley’s jourmal From there they ravell.
! in a nostherly direction #n the wentera 3ide of Cocoparra Range which they aaxmeu Pecl
Range. No doudt ia this part of heir journcy they weat riose 3o whers Raakjas Springs
[ROVRETY

The exploresn seached the Lachlan River again on the 23rd June and followed 3t unii)
not far from ‘Ms junction with the Murrumbidgee (alibough they did mot know this), They
mmdhdaadi-udyhmumcdlb&ﬁmmr&:m&tmuddhwry
or Boloca Range. A mosument masking the 3pot can be sccn oa the Lake Cargedligo-Condo-
bolin Noad g . N

From these they avelled overland 10 the Macquaric River and shemoe b0 Bathust
afscs an absence of four monthe, -

O&psmd&wmwmwtd&u&eywutomm‘dt_hmt
mncrable description” He doubled- that “these desolase plains would cver apaia De visited by
ci:ilixe‘mu“mzodmym&nninghmuuibia)gumk “Contiaved our couvrse
duc SW. over 2 most sterile, dry, saoubby l;}&omxy,;oou;o:s lo;tbc :pilor;ngyh)of ::!
production being the same a3 passed yosterda yprexs Pine, Boree, Bulloak er Be “a
penctrating three mides fusther we fraced the same miserable arnid country thal we have had

wala

chain of

dicaies that 3317 was a and this arca was in the grip of a drought The
= gl ose of the year 1967, exactly 130 yeasy later
lie. for May arid sarly June). Oxley’s party Jefk the dangerous waters of the Lachlan enly o
tadure the ravages of No ad much was spent looking Jor waser
which was often stagnamt and foul. Their horses rom the hack of feed and” wales

some of whem dicd. The men’s provisions were 3o Jow that they had 10 be rationed. I
rin daed hllen whik they were near Diays they would have pushed oa and found the Mus-
X . Y. However, that was aot 10
Maﬂ»nnl&m&kyﬂmﬂmzrﬂﬁwmﬂaamkf:dhctmlb:lxbhn:

Neither Oxley mos Cunnimgham were Eopressed with what are mow prized
niver flars in the viciaity of the Lachlhan Cusningham wrote on the 15th May:
"m»aummad.mmmmqumy.mcnm-gbm(wuu
Cypress Pinc) i3 frequeat, forming smoll timber frees scascely exceeding 25 fect, and the
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west “the couatry became exceedingly bnohy and assumed a greyish gloominess in copc-
qmdhmmJAgpﬁfhmwwﬁnﬂR’:ﬂ dihana (a 3alt bush)

As they drow mearet 1o where Ungasie is aow, Cunningham wrote “Contiowed oa our
founc duc SW. ever 2 most sterile, doy, scrubby B2t couniry notoricas for the uniformity

of is productions, dhumnpndywaﬁy.'mhnaﬁnb&>m_svﬁuQ-
P'ﬂ!phcndhmﬂcnnnoazormmmFanhunuwNmancmu
ind a “beawiiful tree abowt 30 feét of very spreading habit, with braoches very alender and

pendulond.” (This could have boen 3 Wilpa). Hop bushes were abo ia evideace. The next
by they continued the SW._ journcy and paxsed through “ihe mclancholy Amcha pendula.

Todayvcm&:lomann:uradinmilnumncdby’::hm?y?aoalhc
Tises they saw Lrombarks and Cypresy pines and a bumber of shrubs as Tea Trec, Green
Mallce (7), White Mallee, hpt}r Bask and a tree the men alled Snakowood, with rough and
saly bark. Mistietoe was comwnon on the troes. The vegetation they encountered oa 23rd.
and 24th May was the same as that found today on the virgin arcas from West Wynlong_ to
the west and south-west As well 23 the plants previowsly mentioned theare were Mist-
buthes (both red and white), Goodens, Erioslemons, Melalencas (one of which was probab-
¥y our Broom-bush), Blue daisy bush, Qlover bush and the twining Malieo Vire The last
eveniag they speat m pur ares they disturbed "1 large amu and two young kangaroos who
were feeding wpoan the trifling herbage, which the stenlity of the couniry can only produce
m mnall patches ™
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. River Red Gums (E. camaldulenais) thrive where there is an abundance of
occur at Lake Cowal u.)d aloag the creeks. Black or Flaoded Box (E. la:;iﬂotcm;ﬂl:::::
b"?” alluvial 10ils subject to floeding and occurs in the ‘lake Cowal arey. Fuzzy Box |E
:omﬂ)' 3cncrally occuss on Jow Jand aloog sireams, Narrow-}eal lroobark (E. aedra) ohcx;
grows in forests with cypress pines. It occury in the Burcher area.

Other district trees are the Xurmjong (Brachychiton ulneum). It s do
and wselul Where these is Belad (Casuwarina eristawa) the soz: bcavy).' and the l:::n:s?::
of Bo.ru er Myall (Acacia pendula) Bull Oak (Casuarina luchmannii) i3 found op a varicly
of soils. White Cypress Pinc (Callitris bugelii) is widespread ia the diszricr on g00d sandy
loarms which ate well drained. }t 38 3 valvable timber tree 20 s white-ant resistant. Maoy
of the forcal arcas bave been ot out o nifil the demands for ity timber.

The Mallee Pinc {Callisris preinvid) occurs in the Weethalle area. s comunon name is
apt 25 # has scveral siemoy and ks amall, The Wilga {Geijera parvilflora) js wsually found un
the beavier soils. Bt i a very attractive bres and caa be myed for dodder.

" Otber wees which grow in the shire are Roscwood o7 Besrigan (Heierodendrum oleifol-
uwm). Quondong (Exncarys acumimaiz)
. Butier Bush or W Pisissporum (Pittosponin. phyli W) s aho kmown s
Bersigan. The hasd fruit is ycllow and epens to show 3ticky orange-red sceds. .

Warror Bush oy Carmant Bush {Apopbyllum anomalum) is 3 3mall wree with akmost
leafless branches. It has an air of great antiguity about il Budda (Ercanophila mitchellii) is
a small tree with graceful Jight green foliage and white or purplish bell-shaped flowess. I is
sometimey called Sandalwood. Emw Bush (Eremophila Joagilolia) ofien oaly a shrub, occurs

bright-red stalk amd the “seed™ iz 2he
apbyllws) has she same sype of fruit,
hd.ahou.&omy,bnn&hnaad

Of hybrsd Encalyptus trees which bave 30t beca mentioned there are at Jeast 40 difl-
sreni species within dhe shire. With she cxception of she hybrids it s Nkely ihey would
have all beem here when Oxley and Cuaningham p d this way in 1537,

So far 21 diff ¢ wattle species have been ideatificd in the area. No doubt shere are
more. The most famous it the Wyaloag Watle {Acacia cardiophylla) It occurs ia she Boo-
baros Foreal, and a few mils west of West Wyalong. )it favouss ihe baaks of dry water-
courses. M is a2 beawtilul freeflowering shrub, with sich yellow flowess and bi-pinnate

and ot such am attractive greea. The young leawes and
branchlets are asmnlly tinged with yellow and the flowers are paler than those of the Wya-

) Black Wattle (A. hakeoides) s common in the district. J13 “Jeaves™ are up W
Iiu.mmmwnummﬂommbﬁmw.q&umm&an:

gaer-beafed Wattle (A shigiopbylla).
i), Beasy Bush (A. rotundifolia) Abo A.
difformis and A. Nexifolia. The hast mamed fowers

Amoag the most heantiful of cur shrubs s 1he Purple Mint Bash (Prostanthera ovab-
fclia). Rs colowsing varies from lavender to purple. Some planis beas white or pink flowers.
3t scom to favour hillsides and ocrury at such places as the Boobaroi Hills, ML Narriab and
hillsides in the Alleena area. The Scasbet Mint Bush (Prostanthena aspalathoides) has 2 wide
disiribution. M grows asbowt threc feet has liay bright greem deaves and bright sred NDower.

Awnstral Indigo (Indigofera Amstralis) is another beamtiful shrsb with bluey-green pin-
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nase bmmmmpdmmmmm:canmdiﬂm»ﬁadmr oo

h{-bﬂ (Dodoaacas) all of which are aftractive whea boarning their bopa. The Wax Flowers
(Ericstenons) are represented by the Longleaved Wax Flower (E. myoporoides) in the south
ol_lh‘shu and by E. difoemis, which has plump Little sromalic daves and 33 tovered with
white starry flowers. The Goblin Grevilla (G. floribunda) with s intriguing yellow snd
browa [lowers grows in similar areas to the Purple Mist Bush. Grevillea anethifolia, 2
smallsh shrsd with highly pesfumed white [lowess sccwrs 3t Gubbata. Around Weethsllo
1 asother Grevillea with red flowers, s yet unnamed. Desert Cassia or Native Dapbne
{Gaasia eremophih) is decribed as one of our most beauiiful shrubs. 1t 33 widespread in the
sra. The loca! Tea Tree {Lepiospermum irivalve) is a Jovely sight in the spring when coves-
'-'d_ vilh moall white flowers. Two bardy atiractive shrubs are 1the Common Fringe Myrtio
{Laytrix winagoaa) and the Fringed Heatn Myrie (Micromytrus ciliata)
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TPLANTS SEEN BY ALLAN CUNNINGHAM WHILST EXPLORING THROUGH WHAT
1S NOW THE BLAND SHIRE, FROM 1ith TO 25th MAY, 1817
{A comprchentive but incomplete liat).

Cypreasus glauca (White Cyprexs Pine) now Gilled Callitris bugedii (C. glauca), Acacia
penduls (Boree), Rhagodia dilatata (A Salt-bush), Excalypina micrantha {Bastard Box) now
talicd Encalyptus racemosa (Snappy Gum), Pimelea Colomams {a rice flower), Anhrotriche
gracilis, Arthrotsiche augustifiora, Zieria pulchella (pulchella means pretty) Extoxia rugosa,
Sida specics (Paddys Laucerne), Aster decunrens now calld Oleana decurrens {a Daisy-hush),
Sierculia Belerophylla, now abed Brachilon populbenm (Kurmmajong), Ascelpiadccase
{Creeping shsub swining on small Cypresses), Acaca homalopbyla (Yamman), Euaalypivs
sideroxylon (Wostern Jroabark), Casmanna {could be Bulloak er Belah), Lonasthus filiaform-
5. sow called Amycoa probably  kaifolia (Mistleloe), ZygopbyRum (Twin-dcal), Daviesia
(Pea-flower), Leptospermuws. sp. (Tea-tree), Evcalyptus acageides, Encalyptus dumosa (White
Mallee). Mchilawea 3p. (probobly B bush), Goodenia Mflora {could be t G. Ovata).
Encsieman thombifolium (a2 Wax-Flower) sow E. difformis, Pmmim (Whiic
Mint-Dush), Prosaanthers toccinca, sow alled Prostamibhera aspalathoides, {Scarket Mint-
bwsh), Myoporum gracile (belonging to the Boobialla group), Meladevca ap. (2 Paper-bark),
Cassytha {Mallee Vine or Devil’s Twine), Shrubby Aster (probably an Olcania), Goodia Job-
ifolia Qover-bush or Goldea Tip), Erodinm {Crowfoot), Asicr ocolatus, mow aalled Alearia
ramuiosa {Twiggy Daisy-Bush). Syagenciia (a Daisy of some kiad), Wostriagia triphydla, aow
an.znwgu-:.,;. ercmicola (A n‘v—" Rw -y‘)r.'_ lipo-,m ia oxleisc, mow c:a!lularaubm
pa noa sub s oxeleyi (Wassern Wonga  Vino 12 monogyra (Rutaceac)

ym&ma&d Geijcra parviflora (Wiga), Dodonca cuncata (Wedge-
keaf Hop-bush), Exocarpus eupressifosmis (Native Cherry), A “middling sized tree™ from s
description was very Bkely, Heterodeadrum sloifolivm (Rosewood).

of the names have been aliered, partially or complctely.

Coaniagham 9063 pot mention grasses. Mo doubt they were inchuded ia the “wriling
ktbag&”hrbapsilbadhzanmmLy&dmkuwﬂbudbydmﬂ&hvhg no
means of identification. Obviowsly the explorers did »ot come close to the site of Wast Wya-
Jong for Cuaniagham would tertainly have obscrved our Blue Mallee. (Encalypius fruticctor- -
um} N is Aot possible 90 mB whether he obscrved Bulloaks or belahs, or both. Me merely
sus “Casuwanea.” Bulloaks are Caswarina Jhuchmazii and Bebbs are Casmasina smstata,

nme doerve special mention Jor their tolerance of the explosers. From Gime to time bo
wrilea of finding their seceatly sed pa, of bearing them and members of the parnty
sceing them. The natives would never have seen & white man before. With sheisr conyumman
busheralt they exaily cowld have wiped out Ris expedition. it s 33d o think that the white
man’s coming has meant degradation of various kinds for this peacefnl tribe.

advent of the Abogigimes 20,000 years ago did pot disturd it woduly, as they were seither
pastoralists mer agricwitusints. They did not dominate the plamts, but dived with them wsing
this and that, such as Nardoo (Maniba drummondi) and Yam {(Micyoscris scapigera)
Now the whiie man is here and much of the mative-flora has dmappeased, sither by
or being seplaced by weeds, among them, Cape Weed
(Crypiostemma  calesdula) and Skejcton Weed (Choadrdla juncea). The growiag interest in .
sur aative planis in the haxt few years sbowld Jead 30 action 0 prescrve ows waiguwe flonn
e

sctaim it has
of doing so. One sriking campik s the aromatic oilb coniained ia the
heaves of swucalypts. Om & Dot day the o volatilises and the Jeaves have a prosective hayer
between them and the sua, thue kecping down Joss of water. .
Some watthes {scacias) have finedy divided Joaves, such as the Wyalong Wattle (A.
b of them, hrough untold years, have gone a scp furiber and dis-
carded eir kaves. The Jeaf-stalks, or phyllodes, act a3 Jeaves. They ase wugher and give off
Jexs mooisture than a Jeaf. As scedlings, all wattles have pinnale deaver M it is Whe phyllode
type, auch as the western Black Watike (A hakeoides), the tramsition Mage can be 3¢ca 21
i in the wetter dlimaie of Mclbowrne the kaves of the Wya-
long Wattle are much huger. la the Casmarinas among them the Bull Oak and Belah, 1be
arc seduced 10 scales and the wiry beanchlets act as Jeaves.
There are numerous other exampies of the adaptation of the phanis 1o dry conditions.
pot scem to be the gquality of the soil which s the governing

— %
more adapiable shan others and occur ibroughoul the shire, whilc etherz ase Joaalised.

There are at Jeast 13 different species of encalypius in the arca. Mallees wnnally occur
on soloaiztd brown soil, but those arpund West Wyalong are on dccomposed granie. The
beai-known is the Blue Maller {cucalypiua fruticetorum). The Broad-leaved Malie Box (E
behriana) is called Bul Mallee Jocally. ht grows matusally oaly in the Wyalong disurict. Other
malicey are Mallee Gum (E. gracilis) Green Mallee (B vinidis), White Mallee (E. dumosa)
Red Mabee (E. oleona) and Narrow-leaved Red Malles (E. foeamda)

On stoncy ridges with poor shallow soils lronbark (E. sideroxylon), Hill Red Gum
(E daalbanr) and Hill Gum (E dwyeri) thrive wherr others would die. Currawong {Acacia
doratcaylon) and Black Pine (Callitris endlicheri) are often associated with them. At Nar-
tiah, Drooping She Oak (Casuarina siricta) abio eccurs.

Grey Box {Eucalyplus woolsiana) is well scattered through the shire on red soils,
whereas the Western Grey Box (E. microcarpa) prefen good heavy soils. The Box with the
roundish m kaves, Birable Box (E. populnea) is drought yexistant and is found mestly
oa poor sl dlay soik. The proence of Yellow Bax (E. melliodon) is considered an indica-
uoo of good 30il, nsually beavy alluvial It i sur best boncy tree.

som-of bk sather it ability 1o retain waker Some plants are
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—_— Among tbe smziler plants theie are many undershrubs, including dajsy bushes, ever-
. lastings, pca planis orchids, rushes, herbs and bulbs. The Rock Ferp (Uheilanthes ienuifolia)
1 widespread. The Nardoo (Marilia drummondi) which looks rathesr like a clover in the
gilgais, i also 2 fan. Among the climbers are False Samparilla (Hardenbergia violacea),
Western Wonga Vine {Pandorea pandorana oxleyi), clematis (C. micropbylla), Parsonsia
cucalyptophylla with highly perfumed mustard-coloured Mowers, sweet apple-berry (Billar-
diera cymosa) a2 shrubby climber rare in NS.W. and Glycine canccens with sprays of small

peaa flowers. :

Mapy ovemeas grasses have become naturalised here, but among the original mative
granes are Corkscrew or Variable Spaar Grass (Supa veriabilis), Liverpool Plaias Grass (S.
aristighumis), Soft Spear Graxs (S mollis), Feather Spear Grass (S. elegantissima), Warrego
Grax (Paspaladium jwbiflorumn), Sleader Panic (Pamicum comstrictem), Hairy Panic -
cfiusum), Wallaby Grass (Danthoaia richardsonii), White-1op or Wallaby Grass {(D. catspitosa).
Brush Wire Gras {Arisiida bedriana), and the Wirc Grasses or “Number 3.~ {Aristida ram-
osa, A. Jrichoensis, and A Calycm), Umbrella Graas (Chlons uuncala), Purpic Lovegrass
{Eragrostis lacwnaria), Clustered Love-Grass {E. elongota), Grey ™msd Grass {Amphipogon
caricinus), Buiton Gran {Dactylocycaium radulans) and Spinilex {Spinifex paradoxus)

The mative t7ees wese put #0 many ssc3 by the eajly settlers, who proved sthamsehes
adept Al improvising from what madkesinls were 2vailable. They buill sad recfal Aouscs, built
fences and slipras, mads Bullock yolrs, and ever cfooked kurrajong Jeaves as vegctabha.

The Grey Box proved o be a very wieful wez. Box bark was used for roofing hoiscs,
huts, dairics and sheds by the zasly sestlers and miners. Sometimzs even the walls were of
Box bark. The bark was amtached 1o a frome of Whilke Cypress Pine. The settler would
hoane 8 dg tsca Witk gusnd s3enight Wk, The wperntion Red 0 be snovind et when the
sup wea e, pussibly nider u pemd suise, 85 the burl thon peched wil s Rarge Shwvwin, vary-
ng Srown Rall s an inch ia thi . .

To remove e bark enc scorfl was cut low down en she tree and anoibes Dighes wp,
avoeding 10 the Jeaph of dhe shered srguirnd Oty were made lengthways wp the per A

wmived siick with 5 wedge-shaped posst was wedd (v gy the bask off the bre.

The curved shesss had to be fatiened, and this was wlly ‘done by placing weights
on the bark, but somctimes a small fire was hit waderneath %o nraighien & owt The bark
sheets were placed oa the [ramcwark in dhe 3ame way a3 galvanised om » today, and were
.bculcpch’hhﬁkrhmhﬁm&mlﬂm-MhrtmﬂsMﬁ.
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o fiting them oa to waggon and sulky whesh. the tyres were in place oo the wheeh
ddmm.m:»lﬂbmkcknmlmm& sghity. ) .

N Thbmqum,;-mmzuxmummmmnnp.mwd
“":Hm‘ provided matenal for Domesmade pipes and walking-sticks. The Currawong
:{n&‘ tobemdloflhonku:po.lubytbcﬂ;inacwbolin‘dinlbcdhui:tlutbcswn
o d‘:m Blue Mallee was being trrated for mxalypins and otber valuable products.
. € et mentioned and maller roots were msed [or firewood in ovens and open fires.

) bbis Pins were made of White Cypren Pine. The pits were sunk along the wise
betting ";:nary lences, about ome or two milcs apart, depesding on the naturg of tbe
-‘hmﬂ M i were ahv?ys more plentiful in sandy country, becavse of the ease with
g ould build their warmema, A bole about five feet deep and five feet square was
Lrectly woderncath the wire mening. Sawn rough timber slabe of pioe were then placed
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nde by side in an upright position along onc side of the bole. Then a 4 inch by 2 inch plank
was placed horizontally 1o support the alabs and anothesr one was peggod down at the bot-
tom. The other three sido of the hole were treated the same way. The pit was then covered
over with boards. Among them were four balanced piecces of board. An oncoming rabbit
would tilt 2 board and drop into the pit. The board would then swing back isto ils origin-
al posiion. A wise-mctting wing, one chain long, ran from each coroer of the pit, making a
sharp anglc with the fence. This arrangement “hesded™ the rabbdits towards the pit

Every day or 30 3 man would Xill the rabbits and dear e pit. Other animals, 100,
would fall inte the pits especially ant-eaten, foxes, eats, and occasionally xpakes also met
their doom that way. When the rabbits were pleatiful, as in 1907, there conld be 300 rab-
bits 2 might in oac pit. The average war 130 mabbits. Fourpence per pound was paid for
rabbit sk in thosc days. In winter seven and in summer nioe 3kins weat 10 the pound.
They were boughi by the Jocal Chinese.

A Dog-leg Fence was womally made of Cypress Pine. Two yound posts were erccied.
and eyossed rather Jike ap epen pair of scissors. They were supported by an 12 inch block
of wood six 40 sight inches dn diameier. This process was zepeated and then a pine Jog  with
branches still “astached, wae' placed in the V2 of the crossed posts. By this wmeans a fairly

For a Chock and Log lence, any larze available simber was msed, Box, lronbark and
opecally Cypress Pinc. Green Bmsber was casier 30 ¢t and work, and she Jomger polcs werc

the ground. A scapf was then el out of the centre of the wop aide. A was pliced in the
scarf. Then anocther chock was scarfed on both sides so fis ever the first log and placed in
' a the devired beight

FORESTRY DrrARTMENT

Of the 28 Suale Foreats in the West Wyalong Sub-district the present Cypress Pine

" forens are by far the most mportant, pot only becamse they produce the bulk of the sales

of Jogs, poles and fencing timber, but becawse 2 considerable amount of grazing. is available

w them. The main Cypress Pine forest areas are in the Booberoi Hills, cast of Wyalong.

;/A"_nnmry. south of Ariab Pask and along the Rankins Springs Road, south of Lake Car-
0.

The Hardwood forests were of great consequence when they were dedicaled, as they
were the source of supply of such products a1 railway alecpers, fencing limber and {irewood.
Mwiimhbcnodmwyandoﬂyxmnmotfcxbg timber and
fircwood it mow sold. Twenty of the forests carry predomisantly Cyprexs Pine timber and
€ight carry Hardwood (lron Bark and Box) There aco 25,000 acres in the pinc foresis and
14,000 3GE in the hardwood forests. Opo forest camies a tousiderable amount of Blue
Mallee, which is cut periodically for the distilatioa of cucalpytus oil.
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The West Wyalong Sub-district of the Forestry Commimion extends about 110 miles

e 4
~ in a NWJSE. direction and averages about 30 miles across. West Wyalong is the admin-

nisative centre of the sub-district, and with the sub-districts of Grenfell, Forbes and Condo-
bolin, comprises the Forbes Forestry district. The sub-district boundary is roughly, Temora,
Bland Creek, Lake Cowal, Burcher, Bena Ungarie, Tullibigeal, Lake Cargellizgo, Willandra
Weir, Naradhan, Taleeban, Sandy Creek, Ardletban, Wallaroobie, Mimosxa and Temora,

Peronnel in the subdistrict are a fosester and an office avistant engaged on adminis-
trative dutics, and a forest foreman and asmother employes, who are engaged on field work.
Work desc by the eomminion consists mainly of the maintenanee of assets, including roads,
Jeoces and water supplics, killing of wscless Hardwood tompeting with Pine, supervision of
umber -operations and sabbit eradication. All these are done by local employess, with the
excepiion ef road maistenance for which 2 grader wnit comes from Forbax periodically, 1o

grade the 216 miles of soads through Joaal forests

There are scvea sawmillers in the sub-disiric:, one of whom regularly buys Jogs from
State Foreats, A sawmiller fsom Grenfell also buys an annual quota of Jogs from this arca.
Sales from Stie Forests and etbher Crowa sreas are also periodically made 1o other millers.
Most sawmillers arc able o0 ebtain the bulk of their Jog input-from privately owned land.
Misecllancous sales of timber, poles, fircwood, saod and grawel are made under licence and
licenees are issucd S0 apiarists 1o allow them 10 place their Bives in State Forests. Honcy
production is wsuaily from these foreats carrying Jronbank.

A comiderable amonnt of grazing under permil iy being done on local forests. Graz-
tng was suwspended oa maoy forests about 1935, in order 10 encourage the germination and
growth of Cypress Pioe seedlings. These responded 30 wel that grazing by cattle was in-
uodvced oa many forests from 1964, and grazing by sbhecp, which eat xmall scedlings, is now

beiag considered on some forests. .
g X the West Wyaloog distric? forests bas the devinable effect of removing
much of the dry grass that ercaics

a
ﬂ&cw&d&r&tmmﬂmhubmoﬂymiammny:{nbugﬁnzawu.l

BULLOCK YOKE MADE BY EARLY SETTLERS.

scricus fire bazard cach summer. Fires in the forests
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Early setiless in the Blaod Shire have wld of a xmall anirmal that Yived in mallec
trees, which they knew a3 a mative bear. This gives credence o the listing of koalas by tho
National Parks and Wild Life Service as being in the district, alibough rare.

A manwpial about half the size of a Xangaroo, grey in colour with splashes of white,
was 3 eocamon sight. It was kown a3 the paddymelon The burrowing of another marsupial,
the bilbie, camsed 2 emater-like warren: Rabbils took over the warrens and the bilbies disap-
peared. Gearing of the land for wheatgrowing and grazing has kd 1o ihe extinction of din-
g0 and native caty that were commoo jn tbe closing years of the nincicenth cenlury.

The keen obscrves will find many species still Jiving 3n tbe busblands of the shire.
lised a3 wncommon i the mosclrames is the platypus, but the spiny ant-cater is siill fairly
common.

Commnos marsepiab arc the ycllow-footed massupial mowse, the lat-tailed - ssupial
mouse, bruab-tailcd possum and the grey kangaroo. Uncommon marvupials arc the featber-
i) ghider, the squissel glider, the ring-tailed possum, bushy majed possum, pipgmy possum
and ihe red kangaroo. Mammals extinel s the distsict are sabbit-cared bandicoot, brush
tailed rat Xangaroo, browa barce-wallaby and the bidlke zail-miled wallady Tiger mats have
beea secn oe rare ocrasions ia the Weethalle distsict.

Of mative rats and mice the Fasiern water sat by still common. The allied rat and the
long-hairrd ra1 are mocommon and the extincl spetics are tbe Eastern psendo-rat, 1he
. whitkc-fooled rabbit-rat, and Mikchell's bopping mousc. Bals are uncommon 6 farc, bui the

distract has beea al fimes sababited by the Eastera honeshoc.bat, the greater Jong-eared bat,
the listle browa dat, Gould's wattled bat, the bent-winged bat, yellow-beflied Irec tail bai,
while siriped mastiff-bat and the Jittle mastiff bay Flying foxes are sare visitors, )

Introduced mammals are the Furopean rabbit, the Europeas hare, the dingo, red fox,
Feral pip, Feral eal, goal, rat and mousc. - .

* Of tbe amakes the farpet snake, common browa saake tiger snake, mulga snake, yed-
bellied black snake, myall snake. and the bandy-bandy are the most eommon. Scldom secn
now are the sed-naped mmake, yellow faced whip snake and death adder. A anake expen who
visited the disirict in recent years s said 30 have beea of the opinion that taipani could be
S we beten reporied. Copper-besds are abo said 0 be prescmi. The
bush is inbabited by 2 swmber of Kzards and skinks These mclude the common diclla, kg~
Jess Ezard, jacky kNxzasd, bearded gon, goanna, siriated skink, Canningham’s skink, shingle-
back shiak, blue Jomgue, coppes-ailed akink, wates skisk and grass skiok Seldom scen are
whe shick-mailed Geeko, scaly-foot, and Gould's goanna. .

In e years of good rainfall when the watens of Lake Cowal spread ever the nonh
casicrn cowntryside of the shire, Mlack swans and numerous otber water birds ase secen. Sea-
gulls Dave fownd their way 90 the Jake and on rarc sccasions Bave been seen over West

evlowful parsots are mose plentiful in the whest scason than
at any other Name, Dut, woless sicps are taken 3o conserve Jarger areas of the switable habitat
of e mors rare types their thances of survival are alight '

Among e birds seem in ihe shire arc the emun, brown gosbawk, wedgc-tailed cagle.
mhbgbmnhwgnn&fwlm&m_m bronatwing. creucd
pigesn, Majos Mischell’s sockatoo, galah, cockaticl, ringnecked pasrot red-sumped parrod,
Muchonnet, mulgs parsel, paltid cockaioo, away frogmonth, awict Bighijas, laughing kooka-
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. white-tared homcyeairs, yellowplumed boncycater, drowm-beaded homeycater,
whil-fronted Domeyeater, spimychecked honcyeater, peewee, while-winged chough apostlc
bird, picd buscher-dird, grey butches-dird, black-backed magpic, Australian raven, Jittle raven,
peban, spoonbill, Blue cvane, white ibix, bab chick, wood duck, al, black duck black
swan, greea Jeak pastot, fiaches, scagulls, swallows, casicra stone cutlew, spur-winger plover,
quail, dives, shel) parzol (budgesigar) linde crow, waswesn resclla, brolga, mistletoe bird,
lurquoise pasTot, moisy mmincr, little waitle bird, masked wood swallow (blue martia), dusky
wood swallow, pied currawoag, collared sparrow hawk, branded plover, Xingfisher (scveral

R

THE XELPIE

. The Wymoag district hay played its part in the development of the Kelpic ibeep dog
whinh Bas boen 30 invaluable to the pastoral indusiry in this tounlsy.

_ The casly 33003, were an era when transport and handling of stock, otber than by
drovisg was virmally wnknows Tbe bundreds of couniies lhrough England and Scouand
30 had sock of oo 30 or anothes, and with the siock went the ahepherds and their dogs
When stock was i brought 10 Amstralia, 30 were shepherds and their dops 1o care for them.
This wa Becsasary for the stock had w be “lolded™ or yarded every might 1o protcct them
from \be dingocs and Aborigines and 10 slop them from straying.
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i With ihe r.apid increase in stock numbers these was an increasing demand for 2 “must.
ering”™ or "plb.cm;" type worker 10 replace the “ihepherding™ type dog. There is litle doubt
that by the mid 1800°s a great mumber of different sirains and types of workers had been
imponed. One of ihe £r3t w0 juccessiully make 2 pame for themselves was the Rutherford
sirain of Nornbd Couaty Collics which imunediately proved ideally suitadle o Australian con-
ditions. Several yousger membery of the Rutberford family bad migrated lo Australia, and
once scttded were supplicd with dogs by beir Scoltish selatives. Ms. ). Rutherford purchased
Yasrawonga from the Hume family, where be bred the black dog, Mosy which laler became
ic property of M. Jack Glesson. :
’ Mr. Robert Tully, 2 well known breeder ja the Mursay and Darling River areas, was
abo 2 strong supporner of ibe Ruotherford sirain collie and all hiy stock were claimed to bave
sarried this blood. . )

The dog which gave the.Xelpic brecd its name was Gleeson’s Kelpic which was bred,
as far as we know, en Worrock station in Vicloria. Mr. John D. (Jack) Glesson came inlo
possession by swapping a borsc for the pup, which dad been bred by Mr. G. Robertson from
imported collie parents. Gleeson’s Kelpie is described as 2 black and tan with semi-erect ears
and who bad 2 reddish tinge %0 ber cost when seen in the sun. -

Ms. Gleeson Jeft the district shortly afier acquiring Kelpio and stayed for a short time
at Albury, where he met and married Miss Mary Ryan, a daughter of Mr. Lancelot Ryan of
Wallandool station. Tweo elber dawghters, Kate and Grace, married Harry King and Pat Cox,
somns of the sowners of Yalgogria and Wolloagough stations yespectively. In croasing the Murs-
ranbidger, on bis way jo fake wp 2 povition on Bolezo (North Belaira) be met an old friend,
Ms. Mask Tully, brother 10 Mr. Robest Tully, wivo gave him the black dog, Moss, who bad
been bred at Yasrawongi from dogs snporied from the Rutherford kemnels in North Scol-

Kelpic was mated swicc o Maoss; the first Bitry sbe whelped was shostly afier arriving
at Bolcro and a pup was given %o Mr. T. Keogh. The sccond Biier by Moss was born on
North Yalgogrin and a pup Lroen this Jikter was given to Mr. Sicve Apps, who was on Mer-
ingrecn. —— :

. About 1his Kiene, 1570, Mr. Arthur Robizson browght eut from Scothand 2 pair of black
and tans, Brwtus and Jeaay for Mr. Elon of tbhe firm of Elliots and Allen of Geraldra station.
They had beea mated wogcthor on the way out and the bitch, Jenny, whelped sborily afler
aspval Both B ‘and Jemny are described 3 smootb-cvated black and fans wilth semi-
erect ears. Onc the pups from the first Litter, Cacsar, was given o Mr. John Rich who was
oa Narriah at tima. Cacsar was majed to Glecson's Kelpic and the most famows of all
kelpies was the yesult. When the Jitter arzived a dlack and tan feanak pup mamed Young Ke:-
pie later Kelpic the Sccoad then Xing’s Kelpie was piven o Mr. C. T. W. King and 3be be-
came the sarly 35203 when 3o woa the firmt shexp dog Anal ever beld in As-
wakia. Her pesrformance 3t Forbes oa thiv occasion was 30 eatstasdiag it sesulicd i the nam-

e .

For a short tizne the pame, Kelipic, applicd to the progeay of King's Kelpie enly, al-

Aave beea applied w0 Glecvon’s Xelpic for withow ber theore

30 mamed 30day. From the mass of records to hand it ap-

»ot Jomg befose all dogs of similar appearsoce wore being described :3

33 dogs at the Sydoey Sherp Dog Trials im 1392 only two dogps weic’
on Bolere,

of
Glecsoa wok wp a sclection baing porntioa 10 Parish of Yalgogering, 40
s Masch 1578. When Jeaving North Yalzogrin o take wp 2 position st Laks Cow |
be Jeft Kelpie with his friend M:. T. ). Garry, and Mon with-Mz. P_ J. Cox of Mer-
x buwt as Xelpic shortly altcrward developed gprowth she bad to be de-
. W
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stroyed, ending ber days at Wollongough, Ungaric. O3d Moz, which Ms. Cox had lent 1o
Mr. C. T. W. King for stud purposes, was found dead oo the chain enc morning at Gainh'il.
1ake Cargelligo, which property Mr. King was managiog at the time. While living at Lake
Cowal West, Glecsoa had an accident with a horse and died a1 Wagga Wagps,

THE MOUSE PLAGUE

Almost incredible stories bave been told of the mice plague of 1916, Easly in the
winter hordes of mice appeared from nowbese, to invade the ficlds, the homes and busincss
phccz. They destroyed haystacks and grain_ ate the produce and foodstafls in stores, and in
the homes they cven got intd bed mattresses. Many of the houses wese lined with bestian,
which was covered with wallpaper. The mice ate the paper and heysian, and the nights were
dturbed by their scampering up and down the walls. The stench was everywhere

Mr. Jack King was working at Mr. Charlea O'Donnell’s fanm at Buddigower and he
recally that the men walked ayound the haystacks at mighl, carrying a tin tub containing
waler, With a stick tbey knocked the mice into the tub. The mice ate stacked bagged wheat
;{Nﬂ the beapa eollapsed, and, a3 1916 was 2 wel year the damage was eonsiderable. In 1917

7. N. Conn, of Quandialla, was pulling down 2 shed, when he poticed there were mo lead
M"‘b‘;’“u the sercws. Close examisatios showed that the mice bad cim away all the
: could ot dile into the iron in the screws. In 1917 there was another plague, but
M was o0 2 znallec scale.
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Cowal Gold Project—Heritage Assessment and Recording

1. INTRODUCTION
11 BACKGROUND TO THE STUDY

Heritage Management Consultants has been engaged to provide advice as to the heritage
assessment of building at the Cowal West homestead area, identified by the Bland Shire Council
for their Local Environment Plan, and to undertake recording of these items. Preliminary advice
on the potential heritage and recording issues relating to other buildings on the Barrick area was
also sought. The site was inspected and recording undertaken on 27-28 May 2003. Photography
of the Cowal West Buildings was separately contracted by Barrick and undertaken by Neil
Crook, in consultation with Michael Pearson.

1.2 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The kind assistance of Col, Nyelva and Jenelle Carnegie, former owners of Cowal West, and Bill
Shallvey of Cowal Gold Project are gratefully acknowledged.

1.3 AUTHORSHIP

The report was researched and written by Dr Michael Pearson, Heritage Management
Consultants Pty Ltd, 84 Ballarat Street, FISHER, ACT.

2.  UNDERSTANDING THE PLACE
21  HISTORY OF THE LAKE COWAL AND COWAL WEST PROPERTIES

Exploration

The explorer John Oxley was sent to investigate the Lachlan River in 1817, and was the first
recorded European to pass through the area. Oxley’s route took him from the vicinity of
Condobolin south-west to Griffith, passing well to the north-west of the Lake Cowal district.
Major Thomas Mitchell passed well to the south of the Lake Cowal area in 1826.* The non-
indigenous exploration of the Cowal area was undertaken, as it was over most of inland
Australia, by the pastoralists themselves. The earliest recorded pastoralists in the general
Wyalong district were the Gibson brothers, who took up a run near Bland, about 40km south-
east of Lake Cowal, in 1833.

Pastoral settlement

Lake Cowal was beyond the Limits of Location, that is outside the Nineteen Counties,
established in 1829, within which settlement was sanctioned. However, the promise for better
grazing land ‘further out’ enticed pastoralists to send their stock beyond the ‘Limits’, and the
squatting boom followed. As the government slowly came to grips with the reality of the spread
of settlement, it created in 1839 eight pastoral districts (‘squatting districts’), one of which, the
Lachlan District, included Lake Cowal.?

1 Feeken, E.H.J. & Feeken, G.E.E. 1970. The discovery and exploration of Australia, Nelson, Melbourne.
2 Roberts, S.H. 1935. The Squatting Age in Australia 1835-1847, Melbourne University Press, Carlton: 139.
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By 1840 there were 98 stations established in the Lachlan squatting district. In subsequent years
several pastoral runs were established surrounding Lake Cowal, and the configuration of the
local properties changed over time as runs were amalgamated or subdivided. The picture of the
early runs is also confusing because of the use of the same run name for a number of different
grazing holdings (eg ‘Billabong’ and ‘Lake Cowal’ in various forms).

Cowal Station, occupying the eastern side of Lake Cowal, was leased by Thomas J. Atkins in
1842, and was described in 1866 as comprising 16,000 acres with a carrying capacity of 600
head of cattle. The newly assessed annual rental in 1866 was £75. Atkins also held Cowal No. 2
Station of 16,000 acres (640 cattle and £38 2s 6d rental). John Rodd took up Billabong Station
(south of Lake Cowal, not to be confused with the later station overlapping the Lake) and
Caragabal Station (to the east), also in 1842.3

By 1866 Thomas Lee occupied a number of runs that covered the western side of Lake Cowal
and what is now the Cowal Gold Mining Leases and Barrick land holdings, these being*:

Run Acres Capacity Rental
Wombine Station 20,000 4,000 head cattle £30
Billabong Station 19,000 7,000 head cattle £75
Billabong Back Station (immediately west of Cowal 16,000 640 head cattle £30
Mining Lease area)

Billabong Lower Station (north west of Cowal Mining | 16,000 640 head cattle £30
Lease area)

The area now occupied by the Cowal Gold Mining Leases was originally part of the pastoral
runs of Wombine and Billabong (See accompanying maps). The four Lee stations were
combined in the 1880s with the Clear Ranges Run to the south west, to form Lake Cowal
Pastoral Holding No. 701.

Lake Cowal Pastoral Holding No. 701 was divided in 1886 into a Leasehold Area® of 78,879
acres (annual rental £591 11s 10d), and a Resumed Area of 70,735 acres (annual licence £294
14s 7d). Holding No. 701 was held in 1889 by the Australian Mortgage, Land and Finance
Company, probably indicating that Lee had been unable to withstand the growing rural economic
crisis.®

3 Bland Historical Society, 1993. ‘Lake Cowal historical research’, a report for North Mining Limited;
McNaught, J. 1997. Index and register of Land Grants-Leases and Purchases 1820-1856, Richmond-Tweed
Regional Library, Goonalabah, NSW; Bailliere’s New South Wales Gazetteer and Road Guide, 1866. F.F.
Bailliere, Sydney: 156.

4 Bailliere’s New South Wales Gazetteer and Road Guide: 43.

5 A new Lands Act (1884 ‘The Subdivision of Runs Act’) limited free selection in NSW. Each squatter’s run
was to be divided into two portions, a ‘Leasehold Area’ retained by the lessee and a ‘Resumed Area’ to be
opened to settlement by small farmers. However, the 1880s and 90s were periods of decline in the central and
western regions, and increasingly the runs were in the hands of banks (623 runs and 577 occupation leases in
resumed areas by 1889). By 1893 8 million acres of settled land had been abandoned. In 1894 the
Carruthers Act returned the remaining balance of the Resumed Areas back to the leaseholder, to be resumed
by government only when needed. See Roberts, S.H. 1968. History of Australian Land Settlement 1788-
1920. Macmillan of Australia, Melbourne. pp 309-311.

6 Hanson, W. 1889. Pastoral Possessions of New South Wales, Gibbs, Shallard & Co, Sydney 280. The map of
Lake Cowal Pastoral Run 701 gives different figure: 85,600 Leasehold and 81,600 Resumed Areas.
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Lake Cowal Station

Lake Cowal Station, incorporating the southern blocks currently held by Barrick, and extending
south up Bland Creek towards Marsdens, was taken up by James Marsden in the 1850s. The
station was later sold to Clarence and Kennedy, who in turn sold to F.W. Ricketson and H.
Ghinn in about 1876.” The 1886 map of the Holding 701 subdivision shows a homestead in the
current Lake Cowal homestead location, a woolshed where the current woolshed ruins are
located, and adjacent huts, presumably for shearers accommodation, on portions 1 (a lot within
portion 74) and 10 held by Ricketson and Ghinn. This is confusing, as the land area involved
was within Lee’s Lake Cowal Pastoral Holding 701, yet would appear to be an independent
pastoral property of some size well before the 1886 subdivision of 701. Subsequent ownership
of Lake Cowal Station is a bit confusing, different version saying it was acquired by John Boyd
Donkin in the 1880s, or by Sir Samuel Wilson in 1880.8 The latter seems correct, Donkin’s
station appearing to be further south near Marsdens, probably a part of the original and larger
Lake Cowal run.

The Lake Cowal woolshed, which appears from the map information quoted above to have been
built before 1886, may have been one of the first sheds in Australia to install mechanical
machinery in 1888.° While another source suggests the machines were installed in Donkin’s
Lake Cowal shed?, it is possible Wilson’s Lake Cowal might have been the shed involved, as
Sir Samuel Wilson also owner Dunlop Station on the Darling, the first shed to have mechanical
shears installed in 1887. This deserves further research.

Wilson’s Lake Cowal woolshed was the scene of a record-breaking clip in September 1935,
when shearers William Ellis and his sons Patrick and William Jnr. established a record for family
shearing of 656 sheep in one day.!!

The sequence of ownership of portions within the Cowal Gold Mining Lease area, as tracked
from the copies of parish maps annotated by the Lands Department Office is shown in the
following table.*?

7 Bland Historical Society ‘Lake Cowal historical research’: 88.

8 Bland Historical Society ‘Lake Cowal historical research’: 50, 88.

9 Walsh, G. 1993. Pioneering days: people and innovations in Australia’s rural past, Alen and Unwin,
Sydney: 86.

10 West of the Bland: 44.

u West of the Bland: 45.

12 From maps for Parish Corringle, County Gipps, Ed. 1 1895, Ed. 2 1895, Ed. 3 1909, Ed. 4 1921, Ed. 5 1929,
Ed. 6 1948, Parish Lake, County Gipps, Ed. 2 1902, Ed. 3 1938, Ed. 4 1939, Parish Cowal, County Gipps,
Ed. 1 1880, Ed. 2 1895, and Pastoral Run maps for “Lake Cowal 701°, Department of Land and Property
Information NSW web site http://www.lpi.nsw.gov.au/maps (2003).
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Holder and Details Date Notes
(purchase
confirmed)
Parish Corringle
2 F.W. Ricketson & Henry 1895 map Ricketson held the reduced Billabong
Ghinn Station to the south east in 1904
3 James Stewart CP81.169 4 Aug 1881 Map of Cowal Pastoral Holding 701.
Hut worth £30, dam and tank worth
£100. Forfeited 18.8.85, hut, tank,
ring barking, fencing and stacked
wood worth £159 5s. (1909 ed.)
Frank Allen CP85.47 12 Feb 1886
J.H. Palmer Pt ASL04-5 April 1904 Settlement Lease
Commercial Banking 1909 map
Company of Sydney
4 Australian Mortgage, Land 1895 map
& Finance Company
7 Annie Isabel Allen CP85.46 11 Feb 1886 Block on which Cowal West
homestead complex sits
7 Commercial Banking 1909 map
Company of Sydney
9 Annie Isabel Allen CL4656 11 Feb 1886
9 W.J. Hammond CP28.40 9 Dec 1910 subdivision
10 Frank Allen CL4657 12 Feb 1886
44 (ex 10) Frank Allen CL4657 12 Feb 1886
44 (ex 10) J.H. Palmer Pt ASL 04.5 April 1904
44 (ex 10) R.H. Thompson pt CL28.24 15 Feb 1929
11 Originally part of WR 579 22 Feb 1878
(watering reserve)
11 F.C.H. Allen CP86.19 6 May 1887
45 (ex 11) Beaufoy A. Greene Sp L 5 Feb 1908
45 (ex 11) Reserve for Flood Refuge 31 Aug 1928
45 (ex 11) R.C. Hammond 17/8/1995
12 Originally part of WR 579 22 Feb 1878
(watering reserve)
12 F.C.H. Allen CL6.51 6 May 1887
12 Bank of NSW 1909 map
12 R.C.J. Hammond CP28.41 29 Dec 1910 Subdivision
21 J.H. Palmer 1900
21 P. Hetherington 23 Nov 1928
22 J.H. Palmer 1904
22 R.H. Thompson pt CP28.24 15 Feb 1929
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Portion Number Holder and Details Date Notes
(purchase
confirmed)

Parish Lake The floor of Lake Cowal was
subdivided as Home Farm Grants in
the 1920s

22 W.C. Rathmell CP28.20 1928
23 Tom Croft Home Farm 1936
Grant 36.2
24 R.G. Buttenshaw HFG
24 M.W. Whiley SpL 31.58 1931
25 Frank Plackett Additional 1931
Home Farm Grant AHF32.1
Parish Cowal
1 (part of 74) F.W. Ricketson & H. Ghinn 1880 map 1886 map for Lake Cowal Pastoral
Holding 701 shows homestead in
position of present homestead, valued
at £880.
1 (part of 74) Clarence Hann & Co, I.P 1873 Shown on 1880 map, crossed out and
73.3298 replaced by Ricketson and Ghinn.
1 (part of 74) F.W. Ricketson & H. Ghinn 1880 map
10 Frederick William Ricketson March 28 1878. | 1886 map for Lake Cowal Pastoral
C.P.78.100 Holding 701 shows woolshed at
position of present woolshed ruin,
valued at £940, and adjacent huts
valued at £100.
10 Australian Mortgage, Land 1892 map
& Finance Company

Stock owners in the Lake Cowal area in 1904 are listed as*®:

Frank Allen Lake Cowal West 2,092 sheep

J.B. Donkin Lake Cowal, Marsdens 11,808 sheep, 28 cattle, 18 horses
Low Brothers Lake Cowal 6,340 sheep, 19 cattle, 8 horses
Wilson & Co. Lake Cowal Station 18,808 sheep

The exact boundaries between these stations have not been researched.

Cowal West

The portions making up the western section of the Cowal Mining Lease area were taken up by
Frank and Annie Isabel Allen between 1885 and 1887, and named ‘Cowal West’. This
acquisition would have been more understandable if the land had been in the resumed section of
Pastoral Holding 701, but it was in fact mainly in the leasehold section. This suggests that Lee
had already lost control of the property and the finance company was trying to sell-off its asset.

13 Bland District Historical Society, 1978. West of the Bland: A history of the Wyalong District, Bland District
Historical Society, West Wyalong: 36-38.
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It appears from the history of the portions making up Cowal West that Frank Allen disposed of
the property in the early 1900s. Allen sold to Beaufoy Greene, who, after misfortunes including
the burning of the homestead, sold to Key Perry. Perry’s resident manager was William McNair.
Perry in turn sold to William J. Hammond in the 1920s, Hammond living on the station with his
son and three daughters. The property was subdivided on Hammond’s death in the late 1920s.
Further subdivision of blocks in the Cowal West holdings occurred when the railway between
West Wyalong and Burcher was opened in 1930, the rail line reserve effectively cutting some
portions in half.

The remaining section of Cowal West was bought from Hammond’s son by Col Carnegie and
his family in 1954, who occupied the property until acquired by Barrick.'®

Lake Cowal farmstead blocks

Samuel Wilson at Lake Cowal Station carried out experiments in wheat growing and predicted a
good future for the crop in the district. In 1911 the leasehold land comprising the major part of

Wilson’s Lake Cowal Station was subdivided for wheat production. This included large areas in
the districts of Billy’s Lookout, Clear Ridge, Wyrra, Blow Clear and Wamboyne. ¥ These areas
are south and west of the Lake Cowal Gold area.'’

The Lake Cowal leases (parishes Blow Clear and Clear Ridge) were made available for closer
settlement from 21 April 1913. 35 blocks in Parish of Blow Clear and 21 in parish of Clear
Ridge were gazetted as Homestead Farms (an area capable of supporting a settler, his home and
family under reasonable conditions).8

Large tracts of Crown Land in the district were taken up for closer settlement following the First
World War and into the 1920s. Many were taken up by wheat farmers with little grazing
experience, and the blocks proved too small for self sufficient wheat production. Much of the
floor of Lake Cowal was taken up as small blocks in the 1920s.

‘Lakeside’, the farm formerly occupied by the Bolte family in the north of the Barrick holdings,

is an example of the Home Farm Grants, occupying the lake floor. Harold Bolte won the block
in a ballot in 1922, built a home for his family, and grew prize-winning wheat, as well as grazing
sheep and cattle. The homestead still stands.*®

The combination of depression and drought in the late 1920s and early 30s caused major distress
in the Wyalong/Cowal district, with the government becoming involved in a major relief
scheme. In 1940 the Commonwealth and State governments reached agreement on a scheme to
introduce a Rural Reconstruction Board to assess and rationalise farm size to produce viable
farm holdings. This work was substantially completed by 1950. The original 1,970 farmsina
3.5 million acres area, were reduced to 1,103 farms, and a better balance between wheat and
grazing was struck.?°

14 Bland Historical Society ‘Lake Cowal historical research’: 5.
15 Personal communication, Col Carnegie, 27/5/03.

16 West of the Bland: 48-49.

R West of the Bland: 40

18 West of the Bland: 40.

1 Bland Historical Society ‘Lake Cowal historical research’: 82.
20 West of the Bland: 41-42.
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One of the lake blocks was a 2,400 acres special lease given to Reg Rattey V.C. in recognition of
his Victoria Cross winning exploits in New Guinea in 1945. Rattey had grown up in
Barmedman, south of West Wyalong, and named his new Lake Cowal lease ‘Weeloona’. Rattey
built the homestead that stands in the block today.?! (see attached description of Rattey’s life and
V.C. award.)

2.2  DESCRIPTION OF THE PLACE
Cowal West
The Cowal West Homestead Complex consists of the following items:

Homestead building

The original Cowal West homestead, probably built by the Allens, burnt down about the turn of
the 20" century. A new homestead was built, probably in the first decade of the 20™" century. A
date on one of the fireplaces indicated 1916, but this might have post-dated the main
construction.??

The homestead as rebuilt consisted of a five-roomed cottage with a detached kitchen block of
two rooms (see fold-out plans attached).?® The main cottage had a large room with 3320mm
high ceiling, plaster-lined walls with picture rails and a polished floor, with a fireplace on the
northern wall. This room was separated by a timber-lined corridor from two timber-lined rooms,
also with 3320 high ceilings. These rooms were subsequently combined into one. This main
group of rooms had a hipped roof. At the rear were two rooms, possibly early additions, with a
gable roof and the same ceiling height as the main rooms, and being plaster lined with picture
rails.

The original gable-roofed kitchen block had two timber lined rooms with 3340mm high ceilings,
one room having a stove setting within a chimney, the other possibly being the original dining
room. Two rooms were subsequently added to the rear of the kitchen block, which had fibro-
lined walls and a skillion roof.

To the south of the main rooms was a three-roomed free-standing addition with a gable roof with
a gablet (gambrel) form on the eastern end, which was probably built soon after completion of
the main building. It has timber-lined rooms with 3260mm high ceilings. This suit of sleeping
rooms is separated from the main building by a wide corridor, roofed by the verandah
surrounding the main building. A verandah extends across the eastern front of the main building
and sleeping addition, and part way along the northern wall of the main building and along the
southern wall of the sleeping addition. The corners of the roof were decorated with decorative
metal fins (acroteria). All buildings were clad externally with weatherboards.

2 Website www.chapter-one.com/vc/award.asp?vc=1022
2 Personal communication, Col and Jenelle Carnegie, 27/5/03.
2 Described from plans drawn up in 1976 by architect George Guest, provided by Nyelva Carnegie..
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The homestead had this configuration until 1976, when extensive alterations and additions were
made, designed by the architect George Guest. At that date the corridor between the main
building and sleeping addition and the verandah south of the sleeping addition were enclosed,
new rooms formed, the merged large room in the main building was subdivided into two
bedrooms, and the sleeping addition extended west to create a bathroom. A roof was extended
over the northern side of the building to create a shaded area, but a proposed new room for that
location was not built. The kitchen was enlarged and redesigned, with a corridor inserted
separating it from the adjacent room. New entries were created into the living room and the
newly created bedroom.?*

The homestead is in good condition.

Woolshed and yards
The woolshed has six discernible stages of construction.

Stage 1 consists of an aisled gable-roofed set of sweating pens and catching pens, and the
shearing board. It is constructed with heavy round timber posts supporting the outside walls and
aisle walls, and clad externally in a combination of weatherboard, iron formed from flattened
drums, and horizontal planks. The top 300mm of the eastern wall adjacent to the sweating pens
is open and protected with chicken wire and fly wire. A light roof framing without trusses or
collar ties but simply pitched from the level of the top of the aisle posts, supports the corrugated
galvanised iron (CGI) roof. Several glass skylights have been inserted above the board. The
floor of the sweating and catching pens are timber gratings, formed either from sawn timber slats
or round timbers in some sections. The shearing board has a timber boarded floor.

The sweating pens and catching pens are divided by rails made of whole bush poles, morticed
into the upright posts. Gates in the central race are hurdles made of boughs morticed into a
frame, and raised vertically between posts, the ends of the hurdles contained within simple pairs
of battens attached to the posts. The hurdles are held up by a wire hook looped over a peg ina
beam above.

Gates into the sweating and catching pens are made of boughs morticed into a frame, and swung
on posts. The support posts either run up to the beam above, where they are morticed into the
beam which acts as a pivot, or are gate-height and supported at the top by a wrought iron hoop,
or later by a twisted wire loop. The bases of the support posts sit in a circular depression cut into
a timber plate set into the floor of the shed. The gates were originally (and some still are) held
closed by a wooden peg chained to the gate and fitting into a circular hole in the jamb-post. The
gates giving onto the board are boarded over a bough and plank ledged and braced frame.

Above the sweating and catching pens are doubled round timber beams acting as ties between

the posts supporting the aisles, and providing top-supports for the posts within the pens. The
sections above the northern and southern pen sections are boarded over to form an upper level,
used for storage.

2 described from plans
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The western aisle roof over the board has been raised by attaching new rafters higher-up the
main roof frame, held about 400mm above the level of the top of the aisle posts by timber
spacers, and extending to posts along the western wall about 300mm taller than those along the
eastern wall. The roof appears to have been raised by a total of about 700mm to allow for the
installation of mechanical sheering machinery, suggesting that the shed was originally built to
accommodate hand shearing (see implications in the Analysis of Evidence section).

The board has four stands for mechanical shears, with a line shaft above driven by an electric
motor. He chutes to the counting out pens are located between round timber posts along the
western wall.

Stage 2 consists of a two-bayed gable-roofed extension to the south, which forms a press room.
The roof has a ridge at the same height as the Stage 1 roof, but the roof slope is continuous to the
side posts, leaving a gap where it adjoins the double-slope of the Stage 1 roof above the Stage 1
aisle posts. This gaps has been partially infilled with iron sheet. The floor level is 300mm lower
than the level of the board and pens in Stage 1, the board level being extended into the western
side of Stage 2 to house the wool sorting tables. A series of partitions in the south-west corner
form wool bins, and double opening doors give access in the southern wall. The northern wall of
Stage 2 is weatherboard to about 2m height, separating it from the sweating and catching pensin
Stage 1.

The roof frames of Stage 2 have timber brackets to support a roller or pulley, probably
associated with the original wool press that would have been located here. The present wool
press is an electric Sunbeam press.

Stage 3 is a weatherboard and iron-clad skillion extension to the east of the southern bay of
Stage 2.

Stage 4 and 5 are a gable-roofed extension to the west of the shearing board. Stage 4 may be
contemporary with Stage 1, acting as the experts room, or it may have been added when the first
machine shears were introduced, as the engine room. The floor is timber boarded and at the
level of the board. It currently has a shelf with shearing components and related materials on it,
a coat rack, and a free-standing set of disc grinders.

Stage 5 is an extension about 250 mm wider than Stage 4, and has a dirt floor at a lower level,
with a large concrete pad extending into a skillion extension on the northern wall. This probably
housed a later engine for mechanical shears. Double opening doors give access to the west.
Stages 4 and 5 are clad in vertical boards, with no internal lining.

Stage 6 is an extension of the sweating pens on the northern wall of Stage 1. It has a slatted floor
and is clad in Flattened iron drums. Two doors give access from the pens to the north to the
central race and the eastern sweating pens. This addition was built in 1952.%

Artefacts within the woolshed include old lamb-bats (for gathering up lambs wool), slatted
sorting tables, bale stencils, two cane wool baskets, and the more recent modern disc grinder,
wool press and mechanical shears set.

25 Personal communication, Col Carnegie, 27/5/03.
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The yards extend about 65 metres north and 35 metres west of the woolshed. The yards are
roughly made and poorly maintained, consisting of sections of post and rail fencing, old iron
fencing, old gates, iron sheet and weldmesh panels. Only the southern section retains a formal
linear shape, the rest being without a straight section. A galvanised iron clad drop dunny is
located west of the yards.

Shearing Quarters
The shearing quarters, located 80 metres west of the woolshed, which were erected before Col
Carnegie arrived in 1954, are made up of four buildings.

Sleeping Quarters: Consisting of a gabled corrugated galvanised iron roof, timber-framed and
fibro-clad building with five rooms, supported on timber and concrete stumps. Each room is
approximately 3500mm by 2880mm in floor size, with a small shelf built onto the rear wall as
the only built-in furniture. Each room has a louvred window and single door, timber boarded
floor, and is fibro clad internally.

Kitchen and dining room: A gabled CGI roofed building, timber-framed and externally clad in
CGl and internally clad in fibro. The fibro-clad ceiling is 2740mm high. The building sits of
timber and concrete stumps, and has a suspended timber boarded floor. The building is divided
internally into two rooms by a partition with a central opening. Doors provide access into the
east and west sides of each room. The kitchen room has a ‘Younger’ iron stove set in a brick
fireplace with an external brick chimney on the southern wall. A bench top with sink occupies
most of the western wall. A large fly-wire covered food safe sits in the room, but has been
moved from its original location.

The dining room has a fireplace at the northern end with external brick chimney, and a fly-wire
walled food cupboard is built into the south-west corner of the room.

Shower block: A CGI clad skillion-roofed shed with concrete slab floor and housing three
shower stalls, a room for a water heater, and an externally accessed flush septic toilet.

Laundry: A CGI clad gable-roofed shed with concrete slab floor. A brick fireplace setting with a
pipe chimney for a laundry copper is located in the south-west corner, and bench on the eastern
wall. The interior has been clad in recent years in black plastic for use as a photographic dark
room by Jenelle Carnegie.

A 2750mm diameter CGI water tank sits in a space adjacent to all buildings.

Stables

The stables is a pole-framed drop-slab building. The main building is a two-storey gable-roofed
construction 8.88m long by 4.5m wide, having four bays on the ground floor separated by full-
height round posts on the perimeter and down the centre-line. The side-wall posts are 3.24m
high and the ridge is 4.8m high. The upper floor is a single-roomed loft, accessed by a door in
the eastern gable-end. The walls between the posts on the lower floor and on the upper side-
walls are infilled with horizontal drop-slabs of cypress pine in the form of thick split planks up to
70mm thick, 360mm wide and 2.5m long. Many of the slabs have fallen from the building. The
gable-ends above the log joists supporting the upper floor are clad in roughly made
weatherboards.

10—
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The ground floor has four bays, separated by three round pole rails spanning between the support
posts to a height of 1340mm. Between the bottom rail and the floor, a height of approx 550mm,
is infilled with slabs held between battens attached to each post. The floor of the western three
bays is made of slabs laid directly on the ground.

The western-most bay is a tack room, the round-timber joists supporting the upper floor having
wooden pegs inset into them on which to hang harness. The two central bays are stable stalls.
The western stall has a feed crib in the form of a hurdle attached at an angle to the upper rear
wall of the stall, and fed with hay through a slot in the floor above. The other stall has a wooden
trough, 340mm wide, supported between the bottom two side rails at each end. This is also fed
from the floor above, hay being fed into a cavity created by lining the adjacent posts on both
sides, the hay then being forked out of a gap left in this cavity above the trough. The posts at the
entry end of each stall has a broad curved peg attached, to support saddles, as well as subsidiary
pegs for harness.

The floor of the eastern-most bay is covered in coke, presumably to supply the blacksmith’s
forge which was originally located in a shed nearby. The walls of this bay are clad with flat iron
sheets, made from flatted drums.

In the southern walls of each bay were doors, either double or single hung.

A 4.5m wide skillion addition to the northern side of the main building has flat iron (flattened
drums) and weatherboard walls and a floor made of half-logs laid on the ground. The skillion
originally housed horse-drawn vehicles.

The stables building has a severe lean, up to 15° from the vertical on the eastern wall, due to the
rotting of the bases of key posts and the absence of cross-bracing. Many slabs and supporting
frames have fallen from the building, and the structure is at risk of imminent collapse.

Workers cottage

Two buildings form the worker’s cottage and bathroom. The cottage itself has several stages of
development. The original building was a two-roomed timber-framed weatherboard-clad
structure with gable roof. The two rooms were clad in tongue and groove boards, as was the
ceiling, and were separated by a 1970mm high tongue and groove boarded partition. A brick
fireplace and chimney was attached to the northern wall. Each room has a separate door off the
skillion-roofed verandah extending part way across the front of the building. The floor is timber
boarded, supported on low stumps.

An addition to the rear of the original building has side walls clad in weatherboards of a different
profile to the original, and is internally clad in fibro. The western wall is stud-framed and clad

only on the interior with fibro, suggesting the shed structure west of it were designed at the same
time to protect that wall from the weather.

West of the addition is the ruined remains of a pole-framed shed, not accessed from within the

cottage. Hinges on the remaining posts on the eastern wall suggest double-opening doors on that
side.
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The gable roof of the original cottage was extended over the addition and the rear shed. A CGI
water tank sits partly under the front verandah, which has a concrete slab floor.

A separate gable-roofed timber-framed weatherboard clad building is located immediately to the
north-east of the cottage, and is identified by Col Carnegie as a bathroom. The single door faces
east, and the floor is timber over short stumps. The gable-ends are clad in fibro. No fittings for
its supposed use survive.

The rear shed has substantially collapsed, and the addition is roofless. The southern wall of the
original cottage has separated from the rest of the building and has pulled away at the base. The
roof has several CGI sheets missing or detached, and the chimney and fireplace have collapsed.
The cottage is in poor condition. The bathroom is in fair condition.

Other buildings

Fibro cottage: A workman’s cottage is located to the north-east of the complex. It is a timber-
framed fibro cottage, in fair condition. Col Carnegie states that it was built in 1951. The cottage
was not recorded in detail.

Machinery Shed: A 22m x 9m steel-framed ribbed corrugated iron clad open-fronted machinery
shed was built by Col Carnegie in the 1970s.

Hay shed/Vehicle shelter: A tall pole-framed structure with a CGI roof supported on steel trusses
and with no wall cladding, 11m square, is a 1970s construction.

Hay shed ruin: A totally collapsed pole-framed shed, possibly contemporaneous with the stables,
is located north of that building. Timber posts, slabs and iron are scattered over the 9m x 10m
site, and part of the northern gable-end wall lies partly intact on the ground.

Feed shed: a modern CGI clad feed shed located adjacent to a small set of yards about 80m south
of the woolshed.

Vehicle/work shed: Located adjacent to the homestead, this steel-framed CGI clad open-fronted
shed is probably of 1970s vintage.

Garage: A weatherboard clad, fibro-lined garage is adjacent to the homestead.

Lake Cowal and adjacent blocks

Rattey’s house

Reg Rattey V.C.’s house on Lot 38, later acquired by the Buttenshaws, is a four-roomed timber-

framed CGI clad cottage with a two-roomed skillion extension at the rear. Internal cladding is

tongue and groove boards. An enclosed verandah ran around three sides of the house, and has

substantially collapsed in several sections. Most of the roofing iron has blown off, the verandahs
are in a state of collapse, and the main building is in poor condition. The front entry path is lined
with up-turned beer bottles. The building was not recorded in detail.
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Survey markers

Two survey markers were inspected. The first is a tree with a blaze within which is cut a broad
arrow and the numbers 38, 31 and 37 one above the other. Two adjacent trees have blazes cut in
them but no lettering. The marker is at the junctions of lots 38, 31 and 37 (formerly lots 3 and 4
of Portion 74).

The second marker is a tree with a blaze in which is carved ‘BM’ above the number 10 and the
letters ‘PT’. It is at the corner of Lot 10, Portion 4 (formerly lots 1 and 2 of portion 74). The
survey bench mark is a peg and nail located immediately below the blaze and encircled by the
roots.

Lake Cowal homestead complex
The Homestead Complex consists of:

» a substantial homestead building
» stables

»  two workers cottages

» garage /shed

» meat house

» machinery shed

dump

No recording was undertaken.

Lake Cowal Woolshed
A very large timber woolshed in very poor condition, largely collapsing located about 1.4km
south of the homestead.

Lake Cowal Shearer’s Quarters

Located on Sandy Creek (formerly Back Creek) between the homestead and the woolshed, the
quarters consist of weatherboard sleeping quarters with eight rooms, a kitchen/dining block,
generator shed and showers block. The quarters are not those shown in the 1886 plan of the area
(which were adjacent to the woolshed), but appear to be of a substantial age. The quarters
buildings are in a poor condition, but still standing.

2.3 ANALYSIS OF EVIDENCE
Thematic context
The NSW Heritage Office uses the NSW Historical Themes as a framework within which to

consider the possible aspects of significance of heritage places. There are also National Themes,
which can be related to the NSW themes.
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The Cowal West and Lake Cowal sites have a connection with the following NSW Historical

Themes:

NSW Historical Theme

Australian Theme

Relevance to Cowal Sites

Agriculture

Developing local, regional and
national economies

Settlement of the lake floor by Home Farm
Grant areas for wheat growing

Pastoralism Developing local, regional and Early runs, later station development, such
national economies as Cowal West and Lake Cowal.
Associated woolsheds, yards, homestead,
quarters.
Technology Developing local, regional and Transition from hand shears to mechanical

national economies

shearing exhibited in Cowal West and
Lake Cowal woolsheds.

Land tenure

Building settlements, towns and
cities

Changes in run, station and farm
configuration, survey trees, fencing.

Accommodation

Building settlements, towns and
cities

Homesteads, shearers quarters, workers
accommodation.

Labour Working Shearers quarters, workers
accommodation, woolsheds, stables,
machinery sheds. Changing shearers
conditions.

Domestic life Developing Australia’s cultural Homestead, shearers quarters, workers

life accommodation, kitchens, shower blocks.

Persons Marking the phases of life Associations with early squatters, station

holders, small settlers: Sir Samuel Wilson,
Frank Allen, Bolte family, Buttenshaws,
Ricketson, Reg Rattey V.C.

Recorded places in context—Cowal West

The pastoralism theme is one of the strongest reflected at Cowal West. The themes of
technology, accommodation, labour and domestic life are closely associated with the pastoralism
theme. Cowal West has historical associations with the early squatter runs and later stations, and
with the late 19" century subdivision of the runs. The woolshed and stables, in particular, relate
to late 19" century origins.

The homestead is typical of self-sufficient homesteads of the early 20" century. It demonstrates
the domestic living conditions of pastoral families through the 20" century, without exhibiting
the characteristics of its type in an outstanding way. Very many homesteads in rural NSW
demonstrate the same level of evidence. It is associated with a number of pastoral families of
local note.
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The woolshed demonstrates, in the lifting of the roof over the board, clear and uncommon
evidence of the technological change from hand shearing to mechanical shearing. No evidence
was located to provide the date of this change, but the very early conversion of the Lake Cowal
shed (either Wilson’s or Donkin’s) in 1888 illustrates that the technology was known at an early
date to the Allens at Cowal West. It can be assumed that the shed was converted to mechanical
shearing before the turn of the century. The mechanical handpiece was well established by
1900, and only one shed surveyed in the Riverina was still using hand-blades by 1923.%

The best study of woolsheds with which to compare the Cowal West shed is Peter Freeman’s
work. This study looked at 25 woolsheds in the broadly defined Riverina region. The nearest
sheds to Lake Cowal covered in the study are ‘Bygoo’ near Ardlethan, ‘Wallendbeen’,
‘Kingsvale’ and ‘Memagong’ near Young, and “Wooyeo’, ‘Uabba’ and ‘Naradhan’, near Lake
Cargellico.?” This study was done over 20 years ago, and Peter Freeman estimates that about
one third of the sheds he surveyed no longer exist today.?® The sheds date from the 1860s
through to the 1890s, so are directly comparable in age to the Cowal West shed.

Many of the sheds surveyed by Freeman were larger than Cowal West, but it is reasonably
typical in layout and detail for a small to medium-scale shed. The double-aisled design is more
or less the standard form for woolsheds of the period. The use of cypress pine for wall cladding
(only partly used at Cowal West) and internal rails was also common. Only two of the surveyed
sheds demonstrated the raising of the roof over the board to accommodate mechanical shears—
these being ‘Bundyulumblah’ (1880) near Moulamein, and ‘Roto’ (1889) near Hillston. Other
sheds converted to mechanical shears had sufficient head-room to accommodate the equipment
without major alteration, and hence have less physical evidence of the technological change.
The evidence at Cowal West is therefore uncommon.

While many of the sheds had gates and fences made of framed boughs, these were often replaced
with sawn timber or iron gates as the larger sheds were upgraded. While not rare, these features
at Cowal West are of note and are increasingly uncommon. Only one of the surveyed sheds had
its vertically-lifting race gates highlighted, were at ‘Bygoo’ (1867) near Ardlethan, where the
slatted gates are counter-balanced with pine log weights suspended from pulleys. While some
other sheds in NSW are known to have lifting gates (such as ‘Merriville’, Murrumbateman), the
vertical lifting gates at Cowal West would appear to be rare.

The yards adjacent to the woolshed have been poorly maintained in their original configuration
and have an ad hoc feel to their arrangement. The yards give little evidence of the arrangement
of stock handling at the height of the shed’s activities. They are not typical, nor are they a
significant rarity.

The Shearer’s Quarters are typical of 1930s-1940s era quarters—fibro and CGI cladding,
conforming to the Shearers Accommodation legislation. They contribute to completeness of the
overall complex, but are not of particular significance in their own right.

26 Freeman, P. 1980. The woolshed: a Riverina anthology, Oxford University Press, Melbourne: 39.
2 Freeman, The woolshed: a Riverina anthology.
28 Personal communication, Peter Freeman, 2/6/03.
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The Stables are uncommon in their age and retained details of drop-slab construction, use of
pole rail partitions, log floor and surviving chaff rack/crib, feed trough, and saddle pegs. Little
comparative evidence is available. Cypress pine drop log construction using round logs or split
half-logs is more common than split pine slabs as used here, but this construction is found in a
number of the Riverina woolsheds of a similar vintage.? The size of the slabs (up to 370mm
wide) puts them at or beyond the maximum size (12”) allowed to be cut without special permit
under the 1884 Crown Lands Act®, and is an interesting interpretative devise to show the
environmental changes in the local district. Similar chaff racks are found at ‘Fernhill’ (1858)
near Bowenfels, and ‘Cliefden’ (1842) near Carcoar,® and probably at other 19" century stables.
Saddle racks and pegs are common, though a standard inverted ‘V’ form seems more common
than the carved curved form found at Cowal West. While a good comparative analysis is not
possible, the Cowal West stables are assessed as being at least uncommon if not rare. The
condition of the stables, however, is very poor, and unless stabilised they are likely to collapse in
the near future. The stables have a strong visual appeal due to their rustic timber form and
obvious handcrafted construction.

The weatherboard workers cottage is of historical interest in illustrating the layout of the
working homestead complex, and demonstrating the conditions of worker accommodation in the
early 20" century. However, due to changes made to it over time, its poor condition, and the
incomplete nature of the evidence shown in the surviving structure, it is not a particularly good
example of its type.

The 1951 fibro-clad workers cottage is of a form and construction common throughout rural
NSW, and is not considered to be of significance.

The remaining buildings, constructed in the 1970s and later, are considered to be part of the
contemporary use of the property, and, other than as evidence of the historical development of
the complex over time, not considered to be of heritage significance.

Recorded places in context—Lake Cowal Station

The identified places on Lake Cowal Station, outside the Development Approval area for the
Cowal Gold project, were not recorded or assessed. The following analysis is based on a brief
inspection only, and would require additional work to confirm a final assessment.

The Lake Cowal Homestead complex is directly related to the second generation of pastoral
runs in the Lake Cowal region, and together with its woolshed and shearing quarters appears to
have historical associations and physical remains of potential heritage significance.

Lake Cowal Woolshed is a large shed that would benefit from an analysis in the context of
Freeman’s wider survey of the Riverina sheds. It is possibly one of the earliest sheds to be
converted to mechanical shearing. The shed is in ruin, and is beyond effective conservation, but
its recording would salvage potentially important historical and technological evidence of local
and regional significance. The original shearers quarters were adjacent to the shed (as shown on
1885 subdivision map), and may have left archaeological evidence.

2 Freeman, The woolshed: a Riverina anthology
30 Freeman, The woolshed: a Riverina anthology: 26.
31 Roxbough, R. and Baglin, D. 1978. Colonial farm buildings of New South Wales, Righy, Sydney: 131-133.
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The Lake Cowal Shearer’s Quarters are of as yet unknown age, but appear to be early 20t
century in date. They are potentially of greater significance than the Cowal West quarters.

Rattey’s house is closely associated with a prominent Australian, due to his war record, who
also typified the small-scale settlement of the lake area.

The survey marker trees appear to be related to subdivision of the lake bed blocks in the 1920s,
and are interesting evidence of the survey of the local area.

3. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The following statement of significance is based on the criteria used for assessments for the
NSW Heritage Register. The assessment is for the Cowal West complex only.

Statement of Significance

Cowal West homestead complex is of local significance in reflecting the late-19"" century
creation of pastoral properties out of the earlier large runs, typifying the pattern of land
settlement in central NSW established at that time.

The woolshed has significant evidence of the change from hand shearing to mechanical shearing,
a technological advance that had a major influence on the consolidation of pastoralism as the
dominant landuse of the region. The woolshed contains construction elements and fittings that
are uncommon or rare in the region, and under substantial risk throughout the state. It is an
important example of its type in the region. It has some potential to reveal new information
about 19" century woolshed construction, given its relatively unaltered internal details. The
interior of the woolshed has some aesthetic appeal due to its rustic character and demonstrated
craftsmanship.

The stables contain construction elements and fittings that are uncommon or rare, and under
substantial risk. The stables have some aesthetic appeal due to their rustic character and
demonstrated craftsmanship. Initial assessment (without good comparative evidence) suggests
the building is an important example of its type in the region.

The pastoral families associated with the development of Cowal West, including the Allen,

Greene, Hammond and Carnegie families, are closely associated with the history of the local

Lake Cowal area.

Breakdown of significance by criterion

Criterion A: an item is important in the course, or pattern, of NSW’s cultural or natural history;
Cowal West homestead complex is of local significance in reflecting the late-19" century

creation of pastoral properties out of the earlier large runs, typifying the pattern of land
settlement in central NSW established at that time.
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The woolshed has significant evidence of the change from hand shearing to mechanical
shearing, a technological advance that had a major influence on the consolidation of
pastoralism as the dominant landuse of the region.

Criterion B: an item has strong or special association with the life or works of a person, or
group of persons, of importance in NSW’s cultural or natural history;

The pastoral families associated with the development of Cowal West, including the
Allen, Greene, Hammond and Carnegie families, are closely associated with the history
of the local Lake Cowal area.

Criterion C: an item is important in demonstrating aesthetic characteristics and/or a high degree
of creative or technical achievement in NSW;

The complex as a whole is typical of the layout, design and visual character of medium-
scale pastoral holdings in the region, but does not have outstanding aesthetic values or
evidence of creative or technical achievement originating on the property. The Stables
have some aesthetic appeal due to their rustic character and demonstrated
craftsmanship. The interior of the woolshed shares this aesthetic appeal.

Criterion D: an item has strong or special associations with a particular community or cultural
group in NSW for social, cultural or spiritual reasons;

Does not apply

Criterion E: an item has potential to yield information that will contribute to an understanding
of NSW’s cultural or natural history;

The woolshed has some potential to reveal new information about 19" century
woolshed construction, given its relatively unaltered internal details. The rubbish
dumps appear to have been both cleaned up and scavenged for bottles, and little
archaeological potential remains.

Criterion F: an item possesses uncommon, rare or endangered aspects of NSW’s cultural or
natural history;

The woolshed and the stables contain construction elements and fittings that are
uncommon or rare in the region, and under substantial risk throughout the state.
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Criterion G: an item is important in demonstrating the principal characteristics of a class of
NSW’s
. cultural or natural places; or
. cultural or natural environments.

The homestead complex as a whole is typical of its kind, but is not assessed as an
important example. The woolshed and stables are important examples of their type,
retaining construction elements and fittings now uncommon or rare in other examples.

4. CONCLUSIONS

The Cowal West Homestead Complex has local significance. The key elements of the place that
underpin that significance are the woolshed and to a lesser degree the stables. The woolshed is
certainly of local significance, and potentially of regional significance. The stables are of local
significance, the assessment of their wider importance requiring further comparative research.

The woolshed is capable of being conserved. The building is in good condition, and superficial
examination suggests conservation would not be a major undertaking. If conservation in situ is
not feasible, the option of moving the shed to a new location should be critically assessed before
being adopted. The shed is of pole construction, so it cannot be moved intact or in sections, but
would have to be taken apart and totally reconstructed in its new location. The significance of
the building in its original place and context would be irretrievably lost, and the risk of loss of
physical evidence and aesthetic character in the process of demolition and reconstruction would
be great. The cost benefit and heritage benefit of such a move has to be questioned. The Burra
Charter stresses that the moving of a building ‘should not be to the detriment of any place of
cultural significance.

If demolition cannot be avoided, it is recommended that representative components of the gates,
hurdles and movable artefacts be salvaged from the building and donated to a collecting
institution (local museum, state museum, Shearer’s Hall of Fame etc) with appropriate financial
assistance to allow their proper display interpretation and conservation.

The stables are capable of conservation, if action is taken immediately. Similar concerns to
those expressed about the woolshed arise about moving the building if conservation in situ is not
feasible. While the stables are more likely to be easier to disassemble and re-erect, it is high-risk
proposition from the point of view of retention of cultural significance. A critical consideration
is whether there is a potential recipient of the moved building who would be able to guarantee
ongoing conservation and public access and interpretation. Without such a recipient, removal of
the building may be a costly step that simply postpones the building’s eventual destruction.

The places on Lake Cowal Station, outside the development application area but owned by
Barrick, are of considerable historical interest and potentially of local or regional heritage
significance. Their further research and recording is recommended, to assist Barrick make
appropriate decisions about their future use and possible conservation.
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APPENDIX ]
GROUND VIBRATION AND AIRBLAST OVERPRESSURE

(Informative)

J1 INTRODUCTION

The contents of this Appendix are designed to be informative and are not intended to over-
ride existing statutory requirements, particularly with respect to human comfort limits set
by various authorities. This Appendix should be read in conjunction with any such statutory
requirements and with regard to their respective jurisdictions. The intention of the present
reccommendations for both human comfort limits and damage limits is to provide
information that reflects current best practice globally.

This Appendix addresses two common environmental effects of blasting: ground vibration
and airblast. It provides background information, guidelines for measurement and criteria
for peak levels.

It is recognized that ground vibration and airblast produced by blasting falls into two
categories—

(a) those causing human discomfort: and

(b) those with the potential for causing damage to structures, architectural elements and
services.

Generally, human discomfort levels set by authorities are less than the levels that are likely
to cause damage to structures, architectural elements and services. Ground vibration and
airblast levels are influenced by a number of factors, some of which are not under the
control of the shotfirer.

Complaints may arise following a blast and it is recommended that accurate records be
maintained. Such records should describe the location of the blast and all the blastholes, the
design of the blast in terms of explosives and initiating system usage and ground vibration
and airblast measurement data. It is recommended that the records be kept for at least seven
(7) years. A longer period of retention of the records may be warranted if a region of the
mine, quarry or construction project is blasted over an extended or disrupted period.
Standardized criteria for ground vibration and airblast are used to evaluate a blast. There
arc various jurisdictions and sources for these criteria and this Appendix presents pertinent
information and references to it.

The correct measurement of ground vibration and airblast requires systems with adequate
sensitivity, dynamic range and frequency response. People may easily confuse the sources
of their discomfort. Not only may they assess incorrectly the true level of ground vibration
and airblast but they misconstrue the actual source. For example, secondary noise is often
attributed to ground vibration but this noise, such as windows and crockery rattling, may
have been caused either by the ground vibration or airblast. Persons responsible for, or
involved with the blast, should have a good understanding of such issues and be able to
communicate that understanding to affected pcople. Monitoring records may support the
communication.

Blasts should be designed according to the prevailing regulatory controls from both a
human comfort and damage perspective. All efforts should be made to minimise
environmental disturbances.

Information in this Appendix is presented as follows:

(i) Paragraph J1 provides a general introduction.
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(i) Paragraph J2 provides a broad description of the phenomena of ground vibration and
airblast.

(ii1) Paragraph J3 describes typical measurement system requirements and procedures.

(iv) Paragraph J4 gives examples of maximum levels of ground vibration for human
comfort that some authorities have chosen. It also gives levels for the prevention of
damage to structures, architectural elements and services from ground vibration.

(v) Paragraph J5 gives examples of maximum levels of airblast for human comfort that
some authorities have chosen. It also gives levels for the prevention of damage to
structures, architectural elements and services from airblast.

(vi) Paragraph J6 provides guidance for operating practice where ground vibration and
airblast are of concern and suggests a protocol for communication in the event of
complaints arising from ground vibration and airblast produced by blasting.

(vii) Paragraph J7 provides methods for the preliminary estimation of ground vibration and
airblast magnitudes

(viii) Paragraph J8 provides a bibliography of work relevant to this Appendix.

J2 DESCRIPTION OF THE PHENOMENA
J2.1 Ground vibration

Ground vibration from blasting is the radiation of mechanical energy within a rock mass or
soil. It comprises various vibration phases travelling at different velocities. These phases
are reflected, refracted, attenuated and scattered within the rock mass or soil, so that the
resulting ground vibration at any particular location will have a complex character with
various peaks and frequency content. Typically, higher frequencies are attenuated rapidly so
that at close distances to the source such frequencies will be present in greater proportion
than at far distances from the source.

The magnitude of the ground vibration together with ground vibration frequency are
commonly used to define damage criteria. The choice of the appropriate damage criterion
may require consideration of the frequencies arising from the blast.

Studies and experience show that well designed and controlled blasts are unlikely to create
ground vibrations of a magnitude that causes damage. Particular structures such as tall
buildings, or abnormal ground conditions such as water-logged ground, should be carefully
considered in a specialist study.

Cracks in buildings may be attributable to causes other than ground vibration, including
ground or foundation movements (settlement and swell) associated with reactive clay soils
during periods of prolonged dry or wet weather.

J2.2 Airblast

Airblast is the pressure wave (sound) produced by the blast and transmitted through the air.
Unlike ground vibration there is only one airblast phase but it too is a complex wave-train
consisting of various peaks and with a range of frequencies. The sources of airblast include
a usually small air pressure pulse generated by the ground vibration, a direct air pressure
pulse generated by the rock movement during blasting and an air pressure pulse caused by
direct venting of gases from the region of the blast. It is important to recognise that airblast
may be reflected by layers within the atmosphere and that the airblast may be refocused at
distances remote from the blast.
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Airblast may be heard by people if it contains energy in the audible frequency range,
typically between 20 Hz and 20 kHz. However, some of the energy is sub-audible and lies
in the frequency range between 2 Hz and 20 Hz. Such low frequency airblast is often
experienced indoors as secondary audible effects, such as rattling of windows and of sliding
doors. A blast perceived as loud may have a low airblast level and a blast that is barely
noticeable outdoors may have a high airblast level.

At distances where both effects are above perceptible levels, airblast is usually felt after any
ground vibration. Ground-transmitted vibration waves from a blast normally travel faster
than the air-transmitted airblast overpressure.

Airblast is generally the cause of more complaints than ground vibration.

Airblast levels that are barely noticeable are much lower than those that will cause damage.
Because of a large dynamic range, airblast levels are measured typically on a logarithmic
decibel scale (dB). On this scale, an increase of 6 decibels represents a doubling of the
sound pressure levels.

Airblast levels may also be reported as an A-weighted (dBA) or C-weighted (dBC) value.
These scales adjust the frequency content of the measured airblast time history. Linear-
weighting (dBL) implies no adjustment of the frequency content in the measured records.
The A-weighting is commonly associated with the hearing response of humans and is most
often used for assessing general noise levels associated with machinery and vehicular
traffic. The C-weighting, which attenuates the frequencies more than does A-weighting. is
often used for impulsive sounds such as the sonic booms of aircraft.

As an example, if a sound level meter measures an airblast level of 115 dBL, the same
meter would measure approximately 90 dBA for the same event. The frequency content of
the particular airblast time history will determine the relative levels between the dBL and
dBA readings.

All airblasts should be reported on the dBL scale, particularly when considering structural
and architectural effects, and the other weighting scales should be used as required.

J3 MEASUREMENT
J3.1 General
J3.1.1 Management

The proper management of blasting operations demands that records be kept for each blast.
As a minimum, this includes the blast location, the blast geometry, the explosives loaded,
the initiation design and the location of any man-made or natural structures that may be
affected by the blast. Such information is invaluable for continuous improvement of the
desirable outcomes from the blast, but also provides information for analyses concerning
ground vibration and airblast exceedences.

Measurements of ground vibration and airblast are made in a varicty of ways and for
different reasons. While a standard approach is recommended, it must be remembered that
blasting will have a different end effect on each and every structure. The standard approach
is useful for routine monitoring of relatively standard blasts under relatively uniform
conditions.

Special monitoring techniques may be required for other conditions, but these are not
addressed in this Appendix.

[t is emphasized that measurement equipment used should comply with Paragraphs J3.2.1
and J3.3.1 of this Standard. It should be noted that regulatory authorities may require or
approve the use of ecquipment with specifications different from those given in
Paragraphs J3.2.1 and J3.3.1 to meet specific situations.
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J3.1.2 Typical blast monitoring guidelines

The following are intended only as general guidelines, and cannot describe methods for all
types of field conditions:

(a)  Read the instrument instruction manual An operator should be familiar with the
instrument and competent in its use. Emphasis must be placed on awareness of
maintenance issues.

(b)  Instrument calibration Instrument calibration must be maintained, be traceable and
documented. As a guideline, instrument calibration should be carried out at intervals
not exceeding 12 months.

(c)  Pre-blast preparation The operator must be informed of the monitoring conditions
before setting out, particularly the size of blast, the designed effective charge mass
per delay, the designed blast duration and distance to all monitoring locations. Other
pertinent data that should be noted include user’s name, date, time, location,
instrument trigger levels and instrument identification number.

(d) Record the full waveform The instrument must have sufficient memory capacity
available and be configured to save waveforms long enough for the blast design and
distance. As a rule of thumb, 3 seconds per kilometre should be allowed plus the blast
duration. Under certain circumstances, particularly for airblast recording using a
sound level meter with acceptable frequency response, it may be appropriate to use a
calibrated instrument that records only peak levels with and without weighting
factors.

(e) Record the blast The effort of deploying the instrument justifies sufficient care to
ensure a successful recording. Once installed on site, the system must be tested, and
trigger levels must be as low as possible yet sufficiently above local background to
avoid spurious events. Having saved the measurement, the data must be secured and
available for any subsequent analysis.

(f)  Ground vibration transducer placement The ground vibration transducer should be
effectively coupled as described in Paragraph J3.2.2.

(g) Microphone The microphone should be mounted at a height of not less than one
metre with the windshield attached as described in Paragraph J3.3.2.

J3.2 Ground vibration
J3.2.1 Measuring equipment

Typically, the measurement of ground vibrations uses transducers for particle velocity
(geophone) or particle acceleration (accelerometer). Accelerometers tend to be used in
specialist applications due tc their (generally) superior specifications. The data from
accelerometers may be converted readily to particle velocity by integration, either in
hardware or software. The discussion in this clause is restricted to measurements of particle
velocity.

Particle velocity is normally expressed in millimetres per second (mm/s). A vibration
transducer should produce signals for three mutually orthogonal axes and preferably with
one sensor measuring the vertical direction and the other two in horizontal directions. This
arrangement enables a rapid assessment of vibrations in a coordinate system applicable to
most man-made structures. Data records in three orthogonal directions may be transformed
into any other curvilinear coordinate system that is relevant to the structure of concern.
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The measurement equipment should record. and be able to play back these signals tor the
full duration of the blast event. The measurement equipment, or associated software, should
indicate the absolute maximum signal value for each of the three components over this
duration, referred to as the Peak Component Particle Velocity (PCPV) Also the
measurement equipment should indicate the maximum of a root sum of squares calculation
for the three components performed over the whole signal duration, referred to as the
Vector Peak Particle Velocity (VPPV). Instrumentation noise (including electrical
disturbances) measured as a peak value should be less than 10% of VPPV. The frequency
range of the measurement equipment must be at least 2 Hz to 250 Hz (-3 dB roll off), with
a tolerance of 10% over this frequency range (see Figure J3.2.1). The use of equipment with
a frequency response range of 5 to 250 Hz, which was specified in AS 2187.2—1993,
should be permitted in the vast majority of situations where this frequency range is
adequate. For a digital system, the recommended minimum sampling frequency is 500 Hz.
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J3.2.2 Measuring technique

The purpose of the measurement is to measure the magnitude of ground vibration that is
transmitted to the structure at ground level.

Ground vibrations should normally be measured on the ground near the point of concern.
The measurement location(s) should be away from structures that may produce reflections
and cause spurious readings. Poor ground conditions for instrument coupling or lack of
access should not preclude taking measurements on the foundation of the structure at
ground level; however, it should be noted that measurements taken on the structure above
ground level can be misleading as they are often exaggerated by structural or modal
response. The choice of locations and the process of undertaking ground vibration
measurement should be restricted to competent persons.

When setting up the instrument, the operator should estimate the likely range of ground
vibration in order to set appropriate scales and trigger levels.
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The basis for coupling the transducer is to ensure that it faithfully records the motion of the
ground. The preferred coupling method depends on site conditions. Where there is a rigid
surface (e.g.. concrete or rock) adhesive or mechanical bonding can be used. Where the
surface is soil, the transducer can be embedded or fixed to an embedded mount (for
example, 200 mm concrete cube or similarly sized cylinder). If measurements are repeated
at the same location, an embedded mount is particularly justified for consistency of results.
Coupling with soil spikes in soft conditions may lead to exaggerated measurements and is
not recommended.

The orientation of all transducers with respect to the blast location should be documented
by the operator. The information needs to be sufficient so that each and every component
vibration can be placed in the same global coordinate system used for the blastholes within
a blast. Such orientation information is also required for triaxial transducers housed in an
integrated container.

J3.3 Airblast
J3.3.1 Measuring equipment

The measurement of airblast overpressure uses a microphone and the airblast is usually
expressed in Pascals (Pa) or decibels Linear (dBL). The measurement equipment should
record the absolute maximum pressure level. In general, it is recommended that the
measurement equipment record, and be able to reproduce this signal for the full duration of
the blast event. The measurement equipment should indicate the absolute maximum signal
value in dBL, a logarithmic (decibel) scale with linear weighting referred to a pressure of
20 mPa. This scale does not modify the frequency content of the airblast and may be used
for assessing the likelihood of airblast-induced damage. Instrumentation noise (including
electrical disturbances) measured as a peak value should be at least 20 dBL less than the
measured peak. The frequency range of the measurement equipment must be at least 2 Hz to
250 Hz (-3 dB roll off), with a tolerance of =1 dBL over this frequency range (see
Figure J3.3.1). For a digital system, the recommended minimum sampling frequency is
500 Hz.

Where the airblast measurement is triggered by the ground vibration, the recording duration
has to be sufficient for the monitoring distance. As a rule of thumb, 3 s per kilometre is
allowed, plus the blast duration.

It is useful for the recording equipment and/or the associated software to have provision for
analysing the airblast levels using an A-weighting, C-weighting and the associated sound
exposure levels in order to provide extra information relating to human comfort levels.
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J3.3.2 Measuring technique

The microphone should be oriented in a direction of maximum sensitivity to the incident
sound. A windshield should be fitted in accordance with the manufacturer’s
recommendations.

The microphone should be mounted on a tripod or similar stable stand and located at least
1 m from ground level unless a specific investigation shows that measurements taken at a
lower height are valid. It should be located away from structures that may produce
reflections and cause spurious readings.

J3.4 Blast monitoring records

Blast monitoring records provide the data for determining any improvements in blast
outcomes, including the management and control of ground vibration and airblast. As a
minimum, blast monitoring records should include the following:

(a) The size of the blast in terms of the number of blastholes and the quantity of
explosives in each blasthole.

(b)  The method of initiation and the timing sequence to be used in the blast.
(¢) The date and time of the blast.

(d) The location of the measurement transducers (geophones, accelerometers,
microphones).

(e) Instrument trigger levels.

(f)  Measurement equipment and operator details.

(g) The location of the blast in relation to the mine, quarry or construction site lease.
(h)  The location of any structures and/or persons who may be affected by the blast.

(j)  The measured ground vibration and airblast values including the peak particle
velocity values for each of the triaxial components, a derived vector peak particle
valuc and the peak airblast levels,
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Blast monitoring records should, wherever possible, include the following:
(i)  The location of each blasthole collar.

(ii)  Face survey information indicating the proximity of the nearest blastholes to any free
faces within the blast.

(iii)  Full time histories of the ground vibration and airblast responses.

(iv) Weather conditions, especially wind speed, cloud cover and direction and any other
notable conditions such as rain.

(v) Information derived from a video of the blast.

(vi) Any subjective information from the shotfirer and any persons who may be affected
by the blast.

A copy of these records should be included in the site blast records.

J4 GROUND VIBRATION LEVELS
J4.1 General

The maximum levels for ground vibration for human comfort that some authorities have
chosen are set out in Paragraphs J4.2 to J4.5.
NOTE: The maximum levels advised in this Appendix are designed to be informative and are not
intended to override existing statutory requirements, particularly with respect to human comfort
limits set by various authorities.

The methods of data analysis for these limits are also presented. In part, such analyses are a
departure from that described in earlier and other Standards and the intention is to provide
sufficient detail so that expert persons may implement these in hardware and/or software.

J4.2 Ground vibration

Vibration transmitted through the ground may cause damage to structures and architectural
elements or discomfort to their occupants. The vibration levels at which people become
annoyed are well below vibration levels at which damage occurs. The likelihood of such
damage or discomfort may be ascertained by measuring the vibration from a blast close to
the location of concern such as a building or other structure.

For all limits it is necessary to measure in three orthogonal directions, one in the vertical
direction and the other two in perpendicular horizontal directions. Such measurements align
with most structural members in man-made structures. From such measurements it is
possible to derive the Vector Peak Particle Velocity (VPPV) and the Peak Component
Particle Velocity for each direction (PCPV). The magnitude of the vector particle velocity
(vp) is the amplitude of the vector sum of three time-synchronised velocity components
directly measured by an instrument. When not measured directly it may be determined by
the following Equation:

=y p? 42 ...J42
Vv, =qVi tV, T V]

where v,. vy and v, are the synchronized instantaneous velocity components of the x, y and z
axes, respectively. The VPPV is the maximum of v,.

J4.3 Human comfort limits
NOTE: Statutory requirements for human comfort limits for ground vibration may apply in
respective jurisdictions.

General guidance on human response to building vibrations is given in AS 2670.2,
ISO 2631-2 and BS 6472,
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J4.4 Damage limits
J4.4.1 General

Frequency independent and frequency dependent guide levels are described in both British
Standard BS 7385-2 and the United States Bureau of Mines (USBM) RI 8507. The levels
specified are peak component particle velocities, and the methodologies used for assessing
the frequencies are similar in both documents.

Frequency-dependent criteria are important for assessing the blast-induced vibration effects
on buildings and other structures and are the recommended approach.

J4.4.2 Frequency-independent levels

Frequency-dependent criteria may not be readily implemented for all parties concerned with
this Standard.

For explosives users who do not have the facilities to use frequency-dependent assessment
methods, the levels specified in Table J4.5(B), which are more conservative for most
blasting applications, will reduce the potential for damage. The Table should be used in
conjunction with the notes that follow it.

Wherever possible, the ground vibration levels from all blasting operations must be limited
to the damage limit criteria shown below in Figures J4.4.2.1 or J4.4.2.2 at all sites not in the
ownership or control of the organisation commissioning the blasting.
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J4.4.3 Frequency dependent levels

Frequency-dependent guide levels described in British Standard BS 7385-2 and the United
States Bureau of Mines (USBM) RI 8507 are given below. The levels specified are peak
component particle velocities, and the methodologies used for assessing the frequencies, are
similar in both documents.

The frequency-dependent guide values from BS 7385-2 for the prevention of minor or
cosmetic damage occurring in structures from ground vibration are shown in Table J4.4.2.1
and Figure J4.4.2.1 below:

TABLE J4.4.2.1

TRANSIENT VIBRATION GUIDE VALUES FOR COSMETIC DAMAGE

(BS 7385-2)
Peak component particle velocity in frequency
Line Type of building range of predominant pulse
4 Hz to 15 Hz 15 Hz and above
1 Reinforced or framed 50 mm/s at 4 Hz and

structures. Industrial and heavy | above
commercial buildings

2 Unreinforced or light framed 15 mm/s at 4 Hz 20 mm/s at 15 Hz
structure. Residential or light increasing to 20 mm/s | increasing to 50 mm/s at
commercial type buildings at 15 Hz 40 Hz and above

NOTES:

1 Values referred to are at the base of the building.

2  For line 2, at frequencies below 4 Hz, a maximum displacement of 0.6 mm (zero to peak)
should not be exceeded.

100

Line 1

s —

20 /

"7 Line 2

Peak component particle velocity. mm/s
N

4 10 15 40 100 200 250

Frequency (Hz)

FIGURE J4.421 TRANSIENT VIBRATION GUIDE VALUES FOR COSMETIC DAMAGE
(BS 7385-2)
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British Standard 7385-1 damage classification is shown in Table J4.4.2.2.

TABLE J4.4.2.2

BS 7385-1:1990—DAMAGE CLASSIFICATION

Damage classification

Description

Cosmetic

The formation of hairline cracks on drywall surfaces or the
growth of existing cracks in plaster or drywall surfaces; in
addition, the formation of hairline cracks in the mortar joints
of brick/concrete block construction

Minor

The formation of cracks or loosening and falling of plaster or
drywall surfaces, or cracks through bricks/concrete blocks

Major

Damage to structural elements of the building, cracks in
support columns, loosening of joints, splaying of masonry
cracks etc.

The frequency dependent alternative blasting criteria for low-rise residential buildings
given in (ISBM) RI 8507 are shown in Figure J4.4.2.2 and Table J4.4.2.3.

10.0 T

TTTTT

PPV (ips)

0.1 1

T TTTTTT T T T TTT250

L 11110

1

PPV (mm/s)

1 1 111

10 100
Frequency (Hz)

FIGURE J4.42.2 USBM 'SAFE’ BLASTING VIBRATION LEVEL CRITERIA

USBM damage classifications are shown in Table J4.4.2.3.
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TABLE J4.4.2.3
USBM DAMAGE CLASSIFICATION

Uniform classification Description of damage

Threshold Loosening of paint; small plaster crack at
joints between construction elements;
lengthening of old cracks

Minor Loosening and falling of plaster; cracks in
masonry around openings near partitions;
hairline to 3 mm cracks (0 to 1/8 in); fall of
loose mortar

Major Cracks of several mm in walls; rupture of
opening vaults; structural weakening; fall of
masonry, €.g., chimneys; load support ability
effected

Authoritative investigations (see Paragraph J8, Item 1) suggest that the guide values and
assessment methods given in BS 7385-2 and (USBM) RI 8507 are applicable to Australian
conditions, and are recommended for explosives users with the facilities to make use of
these methods.

The estimation of the frequency of each vibration component to be used in structural
damage assessment is complex. Simple approaches suggested within the BS 7385-2 and
(USBM) RI 8507 includes—

(a) frequency of the maximum PPV amplitude peak;
(b) dominant frequency of the component vibration time history; and
(c) zero crossing frequency of the PPV amplitude peak.

The (USBM) RI 8507 and BS 7385-2 methodologies for assessing frequencies have been
widely used for many years, and were suitable for use with desktop and laptop computers
with the power that was commonly available in the 1980s and early 1990s. It appears that
the motion frequencies determined by simple methods, such as zero crossing, are
conservative for assessing damage potential.
NOTE: A method under development, which may give greater accuracy, uses the
(USBM) RI 8507 frequency-dependent limits (which are similar to the limits specified in
BS 7385-2) but with a more accurate methodology for assessing frequencies.
The method has been tested and published [see Fragblast 7-Beijing (1992) which may be found at
http://www.isee.org and search their publications]. At the time of writing this Standard, software
systems for the practical use of this method by explosives users were being developed, but were
not in general use.

J4.5 Recommended ground vibration limits

NOTE: Statutory requirements for human comfort limits for ground vibration may apply in
respective jurisdictions.

The maximum levels for ground vibration for human comfort, which some authorities have
chosen, are provided in Table J4.5(A). Recommended limits for ground vibration for
control of damage to structures are provided in Table J4.5(B).

Frequency-dependent limits have the capacity to precisely deal with the hazards presented
by ground vibration and are seen as the basis for best practice blasting. The particular
frequency-dependent criteria should be reported with the measurements. All the limits given
in Tables J4.5(A) and J4.5(B) are peak component particle velocities, as used in overseas
Standards and guidelines. The classification of type of structure may be difficult and when
in doubt, a more conservative limit from the nearest description in Table J4.5(B) should be
applied.
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TABLE J4.5(A)

GROUND VIBRATION LIMITS FOR HUMAN COMFORT CHOSEN BY SOME
REGULATORY AUTHORITIES (see Note to Table J4.5(B))

Category

Type of blasting
operations

Peak component particle velocity (mm/s)

Sensitive site*

Operations lasting
longer than 12 months
or more than 20 blasts

5 mm/s for 95% blasts per year 10 mm/s maximum
unless agreement is reached with the occupier that
a higher limit may apply

Sensitive site*

Operations lasting for
less than 12 months or
less than 20 blasts

10 mm/s maximum unless agreement is reached
with occupier that a higher limit may apply

Occupied non-sensitive
sites, such as factories

All blasting

25 mm/s maximum unless agreement is reached
with occupier that a higher limit may apply. For
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and commercial premises sites containing equipment sensitive to vibration,
the vibration should be kept below manufacturer’s
specifications or levels that can be shown to

adversely effect the equipment operation

*A sensitive site includes houses and low rise residential buildings, theatres, schools, and other similar
buildings occupied by people.

NOTE: The recommendations in Table J4.5(A) are intended to be informative and do not override
statutory requirements with respect to human comfort limits set by various authorities. They should be
read in conjunction with any such statutory requirements and with regard to their respective jurisdictions.

TABLE J4.5(B)

RECOMMENDED GROUND VIBRATION LIMITS FOR CONTROL OF DAMAGE
TO STRUCTURES (see Note)

Category Type of b.lasting Peak component particle velocity
operations (mm/s)
Other structures or architectural All blasting Frequency-dependent damage limit criteria
elements that include masonry, plaster Tables J4.4.2.1 and J4.4.4.1
and plasterboard in their construction
Unoccupied structures of reinforced All blasting 100 mm/s maximum unless agreement is
concrete or steel construction reached with the owner that a higher limit
may apply

Service structures, such as pipelines, All blasting Limit to be determined by structural design
powerlines and cables methodology

NOTE: Tables J4.5(A) and J4.5(B) do not cover high-rise buildings, buildings with long-span floors,
specialist structures such as reservoirs, dams and hospitals, or buildings housing scientific equipment
sensitive to vibration. These require special considerations, which may necessitate taking additional
measurements on the structure itself, to detect any magnification of ground vibrations that might occur
within the structure. Particular attention should be given to the response of suspended floors.

J5 AIRBLAST LEVELS
J5.1 General

Airblast can cause discomfort to persons and, at high levels, damage to structures and
architectural elements, and at very high levels, injury to persons.
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The airblast levels at which people become annoyed are well below levels at which damage
has been proven to occur. The evaluation of the effects of blasting should separate human
response and structural/architectural damage effects of airblast. Of particular importance in
this regard is the frequency content of the airblast. For example, an airblast that is inaudible
to humans may still be responsible for structural/architectural damage effects. Conversely,
an airblast level that causes human discomfort may have negligible structural/architectural
damage effects. The limits set out in Paragraphs J5.2, J5.3 and J5.4 below offer a robust
means for differentiating such effects and are based upon studies conducted by various
workers in blasting.

The sound pressure level [SPL (dBL)] is defined as follows:

p 2 Lo IS8
SPL =10 log,, [FJ

0

where P is the pressure level (Pa) and Py is the reference pressure of 20 mPa. It is generally
accepted that aural pain will occur in humans for SPL greater than 140 dBA for frequencies
in the range 20 Hz to 20 kHz and for SPL between 160 dBL and 170 dBL for frequencies
below 20 Hz.

General control limits currently used in Australia are not frequency dependent. It is
probable that continuing research and development will result in the development of
frequency-dependent limits and these should be adopted when available.

J5.2 Human comfort limits

NOTE: Statutory requirements for human comfort limits for airblast may apply in respective
jurisdictions.

Human comfort limits for airblast are linked to the annoyance produced. Several factors
contribute to annoyance by impulsive sounds such as airblast. These include the loudness,
duration and number of events plus the time of day and the nature of the disturbance.

J5.3 Damage limits

From Australian and overseas research, damage (even of a cosmetic nature) has not been
found to occur at airblast levels below 133 dBL. The probability of damage increases as the
airblast levels increase above this level. Windows are the building element currently
regarded as most sensitive to airblast, and damage to windows is considered as improbable
below 140 dBL.

A limit of 133 dBL is recommended as a safe level that will prevent structural/architectural
damage from airblast. Reference to Tables J4.4.2.2 and J4.4.2.3 should be made when
classifying damage.

J5.4 Recommended airblast limits

Airblast limits for human comfort chosen by some regulatory authorities are provided in
Table J5.4(A). Recommended damage control limits are given in Table 5.4(B). All the
limits are expressed as peak linear sound pressure levels. The classification of type of
structure may be difficult and, when in doubt, a more conservative limit from the nearest
description in Table J5.4(B) should be applied.
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TABLE J5.4(A)

AIRBLAST LIMITS FOR HUMAN COMFORT CHOSEN BY SOME
REGULATORY AUTHORITIES (see Note to Table J5.4(B))

Type of blasting Peak sound pressure level
Category operations (dBL)
Human comfort limits
Sensitive site* Operations lasting 115 dBL for 95% blasts per year. 120 dBL

longer than 12 months maximum unless agreement is reached with
or more than 20 blasts occupier that a higher limit may apply

robert.close@evolutionmining.com.

Sensitive site* Operations lasting for 120 dBL mm/s for 95% blasts. 125 dBL maximum
less than 12 months or | unless agreement is reached with occupier that a
less than 20 blasts higher limit may apply

Occupied non-sensitive | All blasting 125 dBL maximum unless agreement is reached

sites, such as factories with the occupier that a higher limit may apply.

and commercial For sites containing equipment sensitive to
premises vibration, the vibration should be kept below

manufacturer’s specifications or levels that can be
shown to adversely effect the equipment operation

* A sensitive site includes houses and low rise residential buildings, hospitals, theatres, schools, etc.,
occupied by people.

TABLE J5.4(B)
RECOMMENDED AIRBLAST LIMITS FOR DAMAGE CONTROL (see Note)

Type of blasting Peak sound pressure level
Category operations (dBL)
Damage control limits
Structures that include masonry, plaster | All blasting 133 dBL maximum unless agreement
and plasterboard in their construction is reached with the owner that a
and also unoccupied structures of higher limit may apply
reinforced concrete or steel construction
Service structures, such as pipelines, All blasting Limit to be determined by structural
powerlines and cables located above the design methodology
ground

NOTE: Tables J5.4(A) and J5.4(B) are intended to be informative and do not override statutory
recquirements, particularly with respect to human comfort limits set by various authorities. They
should be read in conjunction with any such statutory requirements and with regard to their
respective jurisdictions.

J6 OPERATING PRACTICE

J6.1 General

Shotfirers should endeavour to reduce ground vibration and airblast to as low a level as
practically possible to reduce the possibility of discomfort, damage, worry or complaint.
This should be reinforced by frequent consultation with persons who may be affected by the
blast.
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Relevant blast personnel should be given regular training in these aspects of blasting. Blast
performance should be regularly reviewed and possible improvements implemented to
ensure a good relationship is maintained with persons who may be affected by the blast and
the regulatory authorities.

Table J6.1 give guidance on the various options available for controlling ground vibration
and airblast.
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TABLE Jé6.1
GROUND VIBRATION AND AIRBLAST CONTROLS

AS 2187.2—2006

Variables

Ground vibration

Airblast

Influence on ground vibration

Influence on overpressure

Significant

Moderately
significant

Insignificant

Significant

Moderately
significant

Insignificant

1 Within the control of
blasting operators

Maximum instantaneous
charge (effective charge
mass per delay)

Delay interval

Burden and spacing

Stemming: Amount

Type

AN ENIAN A

Charge length and diameter

Angle of blasthole

AN N N AN

Direction of initiation

Charge mass per blast

Charge depth

Covering of detonating cord

Charge confinement

Blasthole deviation

N N B N BN

2 Not within the control
of blasting operators

General surface

Geological conditions

Wind and weather conditions

Water saturated ground

J6.2

Ground vibration

Control measures that may be effective in reducing the impact of ground vibration at a
particular site may include one or more of the following:

(a)

example by reducing blasthole diameter or deck loading.

(b)
(c)
(d)

Using a combination of appropriate delays.

Allowing for excessive humps or toe in the blast design.

delaying layout or alter blasthole inclination from the vertical.

(c)

Reducing maximum instantaneous charge (effective charge mass per delay) for

Optimizing blast design (changing burden and spacing) by altering drilling patterns,

Exercising strict control over the location, spacing and orientation of all blastholes

and using the minimum practicable sub-drilling that gives satisfactory toe conditions.

(H

J6.3 Airblast reduction

Establishing times of blasting to suit the situation.

Control measures that may be effective in reducing the impact of airblast at a particular site
may include one or more of the following:

www standards.com au
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(a) Optimizing blast design (changing burden and spacing) by altering drilling patterns,
and adjusting maximum instantaneous charge (effective charge mass per delay).

(b) Using a combination of appropriate delays.

(¢) Using survey methods, as appropriate, to ensure burden is adequate.

(d) Keeping face heights to a practical minimum.

(e) Ensuring stemming type and length is adequate.

(N Eliminating exposed detonating cord. Investigate alternative initiation mcthods.
(g) Eliminating secondary blasting (instead of popping, use rock breaker).

(h) Making extra efforts to eliminate the need for two shots (e.g.. better control of drill
patterns).

(i)  Considering delaying or cancelling the blast by not loading if the weather forecast is
unfavourable.

(j)  Allowing for the effects of temperature inversion and wind speed and direction on the
propagation of airblast to surrounding areas.

(k)  Orientating faces where possible so that they do not face directly towards residences.
(I)  Varying the direction of initiation.
(m) Exercising strict control over the burden, spacing and orientation of all blastholes.

(n) Taking particular care where the face is already broken or where it is strongly jointed,
sheared, or faulted.

(0) Considering deck loading where appropriate to avoid broken ground or cavities in the
face (e.g., from back break).

J6.4 Blasting complaints

Complaints arising from blasting operations should be treated sensitively and in a manner
that recognizes the potential for blasting to cause environmental impacts. Such impacts fall
under the jurisdiction of a variety of regulatory authorities. Those responsible for each
blasting operation must be aware of the regulatory regime pertinent to that operation. In any
case, they need to act in the best interests of all stakeholders, including neighbours of the
mine, quarry or construction project.

Many complaints resulting from blasting in built-up areas are mistakenly attributed to
ground vibration. The actual problem is usually airblast, which can be controlled by
blasting technique.

Those responsible for blasting operations should ensure that relevant personnel and persons
who may be affected by the blast are consulted and advised on the nature, causes and
effects of airblast from blasting and the difference between it and ground vibration. They
should also recognize the importance of monitoring blasts as a tool for minimizing
complaints as well as investigating complaints. It is in the interest of all those concerned in
a blasting operation to monitor blasting operations in the event of any claims for damages
arising from blasting.

Where the blast operation is in an environmentally sensitive area, all blasts should be
monitored.

Records of any complaints associated with blasting should be kept, identifying the nature of
the complaint. the particular operation that initiated the complaint, and documenting the
action taken.
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Any complaints related to blasting should be immediately investigated and a genuine
endeavour made to satisfy the concerns raised by the complainant. Those responsible for the
blasting operation should act swiftly, undertake follow-up visits and provide feedback to
the complainant as to the cause of the problem and what is being done to rectify it.

Many complaints from blasting can be avoided by the adoption of the control measures
listed in Paragraphs J6.2 and J6.3 and Table J6.1.

Upon receipt of a complaint, an appropriate investigation should establish the nature of the
complaint, the cause of the incident and any response. Independent professional or technical
advice may need to be sought.

J7 ESTIMATION OF GROUND VIBRATION AND AIRBLAST LEVELS
J7.1 Introduction

The accurate estimation of ground vibration and airblast levels is a complex task. The
blasting process is highly non-linear and the variability of most rock types also contributes
to the difficulty in accurate predictions of the environmental outcomes. The random
character of the blasting outcomes suggests the need for probability distributions to
describe strictly the range of possible ground vibration and airblast levels.

In the absence of either field data or the opportunity to conduct blasting trials in the region
of interest, it is possible to estimate likely ground vibration and airblast levels using simple
charge weight scaling laws. Such laws incorporate the charge weight per delay and the
distance from the blast to the monitoring location. Two site parameters are assumed and
these influence the peak level and the rate of decay for the levels.

J7.2 Airblast overpressure

Airblast levels have been commonly estimated using the following cube root scaling
formula:

R L 172
gy
where
P = pressure, in kilopascals
O = explosives charge mass, in kilograms
R = distance from charge, in metres
K, = site constant
a = site exponent

For unconfined surface charges, in situations that are not affected by meteorological
conditions, a good estimate may be obtained by using a site exponent (a) of —1.45, (which
corresponds to an attenuation rate of 8.6 dBL. with doubling of distance), and a site constant
(K,) of 516.

For confined blasthole charges, when using a site exponent (a) of —1.45, the site constant
(K,) is commonly in the range 10 to 100.

Airblast is proportional to the cube root of the charge mass. This limits the effectiveness of
charge mass reduction as a method of reducing airblast levels; other factors are often more
important, especially for confined blasthole charges.
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In unfavourable meteorological conditions, it is common for airblast levels to be increased
by up to 20 dBL due to the combined effects of an increase with altitude of temperature (an
inversion) and/or wind velocity (windshear). Effective assessment of meteorological
reinforcement requires accurate measurement of temperature, wind speed, and wind
direction, generally at heights up to 1000 m above the ground.

J7.3 Ground vibration

[t is useful to be able to estimate the ground vibration expected from any particular blasting
operations. As many site factors will affect the transmission of vibration through the
ground, the most accurate prediction graph for a site will be that generated from vibration
measurements take at the site. However, in the absence of such site data, ground vibration
may be estimated using the following equation:

-B
V:Kg( R J .. 173(0)
1/2
Q
Where
V = ground vibration as vector peak particle velocity, in millimetres per second
R = distance between charge and point of measurement, in metres
o = maximum instantaneous charge (effective charge mass per delay), in
kilograms

Ky, B = constants related to site and rock properties for estimation purposes

Ground vibration levels depend on the maximum instantancous charge (effective charge
weight per delay), and not the total charge weight, provided the effective delay interval is
appropriate.

When blasting is to be carried out to a free face in average field conditions, the following
equation may be used to estimate the mean (50% probability of exceedence) vector peak
particle velocity:

-16
V:H40( ‘SZJ o J7.3(2)
Equation J7.3(2) is represented in graphical form in Figure J7.3.1 and in tabular form in
Table J7.3.1.

NOTE: Equation 17.3(2) and Table J7.3.1 and Figure J7.3.1 (which uses a site constant of
Ky = 1140, and a site exponent of B=1.6), will provide an estimate of vibration levels in
‘average’ conditions. In practice, due to variations in ground conditions and other factors, the
resulting ground vibration levels can vary from two-fifths to four times that estimated. In cases
where the site parameters have not been reliably determined from prior experience, advice should
be obtained from suitably qualified and experienced persons, who may recommend initial trial
blasts with conservative charge quantities.
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FIGURE J7.3.1 FREE-FACE—AVERAGE FIELD CONDITIONS

TABLE J7.3.1
FREE FACE AVERAGE FIELD CONDITIONS

Vibration Estimated maximum effective charge per delay, kg
(VPPV) Distance, m
mm/s 1 5 10 20 30 | 50 80 100 | 150 | 200 | 300 | 500 800 | 1000
2 —0.010| 0.035]0.145| 0.3 09| 23| 3.6 8 14| 32 90| 230| 360

5 0.001{0.030| 0.110(0.450| 1.0 2.8 7.2| 11.3| 25| 45| 100 280| 720 1130
10 0.003/0.070| 0.270|1.050| 2.4| 6.7| 17.2| 26.9| 60| 105 240 6701|1720 2700
25 0.008|0.210| 0.840|3.400| 7.6| 21.0| 54.0| 84.2| 190 340| 760 | 2 100 | 5 400 8 400
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